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FIRST REPORT.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

Taken before the Serecr CommiTTEE appointed to
consider of Provisions being made for the hetter

Regulation of Mapwouses, in England.

- e ——

Jovis, 220 die Februarii, 1816.
Lord ROBERT SEYMOUR in the Chair.

e\ = o

Mr. Jokn W. Ruge}*s, called in, and Examined.

W is your profession >—I am an Apoethecary, residing
at No. 30, Broad-street Place, in the City. .

What do you know, personally, of the licenced madhouses
wichin the bills of mortality, or elsewhere ?—From ‘m
having been constantly in the habit of visiting them for
some years past, twelve or thirteen years, I have witnessed
n];nny of those cruelties which are constantly practised in
them.

As what did you visit them ?—Professionally, as an apo-
thecary and accoucheur.

How, employed by the master of the house, or by the
patients themselves ?—I was assistant to Mr. John Dunston
of Broad-street, but I had the management of those houses
under my own care. Mr. Dunston seldom visited them : he
was an apothecary, and I was his visiting assistant; he used
to see them occasionally.

Which are the houses you so visited ? —Talbot’s, the
White House at Bethnal Green, Rhodes’s at Bethnal Green,
and Whitmore House, but not so frequently. '
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patient refuses to eat, every day to force him?—Not all pa-
tients, it depends upon particular circumstances ; any refrac-
tngﬂpatient they force.

they force them daily ;—Yes, sometimes four or five
times a day. -

Do you think that it is necessary ?—1I think it is necessary
they should take food in some cases, often in small quan-
tities, if it eould be coaxed down.

It is your opinion, that this practice of forcing is attended
with a danger of suffocation?—Certainly: always very
great danger, where it is used in the manner I relate.

In the way in which it is used in this house 7—Yes, in
all houses. I have seen it in different houses in the same
way ; that is the usual way pursued in all mad-houses.

Would vou practice this forcing on the second day after
a patient has refused food, or on the third day after a
patient has refused food ?—Not if a patient was in tolerably
good health. _

How socon after the refusal to take food should the force
be applied?—That would depend upon the state of the
patient ; a patient is sometimes saved by repeatedly giving
nourishment; it does not happen that this is required to¢
one in twenty, but only to patients who absolutely refuse
to take any thing. |

Upon your examination of the body of Mrs. Hudiea-,
cuulH you safely state, whether or not the suffocation had

roceeded from the mis-direction of the liquid, or not?—

f I had opened the body I could have ascertained that, but
I did not examine it.

Do vou know, whether any coroner’s inquest sat upon
the body of Mrs. Hodges ?—I cannot speak positively; but I
feel pretty well assured, that there was no coroner’s inquest.

Is it the custom to call in the coroner in case of sudden
death in these houses 7—Only when they cut their throat,
or hang themselves, or die in any way by their own hands;
but I believe, even in these cases, t'vhe jury is not always
summoned.

Not in cases of death by suffocation ?—No; neither do
I suppose the friends know any thing of the circumstanee
under which they die. .

. Did you examine the inside of Mrs. Hndgss's mouth, to
ascertain whether any mischief had been done by the in-
strument ?>—I did not, | ; >

As you state, that cases of suffocation, from the practice
of forcing, have been frequent in this house, do you re-
collect having been called upon at any precise time to at-
tend any patient who was undergoing the practice of
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forcing ?—Np, it is thought so light of, that they would not -
think of asking any medical person to stand by. .

Knewing it to be so dangerous, have you ever suggested
to the manager of this house, that it would be right for
medical or chirurgical assistance to be called in, when the
practice was resorted to?>—No, I never did; I do not
mean to say it is the practice of that house particularly, it
is the general practice in all houses I have visited. -

Can you, from your own knowledge, speak to any other
cases of cruelty or gross neglect, that have taken place in
either of the houses you have mentioned ?—I can; I have
known the masters of the houses neglect to go round and
see the patients, for a period of two months, which, I think,
is very great neglect. 1 speak of Mr. Talbot and Mr.
Rhbodes likewise. ’

How do you know the fact —Because the patients have
told me ;  they have said, Where is Mr, Talbot? we have
not seen him these two months ; and my sistes has informed
‘me the same. . 4

Have you received any communication from your sister,
now in Iranee, upon the situation of Talbot’s house, in
which ¢he was housekeeper?—I have. A

Was that letter in answer to any queries you sent your
sister>—VYes; I wrote over to her, and desired her to
commit to paper those circumstances she had been witness
to, and which she knew had transpired in the White House.
In consequence of that letter, she wrote me this answer :—

The Witness read the LETTER, as follows :

¢ Dear Brother, “ Montreuil, Jan. 11, 1816.

¢ Agreeable to your wishes I here state to you some
““ of the cruelties, &c. to which I have been an eye-
¢ witness, during my residence in the White House;
““ to the truth of which I am ready to come forward, and
¢ state on oath, if necessary, respecting the gentleman
‘¢ who was choked in the act of forcing, by Samuel Rams-
¢ botham. Although I have known instances of. the
¢ kind occur, yet I was not present at this one, but re-
¢ eeived my information from Mrs. Talbot’s own mouth,
¢ as follows :—A gentleman who was confined in a room
¢ over the one in which the family sat, refused to take
“ his food, on which Samuel Ramsbotham proceeded to
¢ force it down, in the usual way, but used such violence,
“ that the patient called loudly for assistance, saying,
¢ ¢ For God’s sake, Mr. Talbot, come up and help me, or
¢ 1 shall be killed by this man.’ Mrs. Talbot said she
“ could not persuade Mr, Talbot to go'up and see what

C ’
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¢ was the matter, and the keeper came shortly after to
““inform them the patient went off in a fit e he was
¢ forcing him. "N
“ Mrs. Talbot also informed me, that when Mr, Talbot
“was going through the poor men’s hall one day, a
* patient struck him, on which he gave the poor man
“so violent a blow that knocked his eye out, and that
“ this patient died shortly after.
I have repeatedly witnessed the orders of Mr. and
“ Mrs. Talbot to Betty Welch, to confine Isabella Adams,
- “of St. George’s, Hanover-Square, to her crib, with
““ her wrists and legs locked when she became high, and
“ while thus confined to flog her with a common hand-
“ whip, which she did. I have seen the blood-follow
“ the stroke, and leave marks in her flesh ;big"ggr than
“ tny ﬁ;“%‘“! and have myself received many a”severe
““ stripe, in” endeavouring to protect her from such cruel
¢ treat l.’l;eimﬂ_ I need not tellpynu of Betty’s cruel dis-
“ position,” as you have often seen her treatment of the
¢ poor creatures under her care ; the cruelties I informed
- “you of, respecting Bridget, is penfectly correct. I
*“ have caught her flogging the poor women under her
* “ care out of their cribs with a birch broom; and when
‘“ they were completely naked, force them into a tub
“ under the pump in the yard, to wash them fiem their
‘“filthy state, even with the snow on the ground. As'to
~“¢ the wine, the patients certainly have not more than
“ half a glass for a glass, and haliyn pint for a pint, and
¢ the spirits to those who take it in the same proportion;
“ but as for the porter, they fare better, as far as I know,
“ though the patients often complain, that some of the
- * keepers drink it from them; indeed I know the accu-
‘ sation to be true enough. When I first went to this
“ house, the female patierts were in a very lousy state
“indeed, and I was obliged to iron all the blankets on
“the women’s side the house, to destroy the vermin ;
“ you must certainly recollect the state they were in
“ when it was said to be a humour in the blood. I as-
‘““ sure you it arose from the quantity of vermin about
¢ them, and was the consequence of excessive scratching.
“ The frauds committed in the linen-room are very
¢“great; when patients are brought into the house, a
¢ proportion of their clothing are put by in the store-
“room. The patients wear their old linen longer than
“ intended "By their friends, so that in due time, when
¢ their fifie isit them, they are informed how much
¢ the patient destroys his or her clothes; that he or
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“ she must have a iresh supply, which are accordingly
¢“ proyided ; - the things thus accumulated are sold by
¢ the mistress to the master, for the purpose of clothing
‘ those patients whom he provides for; this is a per-
¢ quisite of the mistress, by which and other perquisites,
¢ she informed me brought her in three hundred a year;
““ it was my business to make out an inventory of these
‘ things, together with the bills. The parish patients
“ are also deprived of their clothing; more than a third
“ part of it from their different parishes is kept back ;
o f liave myself, by order of Mrs. Talbot, cut up fifteen
“ new flannel petticoats at a time, belonging to the
¢ parish of Saint Mary-le-bone. Mr. and Mrs. Talbot
“ have both frequently told me, that the linen-reom at

% Saint Luke’s Hospital was managed the same as their
“ own, and frequently ealled me to see the clothes which
“ came from thence, with the. marks cut out and others
¢ put in; also, that their poor patients are kept there
“in a crib of straw the whole year, until their limbs
‘¢ become contracted ; indeed I remember one patient
¢ coming from that Hospital in this state. I have heard
“ Mr. and Mrs. Ford frequently assert, that the patients
“ at Saint Luke’s are cheated of the things their friends
¢ send them, and that they have not even the full allow-
‘ ance of the house. T have known Mr. Talbot neglect
“ to go round the house for a period of two months, [
“ have had the whole management of the concern for
‘¢ months together, without his visiting a patient.

¢ Mr. H. unites with me in kind remembrance to Mrs.

“ Rogers ard family, :
| : ¢ Your affectionate Sister,

To Mr. Rogers, Surgeen, &c. ““ 4. Humieres.”
30, Broad-street Place, Moorfields, London,

What is the Bill you have in your hand >—T'hat is an in-
ventory of the clothes which were sold by the mistress to the
master of the house, from out of the store-reom.

What does the store-room contain ?—Clothes belonging to
the different patients of the house ; other things are kept in
the room, such as soap and candles, and so on; but those
are kept in a separate part of the roonn

In whose hand-writing is that bill2—My sister’s, at the
time she was house-keeper.

What does that purport to eontain ?—It is a bill of Mrs.
Talbot’s, to her husband, for clothes delivered out of the
store-room, which I believe to have beletiged to the dif
ferent parishes. Ak 2

¢ 2






13

‘Was the weather cold ?—It was frosty weather, so that I
had my great coat; there was a piece of common carpet
lying over their backs, and they were sitting huddled up
together, the carpet was of no more use, as to warmth,
than if you had laid a board over them; there was no
covering over their legs or thighs.

Do you believe that they passed the night with no ether
covering i—Yes, and many other nights besides.

Did you ever see a woman in that situation, and the fol-
lowing morning find her dead :—Yes, on the right hand
side in the corresponding crib; there was straw in that
crib.

Was she the preceding evening ill 2—No; she was
brought in only a cfay, or two days before. , Dy
- Had she clothes?—No, ne clothes. -

‘Was she very violent?—No; I did not see any of those
patients in a confined state in the crib, it was not neces-
~sary, they were quite harmless; one of the patients came
and asked me to see the body of a poor creature who lay
dead there, she was cold and stiff at that time, having died
~in the night. ' '

Did you not, as visiting surgeon, inquire the cause of
hblradﬂath ?—I[ did not: I had no doubt but she died from
cold.

Did you not consider it part of your duty, as the visiting
surgeon of that house, to inquire into the cause of the
death of an individual whom you had seen the day before in
a state of health?—I cannot say that I did inquire, it is
very likely I might have some conversation with the
keeper about it. y

Do you recollect to have made any complaint upon th
subject 7—I1 had frequent conversations with Mr. Dunston
and Mr. Talbot at the next house, as to their cruel method
of treating patients, il

Do you know whether any coroner’s inquest sat upon the
hody ?—No ; I should think not. :

hat was the common covering of parish paupers in
Rhodes’s house at that period >—Common hop-sacks cut up.

Speak te the treatment in Rhodes’s house ﬁ%& male
patients; in what manner do they lie together at night; do
they lie more than one in a bed ?—Commonly two in a bed.

Do you know that they lie three together, 'in any in-
stance >—No ; I cannot bring that to my recollection.

How are they supplied with covering; with bed-clothes

or straw ?—There are straw patients, and others who sleep
in beds. i g

How are the male pauper patients circumstanced during
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the night; how are they secured from the weather :—BY
bed-clothes, but the covering is very thin, and there are
also straw patients. 4379

Are they sufficiently supplied with straw 2—No, they are
not; I think in that house in particular they have always
been very deficient in straw.

Is the straw dirty sometimes >—Yes: I have seen their
faces covered with nastiness, so that the straw must have
been very dirty indeed.

Did two men lie in the straw beds together?—No ; they
lay two in abed together, but not in the straw, that I re-
collect ; they were separate.

The straw was insufficient ?—Yes, and very dirty; they
have the hempen rug for a covering.

Did the pauper patients appear to suffer very much from
the cold?—Yes, very much.

Were you ever professionally called upon to relieve those

atients who suffered from cold, from losing their feet?—

es, I have taken off the toes from mortification having
taken place, and I took ofl both the feet of a young woman
in the White House ; she was a young country girl, of about
nineteen years of age. :

What is the ordinary position that you find those mise~
rable people lying in, who suffer from cold ?—They are
curled up in as close a compass as they possibly can be, to
keep themselves warm.

-+ Have you any doubt that eontractions in the limbs result
in consequence of that mode of lying >—No, not any doubt
at all; I know it is in consequence of their constantly lyin
in that position. I know a gentleman, who was reporteﬁ
to me to be Captain Hay, of the Guards, who was removed
from the cellar at Whitmore House to the White House; he
always lays in this position.

ere his limbs contracted 7—Yes, completely so ; I never
saw one so contracted in my life. :

Do you conceive that arose from cold 2—He slept in this
cellar at Whitmere House a good many years, and I dare
say he must have experienced a great deal of cold; I have
no doubt he received great injury from lying in the form in
which he did. . :

Have you a doubt that cold created the necessity of taki
off the feet of the young woman you have referred to ?—
know that was the cause; mortification ensued, and I was
obliged to take them off abeve the part mortified. :

Are any other diseases prevalent amongst these people,
besides the affection of the feet >—There are many who die
of consumption, and various other complaints, ..
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‘Are consumptions common ?—Yes, theyare.

“1s there an infirmary at Rhodes’s 7—No. g

. 8o that sick and well live together }—Yes; Mr. Warbur-
tori has stated in his evidence that there were nursing-
rooms and waeming-rooms. I never knew of any nursing-
rooms; there is a warming-room or rather a warming-
closet in the White House, a very small space, about five
feet by nine or ten, I should think; and there are places
for them to do their occasions, on which patients sit who
have a relaxed state of bowels.

Have you seen many there?—Yes; I have seen fourteen
or fifteen there at a time, which has rendered it so offensive,
that I could not bear to remain in it.

Did the pauper patierts at Talbot’s house, appear gene-
rally to suffer from cold ?—Yes, very much.

as the place in which they were confined, damp as well
as cold ?—It was very damp; there is a spring of water m
the poor men’s sleeping apartment.

Were there fire-places in the rooms where the paupers
slept 7—No, there were no fire-places in the sleeping
rooms. ' :

Were the sleeping rooms damp?—They were washed
down every morning. I think the typhus fever which raged
there originated from the dampness of the rooms, and
being too crowded. I discovered it was typhus fever by
mere accident. I did not visit the pauper patients at that
time, but they were visited bya person who lived in Bethnal-
Green; and he being ill, requested Mr. Rhodes to ask me
to see a few pauper patients who were unwell; and upon
seeing them 1 said, you have got typus fever among them,
and of the worst kind. I informed Mr. Dunston and Mr.
Warburton ; the greatest attention was paid, but I was in-
formed before I began seeing them that twenty had died.

~ In that house and the next, how many died?—I think
more than a hundred.

When was this?—In the year 1810 and 1811. ;

Do you believe that that typhus fever was brought into
the house, or was the result of dirt, and cold, and damp ?—
I think it was very likely to result from the patients being
very much crowded, but I was not in the habit of going
amongst the pauper patients at Bethnal House at that time;
I have since. :

Was it your opinion, from the state in which you found
those houses in which the typhus fever had broken out in
1811, from the dirt and mlydp and filth universally preva-
lent, that you might expect a disease of the same nature
any day to enter’—VYes; I do think it might occur at any
time from those causes. L ;
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'In your evidence yesterday, you spoke of the use of
spirits in one of the houses ; is that usually allowed ?—Yes;
to old le, whese friends wish them to have it ; they are
very old, and like to have a glass at their lunching time.

9 ire you of opinion that is ﬁglﬂuﬂ'sﬂfﬂ for patients in that
disorder 2—Certainly ; to patients in that stage of life, and
who are perfectly quiet; it is not given in that quantity to
do the slightest injury; it is given to patients that walk
out. P i -

Do they give it them raw or mixed with water?—Some

raw, and some mixed with water. i

You gave an account yesterday of the mode by which lu-
natics when refusing food, are compelled to swallow? the
. cloth is applied to the mouth?—Yes; after the spout is
introduced. i 1

- So that the patient must either empty the pipe which is
loaded with food, or no ‘air can come to the lungs?—VYes;
unless the keepers were to desist. kel wrga T oueet)

Wouldit not be possible to form an instrument perforated,
instead of the towel, so as to prevent the sufiocation which
ensues >—If the person can breathe at all, they will not
swallow, consequently such an instrument would be of ne
use. 24 jii , Ol : 1
- From hence have come to your knowledge frequent in-
stances of suffocation :—Yes; I believe it to be a very
common oceurrence in most houses. I except those houses
which have 131&? been established npon a much better plan,
such as Dr. Rees’s, at Hackney; I never saw patients
treated in any other houses like the patients in that house.
I wish it to be understood, 1 do not speak from partiality,
for I amr but slightly acquainted with Dr. Rees. I have
very frequently heard of the kind treatment patientsreceive -
in Mr. Fore’s house at Hackney, which I believe to be ¢ons-

- ducted on a humane and lilse'rai plan. .

- When did yeu'commence medical visitor, of those hounses
You referred to yesterday >—1In 1801 or 1802, 2y
~ How long did you continde ?=-1 was away a year or two,
I went to South America, and came back to Mr. Dunstonz
but generally from 1801 to 1812, and a great part of ‘the
year I8L3, 1 visited; after, I left Mr. Dunston and com-
menced business for myself, ., fou

Are yon connected with any of the houses you speak so
highly of now, either divectly or indivectly 2~ Not at all,
either directly or indirectly. ' = % .
~ Where those six women you found crammed fogether in
two single cribs, pauper patients?-—Yeés,; they were, and
they were quite harmless wm:m; they Were not chained. |



18

Do you knoyw to what parish they belonged :—No, I do
not. SR | | i eTHe)

Do you know the allowance of linen to each woman >—
I do not. T - cdobis. N

Are you acquainted __ali'_litularly with the circumstances
of Whitmore House, and the accommodation of the patients
there ?—Yes, I am. y

Describe the accommodation of the patients in that house?
—1I think Whitmore House is too much crowded, that there
are not sleeping rooms sufficient for them. That the cellar
below, commonly termed the lower regions, is a very im-
proper place for any person to be confined in, and when
_thg htéuse is shut up at night, the smell is very disagreeable
indeed, : : : i

Did patients pass. their nights underground ?—Yes; I
stated yesterday that Captain Hay lay there for many years ;
I have heard twenty. A Colonel Gillespie, Ibelieve, died
there; I saw him just before his death, in a very emaciated
state; a fey weeks before he was a very fine handsome man.

~Were those apartments cold and damp?—They were;
they were below the surface of the ground; the patients
there lie in wooden eribs. |

. Is the apartment there floored ?—1I believe it is. -

Are those cellars ventilated 7—They are very ill ventila-
ted; the necessaries are close by, so that they eannot be
sweet; it is a place where they confine what they term the
dirty patients. When I saw Colonel Gillespie, the whole
of the nates were gone, and his back was completely raw ;
he was in the habit of being washed with a lotion, which
the keeper applies, and which I think an improper thing ;
in my opinion there ought to be regular nurses for such pa-
- tients wlim are harmless, that more humanity and tenderness
may be shewn.

What do you apprehend to be the immediate cause of his
back being in that state?—From lying in his wet and filth;
it always produces that effect. ;

Was he a pauper patient?—He was a colonel in the

army. | R W
H};w came he to be in this miserable negleeted state ?—1
cannot tell; but suppose his friends did not, or perhaps
could not support the great experces which must have

accrued at his being first sent there,

Do you know what a nce was made for him >—Neo, I
do not. I'liiu‘m-:“g‘ ,, harldsome in that hﬁmﬁk
larly ; it is a house {or thé.higher class of fintielt&. ke’ 37

Are you avw he practice in any of those houses of
tﬁn}% a ﬁﬁélv:?: . Ilﬁ%o mouths and round the heads
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of the patients, so as to render respiration extremely diffi-
cult and painful, to prevent their talking 7—Yes, | have
frequently seen il; it is a very common practice, and terms
ed muflling them. .
- In the attempts to force the patients to eat, such as you
related yesterday, when the nose is stopped, the mouth full
of food, and the towel drawn over the mouth, do you con-
ceive it to be possible for a man to breathe, without at the
same time taking some of the food into the wind-pipe ?—
No; I should conceive it most likely that lie weould take
some of it into the wind-pipe 5 but if a man’s nose is stopped
up, and a towel over his mouth, he ecannot breathe. '
What is the consequence of its going down the wind-
Eipe ?—Suffocation ; but if he makes an effort to swallow,
e will swallow without its going into the wind-pipe.
- Do you know the long gallery at Whitmore House ?—
Yes, perfectly well. T
Have you ever been there at night?—Yes, frequently.
Isit at that time empty or full>—Full; the beds are let
down which have been shut up in closets, the patients sleep
in that gallery; in faet, 1 have seen them sleep in the visit-
ing room, which shews the house was too much crowded.
I'_'}lave seen beds in the common parlour on the right-hand
side, :
_Are those beds, which you speak of as being shut up in
closets, open to view in the day-time, so that any accidental
visitor would suppose the gallery to be made use of as a
sleeping apartment?—No, they are got; any hody visiting
tlge_'ga! ery would not know that any person slept there at
might. | |
lis this gallery, as well as the other parts:of the house, so
full of patients at night, as that you would deem it crowded ?
—No, I should not call it crowded, because there are not
so many beds as to crowd it, or for the patients to incon-
vﬁ,'i?;"“ each uthe}:’. ; : i
e patients who sleep there mix in the day-tin i
fie sl Thicydo. || ocnioy 4
Do you know whether those patients who sleep in the
long gallery are men or women, or both :—They are men

only. .
I'IE you know by whom they are attended?—By wen-

km you never seen amy wor i! employec i
ity li*mt

tﬂiding'ni'- attending to the men-p : '
ni%:t?-—ill:ﬂ, I"‘du.nu]:;emllect’- 1 -_Ef":éf’ﬁ_ 3 E':l'j'.ﬂt
By whom were the heds made’?-B e mai

hou "'E::, I believe. s é&g‘#ﬁ ‘mds 4o

D 2
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“Have you-seen them: so employed >=-k donot: wecollect
that 1/ have; 1 haveiscen those beds whon I.have: heen
there late at night; there is a house-maid,:and I believe it
is her business to make the begs. opeedd o Tibra! |

~Can you say whether the commissionens: whosinspected
the house, knew that it was the practice to, fill this gallery -
at night with patients?<- do not know whether they knew
of it or net. : . . s sl oF 3 Semb

What extent of inspection did the houses with which you
were acquainted, undergo from the physicians who were
appointed to that service by the college >—I understood
they generally went through all the rooms; but it is my
opinion that all the rooms were not shewn them ; they are
said to-.go through the whole of the apartments, but I do
not believe that they have seen all the places; and what
confirms my opinion is, that they never saw the cellars at
Whitmore House. ] # ehincdvag e
The Committee understand you to believe, that the
inspecting physicians did not see all the apartments! in
these houses !—I believe they have not. d il o qnegpls -
- Do you believe they saw the room :in which Colonel
Gillespie was confined 2>“No, I believe :they never saw
what the people of the house term the regions below.
Do you attend professionally at any mad-house now —
No, I donot. 1o sesga - abiad aeodkl i
. What, in your opinion, would be an inspection so effec-
tual, as to prevent any of the ahuses which have been
stated by yeu?—I think that inspection should take place
at all hours, as I have stated in my pamphlet.
By whom ?—By any proper persons appointed. I do not
thini:.itshuuld.‘ be confined to any particular persons.
Have you no opinion, about yghat the nature of the in-
spection would be that would be most effectual ?—It should
be a person who has been conversant with-mad people,
who knows those houses, and is not afraid of going amongst
the patients, and talking with them. .+ 0
At what times do you think they should go?—At all"
times ;. I think the house should be sometimes i in
the evening, after the patients were gone to bed, and somes -
times in the morning, before the patients were up; for if
they have any notice at all, before they can go round the
house the tvﬁ is reTfFaved, and the fi]ummiasiuners seldom -
t at any thing. «Ifia patient wishes in their -
fglfr u,gh.m. Y . ﬂﬂmi!,‘ p:njr thing to them, the master
will interfere, a ﬂﬁn&i Sir, he is very bad, or he wants
to ‘get out; and very little attention is thwhlﬂﬁ

says.
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Can you state; any expedient that would 'reduce to a
certainty the visitors seeing all the patients in the house
when they visit i—No: | caniot state that at the moment.
- Have you ever known an gnstance or instances of per-
sons, of sound mind heing ﬂ?nﬁned'ai of unsound mind ?—I
" do'net vecollect:that Ehawve. - . 7 -

Would not the signatures of two medical men to the cer-
tificate.of insanity give great security against unnecessary
confinement?—Yes: I think the certificate should be signed
by two persons. . - b b ot e b AT

Have you any other information to give respecting the
cruel treatment of patients ?—At the White House, my sister
communicated to me, that she witnessed Betty Welch feed+
ing Mrs. Elliot with meat cut of a proper size, and with
each mouthful she forced down a tea-spoon fuil of salt; on
her asking why she did this, she said it was to make her
thirsty, because she would not drink. I myself witnessed
the appearance of Mrs. Elliot; there was a complete disco-
loration of the whole face, and neck and arms; and.in eon-
sequence of ill- treatment her husband took her away from
the house, and wrote complaining to. Mr. Warburton. o

‘Was the discoloration in consequence of her being fed as
you have described>—No; in consequence of her being
beaten; that arose from violent 5.
. Was theslaughter-house at the. White House turned into
a room for pauper patients >—It was merely closed up; the
flag-stones were not taken u - |
- Describe the nature of the room?—It is a large dark
room, flagged with stone. -
~ Was there any fire-place in it >—No; nor no light.

How many people slept in it?—I should think twenty
or thirty. ' ]

Were they upon straw :—VYes; in straw cribs,

With blankets ?—Yes; they had a rug:

‘Were you ever there daring the cold weather >—VYes.
~ Did they seem to suffer much from cold >—Yes ; I should
think they must, from the way in which they lay.

Was there a place which had been a hog-sty, which
was called Bella’s Hole >—There was, '

Describe the nature of the place.—It is a small square
hole, boarded up very high with planks, and planked over
at.top like a watch-bex, only larger. "«

e t size —Three or four feet square. .. ©

1d you ever see a person confined in ‘that pla Yes:
Ihave.?o - 4 ' ) 'r:;t?i;':'u- f-ﬂ.&?fﬂ’

- What m.hiusnume?-#chnﬂeé'ége;i ay hiw ,j
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" Could he lie down at fall length ?—Fronytorner to corier
I shivuldt think he might. WA e o

"'Did he lie upon straw :—I have dotrd Windk With rerjr lltﬂe
straw indeed.

Without clothes ?—Yes; co without clothes.

Was he chained ?—No ; thls‘&ﬂs pl%teij' d;arl“r, in'ld it
was strong enough without chains.

“How was light admitted into that place ?—-Bj means of a
few glmh]&t holes in the roof.

Do you know whether he was confined there for ht\f
length ‘of time ?—Several months.

" 'What became of him ?—He was sent to MIIea s after that:
he was a man belonging to His Majesty’s ship the Canopus;
and he went out to India, and was sent home in one o the
India ships as mad. He made his escape from the ship,

jumping out of a port-hole, and was brou Iilt to the White
ouse, and he made his escape out of the White House;
and was brought back again. He was a very powerful man.

Have you a clear recollection of the stnte of the young
woman whose feet you were obliged to take off for murtﬁ-
ca‘hnn ?mYes, I have a perfm:t recollection of her. .

* Can'you take upon you to say, as a professional man, t&;
that murtlﬁmtmn, from' the progress of which you ‘were.
obliged to take off her fet, might have been. [lln ventml by
E? er treatment?—Ce tamly, lt might; but it dgonetom

Eefbre they were shewn me.
How long had you seen her previous’ ‘- perﬁ)rmmg thli
operation 2—I did net see her till the mul*tlﬁut:nn had tai:en
lace. "
. You mean, then, to say, ynur mee»ssmnal character,
that you are convinced it was owing solely to the ne*ﬂec‘t
which she had experienced, and the cold to which she W
been exposed, that that disorder, and the consequent mgptl-
fication, came on ?—Yes, I do. - s 4

Did you make known your opinion of her case to any
body }—1 'informed the people of the house that she would
lose her feet when they were shewn me. I endeavoured
some time to save them, but in vain. I did not ::11.1:1.«:1!:'1v..rgL
tl];ere was any HEEEE'SH}" for making a mmplamt to any u-we
there

Did you not feel it necessary to t:ump]lm, in mn&eﬁmm*
of ﬁndm that the feet of this young woman were reduced |
to this state !—No; I bad eften stated the importance of!
their being kept warmer, to prevent mnmﬁcatloq, as :HM#-
4 very common occurrence. NG

You never did, in fact, make any remﬂmtrm or cﬂm-
plaint to the mnster, in consequence of the neglect of this:
young woman {—No, I did not conceive there was occasion ;;






ap into paa-okysmn,’mdmﬂm with violence in that form . insuch
sms ‘there is an appeal to the lkjlkurilﬂn as-to the human-

ity ef the. physician, beyond what arises in almost any other dis-
ease, for the body labours in this unhappy predicament until it is
destroyed ; I have seen several patients die in this painful manner.
If medicine be less useful in the confirmed periods of insanity, it
is as little so in the advanced stages of other chronic disorders.
In cases of incapacity of the joints, with painful swellings wpon
them, from chalk stones, after repeated fits of the gout, medicine
has no effect upon these depositiens ; yet this is no argn
against the use of medicine in the first attacks of gout, to prevent,
if possible, such dismemberment and deformity. Again, in thmm-
stance of palsy, when a patient has lost the use of half his bedy ;
in this stage of his complaint medicine has very little sensible aﬁct
upen it; but if the patient be assisted in the earliest attack of his
malady, whilst under apoplexy, which generally precedes palsy,
not only may Lis life possibly be saved, but the paralytic symp-
toms prevented altogether, or at least cnns;derabl}r mitigated. But
we have much to learn on the subject of mental derangement; and
I am of opinion that our knowledge of insanity has not kept pace
with our knowledge of other distempers, from the habit w
established, of transferring patients under this malady, as as
it has deda.mﬂ itself, to the care of persons who too frequently
limit their attention to the mere personal security of their paﬂﬂﬁ,
without attempting to assist them by the resources of medicine.
We want facts in the history of this disease, and if they are care-

. fully recorded, under the observation of enlightened physicians,

- no doubt the-y will sooner or later be collected in sufficient nﬂnﬂm-

~ to admit of safe and useful inductions. '

- Have you any opinion as to this advanta applimﬂoief

- medicine to cases of derangement not arising from temporary bo-

~ dily causes, but from causes which may be classed as hemhurg
family ones. In the early developement of these y is not me-
dieme advantageous for repelling the malady, if not for the pur-
pose of radical cure?—Such cases are usually most difficult to cure:
the pre-disposition in the frame being strong, external accidental

M act with more violence upon 1t, -ﬂ:ﬂ mam-uﬁ]’y umrset

i Ty 1. )

- Does not the miting patients who are outrageously um! 'mﬂl
- these who are quietly so, retard or lessen the probability of cure

*__of the latter ?—I have no exp-enence of the treatment of insane

ersons collected together in numbers. "My practice has Meh

- limited to individuals in private houses.

- Can you say whether, in many cases of insanity, em lcrftn!h}'
~and ﬂBCF';]p-&.lmJI;. are nat, extremely likely to rng;te npcﬂré‘!i-a-
Where the patient is guiet and well enough !n be mducet! Weini-
ploy himself, it contributes to his recovery. :

Both hmﬂly and mental2~=Yes; but it is not easy tﬂr ]lrﬂﬂl
upon an insane person to occupy himself with such emghymt or

© amusement as you may set before him. |
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 W#éuld the attendance of one physician upon such a number as
100 patients be sufficient, in case of his giving up his whole time {o
it?—Perhaps it might.. But I should think it better to have two,
three, or even four physicians to attend such a number of patients,
and not to limit their attendance to this collection of patients. .
Do yon think any inconvenience would arise from the attend-
ance of two physicians on a county asylum or county hospital for
insane persons, the same as upon hospitals for other disorders Z—
None; but, on the other hand, great convenience, for besides the
advantage of consultation in difficult cases, it would preclude that
.mystery in future in the treatment of insanity, which, withount
having been of any service to the patients, has been the means of.
withholding from the profession at large much valuable informa-
tion on the nature of this disease.
- Would it not be a great advantage to the patients, as well as
facilitate the attainment of information with regard to the nature
of the disease, to have two or more physicians aitend one asylum
r the reception of lunatics?—I have answered this guestion, I
believe, already. '

L}

~In institutions where there are 50 or 100 patients of this sort,
s it not absolutely necessary for their benefit that there should be
~a resident surgeon and apothecary?—I think it is absolutely me-
cessary ; for disorders of this description often demand instant
“wttention and assistance.

And that his attendance §

E t-rluﬂfl-ill.i[l!;'s . . P i
Is it your opinion, that seclusion and restriction from the visi-
tation of those places, is prejudicial to the patients, or

necessary.

to be adopted ?—A discreet visitation of these houses for the recep

“tion of insane patients, may be useful and proper; bu
discreet. | s

- Are you of opinion, that in every casc of insipient insanityy the
advice of a physician is most important ?—1I should think the ad=
vice of a physician, if it can be had, always important and useful in
the beginning of insanity. '

- Mr. Matthew Talbot called in, and Examined. -

WHAT is your situation ?—1I have the care and management of
the White House, Bethnal-Green, for Mr. Warburton.

As a partner in that house i—No, not as a partner; Mr. War-
burton has that confidence in me, that he allows me to join my
name to his; I am not a partner, there is no written agreement for
my being a partner; I am not a partner in law ; I have a salary

© mnot a certain poction of the profiis. : A
“Yﬂu appear to the world as if you were a partner f—1I d et
~* The superintendence of the house is principally under your
- care 7—1It rests wholly upon me, the paying and the receiving.
_ Having the care of the house, have you daily attended and gone
through it, to sec that the patients are properly treated ?—Cer-
tainly ; on some occasions I have been obliged to go out so early

"E

[}
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in the mnrnmg, that it has been impossible for me, and perhaps I
have been out the' whﬂe of ‘the. rlay, aru:'l have not had an nppor-
tunity fir one dayso nil

How often has iha:t h’appened ?—It may not have }mppéhed
énce in six months.

Have you, in the course of those visits, found instances of
keepers who have treated the patients cruelly or harshly ?—No.

Iu neo msta'nce'?-—ln no mstam:e have [ found that to be the
case.

No instance whErE a patient has been treated with hardship md
cruelty #—Exeepting in one.

What was that?—That was what we called our head-kecper ; a.
person was in confinement, in the waistcoat, and he bit the ke
in the hand, and the keeper hit him a blow on the hcad ; that.l
saw myself. .

That is the only instance you know of ?—VYes.

‘What was the name of that keeper ?—Rambard. :

How long have yon had the care of this hﬂuser?—l hn‘.?‘e heEn
about fourteen years in the sitnation I now hold. i

If you have seen no instances of cruelty in the keeptrﬁ, you have
not been obliged to discharge them ?—This keeper was dlsdiaﬁged
as soon as I could provide a successor.

- " 'How soon had you an opportunity of replacing that REE;I!I’}-—
I cannot speak in point of time ; but I dure say it was twe months
at least, if not more. P .

In what year was it ?—I don ecollect the }'ear. : "‘3*'&

‘Do you recollect a keeper 1 1) :
mg a Captain Dickinson ?—We never had one of that' mtme, E‘ii

nst mean Hambnrd. "

.smi qk’lio was discharged, as I I:are just mentiered.
d Captain Dickinson die soon after this blow >—No, he Iwed
~ along time ; I was with Mr. l{ogers EE-the time that which I hnﬁ
{3 d passed.
~ " Do you happen to know of what mmpla:mt Captain Dmkmﬁm
died ?—-I do not know what his complaint was, but he was under
the constant irritation of high disease ; he was constantly under the
care of Mr. Rogers and Mr. Duns!on
Do you recollect a complaint having been made by Mrs. Hu-
mieres uf the ill-treatment of Mr. Driver, a respectable farmer 3..1.
We had'a Mrs Iumieres, the sister of Mr. Rogers. .
Did she make any complaint to you of the ill-treatment of a
Mr. Driver 2—No.
il ]3},-.;1 you ever make a complaint to her of the |IE-treatmEntdf
Mr. Driver, of his having died in the act of furmng no such
no person ever, to my knowledge, died in the act of furcmg

Did jruu ever hear of Mr. Driver hemg beat ’-—No, never; nnd |

I am certain it was not so.
You do not know of his being struck with a palr ufhu-nts ?——Nh.
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. You do not know of Mr. Driver having been beaten with & pair
of boots ?—No, I have never heard any thing on the subject. :

< De you knnw of what' Mr. Driver died {—No, 1 do not know
that l'lt.. died at all in the house. 71 ) ot

How long ago is it ?—Indeed I cannot tell. [

How long is it since he was in your house ?—Indeed I can-
not tell. I have had five thousand patients in that house since [
came there, and I cannot remember their names.

Do you keep a register of the names of patients when they come
inand go out?—Yes.

And whether they are cured 2—No, we do not reglsh.q thrat :
only when they come in, and when the;,r go out, -

Was this Rambard your principal keeper 2—Yes, he was.

ﬁad you ever any complaints of his ill-treatment of the patients 2
~—No.

And you know nothiong of his having ill-treated them, except in
the instance of which you were a personal witness 2—No. . 1

Did Mr. Rogers ever complain to you of the ill-treatment, of the
pﬁtl&uis, by Rambard >—Never in his life.

‘How long did he live with you ?—I should think it was four or
five years, as far as my memory serves.

Did you never hear of a particnlar instance of his cruelty, in
thrusting a wooden spoon into the mouth of a patient :—No, not
a wooden spoon. [ will try te put you to rights; yon mean,
where the roof of the mouth was hurt.

- The question is, Whether you hat everammpl.uutagfunst Ram- -
bard, for injuring a gentleman most seriously, by thrusting a spoon
into his mouth.—No, I had no complaint. 1 was by at the time
‘the action was done,

Who did it >—~The same person you have mentioned.

- Describe what happened.—The patient had been in our huuse, 1
thmk, about a week or ten days; he was ina very high state of

~disorder ; his disorder was so high they could not shave him. I
was cumplamnug of his not being shaved, and this man said it was
impossible. [ said, “ I will stand by while youdo it.” He was con-
fined in a waistcoat only, that the waistcoat-strings were confined to
the chair-back, to keep him as little in action as possible. While
he was shaved the keeper was lathering him with the shaving brush ;
and in doing that the man opened his mouth, and swallowed the
brush into his throat. The keeper was very much alarmed ; the
man must have been dead, for he endeavoured to swallow ; and
he took hold of the handle of a pewter spoon; and, by endea~
vouring to open his teeth with the spoon, he hurt his mouth,
That was the fact; by that the man was injured, and it was im-~
possible to avoid it; the man must have lost his life in two
minutes, if it had not been taken out of his mouth. =

Was he injured much by the operation 7—1I cannot tel!, for he
was under the care of Mr. Rogers aud Mr. Dunston.  Mr. Rogers
can explain the extent of injury, but so far from any blame at-

, E 2

JI.-
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~ taching to the man, the patient must have died in two minates; if
he'had not done it.

What is the ordinary expedient for opening the mouth >—That
depends upon circumstances ; -we generally wake use of the
handle of a spoon, and if we can get our finger into the mouth,
we put our finger on the end of the gum, that by the pressure nf
the finger gives a painful sensation to the gum, and that will some-
times cause them to open their mouths, and if it does not, we are
obliged to use the best means we can to get their mouth open;
but that neither implies intended violence to the patient mor any
thing of the kind, for if they will not eat, of course they must die.

Have you any particular instrument by which you open their
mouth ?—It depends upon circumstances ; we generally feed them
with a spoon, and if it is nof of that length to carry it over the
tongue, so as to keep the tongue down, it will be blown out into
your face.

Did ever an instance occur of a patient dying under the ope-
rition of having his mouth forced open —Never in our heuse.

- Will you take upon yourself to say, that in your house, since .
you have known it, there never was an instance of a person dying
in consequence of forcmg him to take food ?—I am ready to l;nke
iy oath upon that at any time.

Do yonu recollect a gentleman inthe reom over your usnal Blttillgq
room, who died while being forced by Rambard, and who called
loudly for assistance, which you and your wife ﬂistinct‘.ly and se-
parately heard, but did not at n o it 2—That is a downright in-
famous falsehood. » - SNl i

'That never happened ’—Nn it

71

did not.

‘Do you recollect the 'ﬁ'lfe of Mr. Hodges, vestry clerk uf ﬁli.,c
Andrew’s Holborn, dying under the hand of Mrs, Seal, while im
the act of being forced to take food >—We had no person of that
ahnﬁ in the house; we never had a person of that name in
the house. I think I can put you to rights upon that. 1
am trying to recollect the circumstance:—it was net the wife of
the vestry clerk of St. Andrew’s, Holborn, but to the best of
recollection, one of the beadles belonging to the parish, and I Te-
member the circumstance ; it occurs to my mind. So far from bei
forced, she was brought into our house the day before; she
in the act, not of forcing, but only with a person feedmg her wﬂh
a spoon, as you would a child.

Without any force 7—Yes. -

She took her food without reluctance ?—I remember the elr-
tumstance, her name was Hodges, she was only in the act of feed-

, the samé as a mother her child, and she dropped off her Gh&]l-'.,_..

there was no force or conlinement whatever.

It was'a sudden death 7—Yes.

Was there any jury sat upon her?—No; we do not conceive
any necessity for that.

In no case whatever have you had a jury summoned ?—Yes, al-
ways in ease of an accident.
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How happened it that therc was not in that case ?>—It was con-
sidered and understood by the whole of them, that she was ex-
hausted before she.came, by the heighth of her discase, and that
there was no pnssibﬂlt_', of our doing hf:r any good,

" No coroner’s jury took place?—No; there was none. I do not
recollect the circumstance of her dymg immediately, but I believe
that was the case; but there was no blame ﬂ]ﬂught imputable to
any body in that case; there was no cowfincment or force, I am
pnsitive.

""To what did you attribute her sudden death!—To her being
exhausted by the disease, before she came into the house ; many
are brought into the hﬂuSE who do not live above a day or two,

Who was feec'lm-r her at that time —The servant who had the
care of the room.

What was the name of that servant ?—1I do not know.

Is Mary Seal living with you now?—No, there was a Mary
Seal lived withus. © .

What did you part with her for?—I forget what it was, but I
believe it was some altercation about a patient; I cannot recol-
le«n't at this distance of time. :

‘MWhat medical man had attended this woman belore she came to
you?—As it was the wife of one of the beadles of St. Andrew’s, I
should suppose it was Mr, Tajrlur, the parish doctor.

- Had you a female: keeper of the name of Betty Welsh i—Yes,
we had. -

‘Do you recollect hearing of
- Mrs. Elliot ?—Yes.

What was the nature of that?—Tt was not from Bettf Welsh
that the treatment arose; she was in a very high state of disease,
she was confined in a waistcoat, or what we term a crib, and by
the violence of the patient in gettmg her up she had a fall against
the crib, in the act of confining her in the waistcoat, but no vio-
lence was committed by the servant who had the care of her;
accidents of that sort will eccur in confining a patient, Wlthmlt
any bad intention on the part of the keeper or keepe:s :

o+ Was not Mrs. Elliot removed from your care in consequence of
t ?—1I believe she was. :

‘Was any complaint of it made to Mr. Warburton —Y es, there
was.

Was there any inquiry by Mr. Warburton in consequence of
that ?—Certainly, there was.

‘What was the result of that ?—It was stated simply how it was,
that the girl was not to blame, for that very patient came to ocur
house full of bruises, and in a tﬂrrlb]e state. If we had thought
the girl to blame, I should soon have sent her out of the house.

How long did Betty Welch remain with yon ?—1I think she was
with us for seven years, or six years, I have no doubt,

Do you recollect striking a pauper patient in the hall yourself,

by which he lost the sight of one eyec>—No, no such thing ever
happened.

ruel treatment of her’s, of a



30

Had youa Lueper of the name of Dalby ?—Yes.

Was any complaint cver made to you, of his having ﬂngget'l a
pauper patient of the name of Rogers with a bed-cord, assisted by
a man of the name of French .---No, never in my life. |

Did you ever hear of Rogers being flogged at all>—Never,
ncither do I believe it.

Did Rogers die in your house ?—I believe he went home ; but
really it is so distant a time, unless there is some particular circum-
itance attached to the patmnt I cannot recollect ; I think he went

ome.

Do you recollect a panper patient in the hall killing another b]r
a blow with a stick ?—No.

Arve any of the gentlemen in your house confined with the pnn-
per patients 2—No.

Is not Captain Hay, confined among the pauper patients Eh“ﬁ!
have no person of that name; we had a Captain Hay, but he has
been dead these two years ; Imt he was not with the parish patients,
he was on our gentleman’s side, in what we call our warmmga
room.

. What is the size of that warming-room ?—I am sure I do nnt
now,

What should you think is the size of it ?—I am sure [ ﬂu imt
know ; I should suppose about this size (about ten or eleven feet
square} We keep three or four refractory patients there away
from the others. T 1]

Do you know how long he was confined in Whitmore House
before he was sent to you >—I do not know that; since 1 have
been at the Green I have had enough to do there without knowing
about other houses ; I know he came from Hoxton House to our
house, but I know nothing of the circumstance of his cnnﬁne-.
ment there, -

Was a gentleman of the name of Halston, paymaster of a regl-
ment of horse, confined a long time in your house —Yes, he
was.

When he was first sent to you, did you not allow him to go out
whenever he chose, under the idea, that from the length of time
you had known h:m, he would conduct himself with propri
and return at the time you desircd him ?—He never went out 0
the house but once, and that was with a keeper with him, to buy
a pair of spectacles; he was committed from Newgate; he was
tried under the maiming act of Lord Ellenborough, and I ence
had the care of him at Hoxton House, when I was keeper there,
and before I came to the Green I had the care of him as a private
gentleman down at Dulwich, and he made his friends promise me,
that if ever he was deranged again he should come to the place
where I was, which they fulfilled, giving security to the Secretary
of State ; and he never went out but once, and that to buy a paic
of spectacles in St. Paul’s Church Yard, on accomnt of the way
in which 1 had him, or I sheuld have truatcd him out.
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Did he conduct himself quietly in your house ?—No, he was a
very irritable patient indeed. » IR 4
- Was nothe in the habit of going out oud conducting any little
business for the house, seven years before, when he was confined at
Whitmore House 7—Yes, at Whitmore House he did. .

Had you ever occasion to confire him by means of a waistcoat or
irons at your housec—He was confined in a waistcoat, but not
mwons. -
~Why did you confine him to your house entirely, and prevent
his haviug liberty as before >—It was on account of the order of
the Secretary of State, being tried under that act. -
Do you know any thing of ill-will of Mr. Dunston towards
him that occasioned a different treatment 7—No, not the least in
the world ; Mr. Dunston was a kind friend to him, and allowed
him every indulgence when he was in that house ; but he was of
that vindictive malicious mind, that when his disease was upon him
he would say any thing; hes was indebted to me twenty pounds
when he died, that I had lent him from time to time when he was
in my house, in counsequence of the former friendship there was
between us, when I had the care of him as an individual keeper at
Hoxton House, |

Did the commissioners visit your house regularly ?—Yes.
wHow often f=—I do not think within the last twelvemonth they
have visited us above twice. . '
< When they did visit, did they go into every room and every
part of your house ?—Not the last time; I think it was in Decem-
ber, the days were so short, they went as far round as they could
go, and by candle-light ; they were in the house so late that they
did not go into every room.

They did not desire to go into every room ! —No.
-];What time did they spend in your house ?—Perhaps an hour and
a half.

Did they see the poor men’s straw-room, which was formerly a
slaughterhouse ?—Yes, they have seen that.

Did they see that the last visit ;— Yes. ~
 They walked into that, though they did not go into some better
rooms I—They looked more among the peor patients than they
did amongst the private patients.
 They examined the state of the poor patients in that straw-
room /—Yes, they did.

- How many persons are there in that room now ?—I do not
know what room you mean.
The place which was a slaughter-house ?—1 think there are five ;
that is the place where our dangerous patients lie.
- Sleeping on straw in cribs ? —Yes.
- Did they see the hog-sty where a female patient named Isabella
Adams, was confined ?7—A hog-sty ! I wish all the gentlemen

would come and see all my house round, we have no hog-sty for a
patient.
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Have you a place now used as a bed-room that eves has lﬂm
used as a hog-sty 7—No, certainly not. :

You say the commissioners passml an hour and. a h.a]f mdh‘ j'uu
last December ?—Yes.

Did they see all the pahants ?—Not all of them that tune

How many patients had you at that time ?—I caﬁnut_mxz )S ¥

‘Had Egrtm two hundred >—Yes ; our house has been lowering ever
since Bedlam has been opened but I dare say, we had thme
hundred and fifty at that time.

Is there any room in your house known by the Bame of Bella’s-
Hole >—No.

Was there not a woman called Isabella Adams cmlﬁued ina
small square place {—7Yes there was.

Describe the size of that place, and the nature of it ;-—Real
I'cannot say ; but I should suppose it must be seven or cight feet
long, by three or four'feet wide ; that was a room I'.I:at B‘eﬂa

!ﬁﬂhms used to be put in frequently. 51
*"Was it long enpugh for h,er to stretch hﬂrsalf out at full leﬂgﬂi{‘
—I am sure it is more than six feet long. K 01

“Tow high is it 2—1 dare say it is nine feet high, if not more.

“Tn what manner was it lighted ?—1It was lighted by the duﬂf-ldﬁd
ihe bricks taken out of the wall ; It was only for a danger&u:.
patient, as a temporary matter to keep them for a while, ~ 4

Wﬁs therc a glass put in where a brick was taken out *—Na.

" Huw long has she been thereat a time >—She has hl.en confingd
there T dare say, two days tnﬂer. Hieo wmoil
- Aud nights ?—Yes. AT 1378 DS e

‘Was she on straw in a crib >—No, she had straw put in not
with a crib ?—Was the floor wood ?— Yes, wood ; it was madé ‘on
Bth‘pnse, and tha pInnks it was made wlth were tim full thlﬂkﬂé&&
of a deal.

~"Was the place made on purpose for her —Yes.

* 'Was she chained there?—No; we could not make her secure
in any other way ; she got out of the house, over the roof :md

the ridges.
““Was it below the room ?—There was nothing below it; a'ﬂ our
house is on a level. g

What is above this room ?— There are the s!cepmg.rooms a’ﬁdvc
that ; it is under the body of the house. ¥

In what season of the yeéar was she so confined >—I am sure I
cannot answer that; whenever she was refractory, Bﬂmchmﬁs"%u
would go oun for three or four months together, and then she wnu]d
tear and destroy every thing.

Winter or summes you kept her there>—No ; in the winter we
vsed to keep her in the gallery, and put a wrist- ]uck on cach wrist,
and a lu"-iock and when she has escaped, we have been h'lanf{'d
. by the gent'lpmm of Saint George’s, for not keeping her ; but it
‘pleased God at last to take her, and shc died at Saint Genrwe‘s‘”

She was never confined there in winter >—Not that I kuow of 5
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I do not believe it was the case ; for it would not be pemﬂth&

Does the same room still exist 7~~Yes, /1" 1o 8 &
~«“Was there a patient of the name of ﬁrmm confined i.hr&’—-fés
he wasa casualty patient on the county of Essex; he wad put ifito it.

How long was he'confined there r‘----I dmze saj ‘he was there a
week ata time, if not more,

- That depended upon the length uf thE‘pﬂ{m‘]!mi ,---l}h, ye: -
he was such a dangerous patient. -

If a paroxysm lasted a month, was he sh]l ki.-pt there a murhth :
—No ; he was taken out and confined by handcuffs; with a slight
chain du?m to the leg-locks so as to walk about and hn*re mrnula.
tion.

Why was he confined in this small cltnmbEr if you cuuld 50 €on-
fine him /—We were obliged to do that for security during the
‘might ; we could never keep him but there in the might ; it was
made strong, so that the patient put in need not be chained ; it was
made of strong planks; it has never been occupied since by any
patient ; and aoy persons who see the place, will see, the deyasta-
tion he has made on those strong deal planks,

If either Isabella Adams or Green were confined there dm'mg; the
wiater, do you not think they must have suffered most severely from
eold 7—N o, they were never confined so as to suffer any thing from
the cold.

Can yuu take upon yourself to say, that none of the pauper
?Iﬁml!l in your house ever suffered from the severity of the winter

rom cold ?—No; I do not know of any except one, where that
can have ever happened in our house, that was some years ago; [
Dbelieve the cold did affect the toes of one patient, but that weare
extremely cautious about ; as soon as the winter comes on, Mrs.
T:ihu; makes flannels to tie round their legs when they go to bed
at might.

Do you recollect what parish that pauper belonged to who suf-
fered in her toes?—No, I do not; it was a great many years ago,
and I believe Mr. Rogers or Mr. Dunston had the care of her at
the time.

Where do your pauper patients principally sleep?—Above
stairs; we hava at this present moment on the ground floor twelve
female patients; and thatis in the building near the side where the
poor women used to be; there aresix cribs in each room,

As pauper patients?—Yes; the most dangerous of the women
patients,

Do they sleep in straw ?—Yes,

And have they coverlids — Yes.

Is that a stone floor -—No; a wooden floor. ;

Are they chained to their cribs ?—1I dare say six of the twelve
~are confined.

How are the rooms lighted >—They are lighted by glass ; but
now, since the late improvement, we have windows on both !udas, S0
that there is a thorough circulation of the air; before it was only
one way.

F
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By what means are those patients kept warm daring the wmter
mghts ?—By keeping those things on ; many of them wili kick off
every thing; it is impossible to answer that you will find their
things on in the morning.

Will you take upon yourself to say, that none of your pauper
patients during the winter ever suffer from the severity of cold 2—

It never occurred but in the instance I mentioned, which wassome
‘years ago.

Have those female patients each a single crib ?—Ynﬂ. :

Do your male pauper patients sleep in single beds ?—Every one.

And have always slept singly 2—1I cannot say they always have,
but they do now.

.~ Have they always done it since you have known the house —
Thna}T have not.

How long has that been the case ?— Erver since I have knuwn ths
housa we never had but eight or ten beds of that description ;. it
became matter of necessity for a time, but that has been removed
- nearly this twelvemonth, I dare say.

No patients have slept two in a bed during the last twnlvamunth
in your hﬁusﬂ ?—I think I can take upon myself to say that.

rior to that some of them did 2—Yes, some few of them. .

Haveyouwhat are called double cribs 2—No ; I suppose we might
have E‘{t or ten beds of that description ; it was always felt very
oﬂ'm:*re but now every male patient sleeps singly.

. Are. the sleeping-rooms of those pauper patients damp. ?—ﬁn.

Are not the floors very much 1mg%lggnated with urine?—I believe
there is only one room that you will see any thing of the kind in.

Stained red?—Yes; I do not suppose you will see more than the
_ width of this table in any room in this house.

During the winter, in those rooms where they have no mun.l nf
drying them, what means have they for carrying off the damp and
the urine ?—During the frosty weather we only just take up. ihtre
the urine may be, we do not wet the floors.

The fioors are wet already >—No, not generally wet. g

Are not the floors of those rooms where the pauper patients
nleep, generally found covered with urine every morning {—No;
the cribs stand on the side of the rooms on brick ; the le of
. the floors are boards, where the patients stand in Frmt wuthp;
we only let them touch where the urine may be, but whlch is upon
the h];cks ; all the upper rooms are done every day, because they
soon dry.

When the patients wet the straw and blankets, how nftql,;n the
straw and the blankets changed ?—The straw is taken out every
da

{s fresh replaced every day?—Fresh straw is replaced in the
room of that which is wet, and there is a drying room where the
blankets are taken ; there is a fresh succession to supply to-night
what may have been used last night.

So that the blanket which is wetted to-night is not used tu-
morrow night2e—No, not ‘till the next night comes.
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To-night being Tuesday, a hlanket used last night, Monday,
will not he used till Wednesday night ?-—-Just 50,

You have a double set >—Yes.

Have you a greater number of beds in your houses than ‘you
have of patients >—I suppose at this moment we have not got less
t.hah sixteen beds unoccupied.

" What may be the size of your present familv?-—[ think now we
must have 300, or from that to 360 ; last Friday we had three went
away, and we had six came in the same day ; we. change so, that
I cannot speak to the number any day without taking an account ;
we have had an influx lately, or we were lowering very fast,

How often does Mr. Warburton go round your house #—1I think
I may say with safety, upon the average, twice a week; but I an
inclined to think more.

He examines every person and every room ? —He gues all mnd
the house.

How often does Mr. Dunston, the apothecary, go round the
house 7— Mr. Dunston does not come so often, but his assistant
‘comes every day ; 3 but if therc is any particular case appearing tn
require his superior judgment, he comes every day.

How often has he been round the house during the last month ?—
"1 should think three or four times, but I really cannot say. .
* Can he have been there at any time without your knowing it ?~—

Oh,ﬂyes; that is possible, for I am obliged tq he out on business,

"You have said that if an accident happens in your house, either
“by one patient killing another, or by any accidental daath a jury
l always summoned. —Yes,

~ Has a jury been often summoned in your house ?>—We have had
l'mhr three cases since I have been there, and we have had a ]ury

‘-tlrru times. :

* In what number of years ?—Fourteen years.

- Who summons the jury, the coroner ?—Yes.

Of what class of persons are they principally composed ?—
‘TrldespEﬂp'.le, such as our neighbourhood affords.

Tradespeaple taken in the vicinity 7—Yes; we have had but
three cases in fourteen years.

* When a patient dies, do yon make a point of informing the per-

son who sent him to you of his death ?==Yes ; if it is from a parish

we write to the parish officers ; if the pat:ent’s friends leave thau-
address, we write to them,

Do you say any thing more than that the patient is liend"—-Nat
if they are under any medical treatment ; if it is from the parish of

" Mary-le-bone, where there are medical attend.nnts, I only report
dmm dead, and then they look to the parish attendant for infor-
‘mation ; imt if it is a private patient, where thera is no mudmal

':atlaendauce, we send word of the cause of their death, i—

: : £ p e
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----- il

Mr. Matthew Tdbn agam called in, made the fuliwmg Gtutemhu

I WISH to explain a part of the evidence I gave yesterday; in
reference to the visitation by the College of Physicians : I stated,
that on the last visitation they inspected the loewer rooms; oun re-
collection I am now convinced that they visited the upper rooms,
but not the straw-rooms, and the bed-rooms on the ground floor.

You have informed the Committee, you have been fourteen years
in the management of this house ?—I shall have been next August.

Did you know a person of the name of Rogers, a medical man ?
—Yes, very well.

Was he in attendance upon your house for any part of that timui’
~—Mr. Danston commenced business in June 1812, and Mr. Rogers
was his assistant, and attended our house in a regular way, with
Mr. Dunston, Itimk for five. enas and a half, till the lnltar end
of the year 1807.. - 1

Do you mean with Mr. Duuston paraannlly, or as hmmshnbi‘
—A# his assistant. 4

In what n]mmatar d:d Mr. Rngeu nttendfhuﬂe mendad nm

assistant. to Mr,. Dunston, who is a surgeon.

Did, Mr. Rogers attend as a surgeon, or a compounder of Illdi‘-
ﬁm?;—-—ﬁ e attended as the apethecary.

And a surgeon combined *‘-—Nﬂ, he did not -tteud as a nrgm
but.as an apothecary. -

'Was his attendance pretty regular upm: the ]muse ?—The mg:]u
attendance is every other day, ucept allj" puhmlnr circumstances
arise, and then every day.

Did ke appear to manage the pailents pmperly —Yﬂ, I dn not

know that there was any fault to find,
Did he himself make any complaint to you of the treatment of
any of those patients >—Never during the whole time he was there.

When Mr, Warburton has been present with you, and Mr. lln.... .

gers has been by, did he ever complain to Mr. Warburton, of

improper treatment of the patients ?—Never ; il he had 1 should
have been sure to have kmown it from Mr.Warburton ; but itwas
just the reverse. GELST

Do you recollect any particular periods when you have. huq
nbhged to send for Mr. Rogers or Mr. Dunston, in cases of M
danger of the life of the patient i—No,

Did sudden deaths frequently happen ?-—Ol:, no; I recollect
there was a case where a woman had cut her throat with a smafl
piece of tin; she wasa dangerous patient, and had contrived to
eut ‘her throat with a piece of tin pot longer than my thumb; we
sent for him that might; she lived about a month, and we had a
coroner’s inquest upon her when she died.

You do not recollect any mltanna of sudden death having bm

ol e f
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the consequence of forcing a patient to take food >—Never; and
I used to force a great many people at Hoxton. .. = .

Do you, during the coarse of your practice at the house, ever
recollect any person dying under the operation of forcing >—1I am
positively certain no such thing ever happened.

You have at different times seeri the medicines which have been
sent in by Mr. Dunston or Mr. Rogers 7~——Mr. Rogers principally
attenfed, and used to send in the medicines ; it was according to
his report as he went home, he had a full power to send what me-
dicines he thought praper. I nsed to remonstrate against it, be-
cause we are careful not to add any unnecessary expense to the
friends ; and the answer was, it was considered necessary, and
- that being by a medical man I could say no more about it.

Did you ever represent to Mr. Warburton that medicines were
brought in, more than you thought necessary >—Frequently,

Iuform the Commirtee what Mr. Warburton’s reply to that was?
—When I have complained to him upon that subject, he has said,
that Mr. Dunston was to send in what medicine he thought neces-
sary and proper for the vse of the house. .

Was any thing said about the expense of the medicines>—For
the medicines I can take upon myself to say, there has not a year
elapsed that Mr. Warburton has not paid £100 a-year, that never -
was paid by the friends ; that has been paid ount of the expenses of
the hounse, and it has been nearly the same with wine and other
things that we can make no charge for; the only parish we make 2
charge for is Saint Mary-.le-bone, through Lord Robert Seymour 3
were permitted to make a charge when there was a fever in the
house. : .

You probably remember the first appearance of the typhus fever ?
—Yes, Ido. : -

In consequence of finding one of the patients in a state of sicks
ness, what did you do, did you send for the apothecary ?—No; L
mentioned it to Mr. Rogers, and he said he did not think it was,
and he treated it in the ordinary course of things; and when Mr.
Warburton came I stated to him my apprehension. The patient’s
name was Martha Wing, )

Was Rogers present?—Not at that time; but I shewed Mr.
Warburton the patient, and the moment he saw her, he said this is
typhus, send for Mr. John Dunston ; then we did all we could to
separate the patients. :

Are you speaking of the first typhus fever ?—It was only once
in our house. ' : RS,
. When was this 21 think in May three years ago.

On what occasion was it, the parish of Saint Mary-le-bone sap-
plied you with wine ?—At the time I am mentioning, and I believe
we were allowed to charge to the parish £35; we had about ei hty -
and lost thirteen; and 1 believe there were seven or eight hel'ﬁhg.
ing to Saint Mary-le-bone parish among the number. ik’

Do you remember at the time of this typhus fever happening, any
conversation between you and Warburton and Rogers, respecting
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the commencement of that disease in that single patient ?—I'know
when Mr. Rogers cume, he came along with Mr. Duniston, when
he was sent for, and then the subject was started. ~ /" ©
Did not he come first by himself >—He did. yral ok
What did he say >—Ile considered it has an ordinary common
thing, not as a contageous disease. '
How came you to send for Mr. Dunston?—In consequence of
Mr. Warburton saying it was typhus. B
Did Mr. Warburton complain to Mr. Rogers, that he had mis-
taken the case?—Yes, and blamed him very much, in consequenc
of whathad happened in the other house the year before.
Is Mr. Rogers a surgeon?—No, I never understood he was; T
understand he is an apothecary. Ao
Do you know whether he belongs to the Surgeon’s College ?—I
do not ; he always used to sign certificates as an apothecary.
You say that Mr, Warburton gives you leave to add your name
to his 2—Yes, and I give receipts for both. ~ = = ¢
“Are you aware of the consequences of that >—1 do now know ;
I ‘should thing Mr. Warburton was in a worse situation than me,
if I was to act dishonestly. Ui LLIED S HAMDN T8 1A 301
Do you know any thing of any quarrel in your presence between
Dunston and Rogers ?—No, I cannot say I do, any particular
qua’rrel. ¥ S < =L L L LEREYL
"No ill-will 2—No, I do not believe there is any thing of that.
Have you ever heard Rogers express himself strongly about
young Mr. Dunston ?—Mr. Rogers, I should tell you, left Mr.
Dunston and went to sea with a Baron Hompesch, or some such
name, and I believe he was gone about two years, i N
Do you know for what purpose ?—In privateering, I understood.
As a surgeon >—He went in a medical capacity ; on his retarn
he was out of employ, and he applied to me to get him reinstated
with Mr. Dunsten. Mr. Dunston would not see him personally,
and I was the middle-man between them ; when things were ar-
ranged then Mr. Dunston saw him ; he was to have so much the
first year, I think it was 60/ or 70/ and to go on in gradation
10L. a year, till such time as the partnership expired between
Longley and Dunston, and then after that expired, he was to be-
come a partner, | .
In point of fact, did the partnership take place ?—No. - =
In consequence of that, did Rogers express himself with any de-
gree of severity towards Dunston ?—When they could not
and a separation had taken place, 1 havesheard Mr. Rogers often
say he ovght to be shot, and he should not mind shooting him ; but
I only considered it arose from a disappointed 'man, from irritation
and disappointment, and no more unfavourable to Mr. Rogers than
that, not from any intention of doing him an injury. e )
. Was Rogers in good circumstances?—No; he owed me 30L.
when he left Mr. Dunston the first time, that I had lent him at
different times, having a good opinion of him. TN A
You remember your housekeeper, Mrs, Humieres ?—Yes, she
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was his sister, when he was reinstated with Mr. Dunston,
Mrs. Talbot wanted an assistant, and ;he applied to Mrs. Talbot
for the situation for her. el s i 5504

How long did she stay with you?—About three years; but she
was in such a sitnation, having two children in a parish workhouse
in the country, and another to support, she could not be introduced
into our house till I lent Mr. Rogers money to clothe her, that
she might not appear in a degraded state in our house, and before
she had been with us six months she was 30/ in advance,, from per-
sons coming after her for money ; she went on for two years very
well. DMrs. Talbot became ill, and she had the charge of the
keys, and as she improved in clothes, and so on, slie hurt Mrs.
Talbot’s feelings. rs. Talbot was obliged by ill health to re-
move to this end of the town, and when 1 asked her a guestion,
she got so baughty I could get no answer; and when Mrs. Talbot
returned, it was determined she should be removed, and that took
place the day after Mrs. Talbot’s return. 0y .

Though you knew she was in arrear with different persons youn
made her your confidential housekeeper !—Certainly, it was Mr.
‘Roger’s recommendation, and we placed confidence in her, and she
went on very well for a time. _ -
. How came you to part with her ?—Because she behaved ill to
Mrs. Talbot Lefore she went away. I should have parted with her
sooner, but that. I could not do without her till Mrs. Talbot’s
Teturn.

Was there any other reason?—TYes, Mr. Rogers and his wile
lived too mear to us; we did not find any thing come from Mr.
Rogers’s to our house, but we found things go from our house to
theirs. Mrs. Humieres’s daughter used to live with Mr. Rogers’s
wife at a little distance from our house, and when 1 was out of the
‘way the servants can prove things were carried out of the house,
but it was not ascertained to what amount, till Mrs. Talbot was
able to look into her own store-rooms, then she found things miss-
(ing that could not be accounted for, nor have been made use of
in the house; those were the two reasons.
. Did you instituté any prosecution against Mrs. Humieres for this
supposed purloining or breach of trust 2—No, not at all.

In the confidential situation she was in, did she make out
Mrs. Talbot’s bills?—Oh, no; Mrs. Talbot had nothing to do
with bills. ;

~Did she make out your hills!-;{)h, no; nobody had any thing
ta do with bills but me, \

‘Her bills to you for the common ﬂ:r.peuses.nf the house ?-*ai;, :
no ; she had nothing to pay. R
Do you mean to say positively that Mrs. Talbot never made any

bills out to any of the patients friends !==No, not bills relating to
the house. : |

: N ot house bills, but any bills for aipma for the pauper pa-
tients 2—dn this sort of way, perhaps a person may pay a shilling
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a week or ei ghtecn-pence a week, for a.ny I:ttlﬂ matm- of‘thlt HIH!,
but ﬁﬁthmg more than that, :

For clothing ?—Oh, no. rHDGE Fana v &) *_-'

You are positive of that'-’-—Nerer. SRL

If you were to seea bill drawn out in Mrs. Hummm’a’ ttnﬂ‘-
writing, would you know it again ?—I do not know M&r I
should or not.

You would know Mrs. Humieres, if you were to see her ?—Yes,
«certainly.

State exactly the firm of Mr. Warbarton’s house ? —In my re.

ceipts | always sign for Warburton and Talbot, and the bills are
headed as such, Warburton and Talbot.

[ The Bill delivered in by Mr. Rogers was shewn to Mr. Talbot.]

Have you seen Mrs. Humieres write often 2—I have, but I can-
not say whether this is her hand-writing or not.

Will you say it is not her hand-writing ?—f{ am more inclined
tur think it is not than thatit is, as [ do not think she could write so
well: I think it was our lnlmdr}r-mmd’s writing. \

‘What. was her name?—Her name was Snr&h Marsden ; it is
more like her hand.

Is she in your house now ?—No.

Do you know where she is now ?—I do not:3 - I enquired in con-
sequence of questions put yesterday respecting the- woman whe fell
off her chair, and the person that was feeding har, I underﬂlnﬂ is
married and gone down into Essex,

Do you know much of the practice of St. Luke's E—No, I do
not ; 1 never was over it but once in my life.

Does not Mr. Dunston, of St. Luke’s, recommend pltlenta to
your house —Yes, and he did: T suppose for these thirty ym
past in Mr. Stratton’s time. '

Have patients been sent to your house with limbs mtrlmd,
from  what you should suppose lmpruper confinement :—That
might probably be the case, and not from improper confinement ;
some of the patients are in the habit of lying in such pesitions and
situations, as for their limbs to be contracted without mpmper
treatment.

You do not know the practice of St. Luke’s in that rupect.-—I
do not.

Do you recollect when a Mrs. Rhodes was at your houa:e, ﬂﬁﬁug
her hushand, that Mr. Ford waited at the outside of the gate,
for the purpose of communicating to her the ill-treatment Captain
Rhodes received while he was confined in St. Luke’s ?—1I remember
Mr. Ford being at our house, but whether auy such thing took
‘place I cannot say 3 T do not recollect his wattmg outside th-l.;a-tc
to eommunicate any such fact. .

Did you ever hear Mr. Ford say any thing respecting Hr. Dua.
ston ?—He was disappointed in his expectation ; the gentlemen at
Gt, Luke’s wished Mr. Dunston to.appoint seme person to e
in readiness, if any thing should happen to Kim; and it so hap-

|
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pened, ihat Mr. F ord was not censidered ehgfbln, al;ul he felt
himself disappointed, and I believe attributed it to Mr. Dunston ;
that is all T know about it.

Did you ever hear him say why he left St. LuLe‘ni—-No, I be-
lieve it was by order of the committee that they gave him some
remuneration for his trouble.

When patients come to your house from St. Luke’s, did you
ever observe that the marks of the linen were cut off 7—Indeed I
cannot answer that question ; we keep a linen room for the pur-
pose, and Mrs. Talbot, 1 am sure, would be able to answer any
guestions on that subject.

When Mr. Dunston sends patients to you, does he sign the certi-
ficate with his name or his initials ?—Gnly with his initials.

How does that happen?—It is always signed by a medical
gentleman besides, Mr. Dunston is only to mdma.te tn me where it
comes from. g

When Mr. Dunston sends patients to '_ﬁm, ‘you stated tha.t‘tha
certificate is signed only with his initials; is that nacumpamed‘hy
another certificate frum a medical person?—There is written by
whose ordef the patient comes, and a friend signs-the name under
that ; under that follows the signature of the medical gentlemansy

-that makes it complete; then on this corner of the certificate there
are the inittals of Mr. Dunston ; the name of the medical pe'rlrnn is
:ﬁﬂnad on'the same paper.

How often is Mr. Warburton in the habit of gamg round your
house ?—To a certainty 1 can say, unless he should be in the
country, twice a week; but I may say more than twice a week,
and I am certain more “but I wonld not go too farin my mwﬂ,
therefore I confine myself.

~Howoften has Mr. Dunston the apothecary visited your housed—
It depends upon the circumstances of the case, sometimes he cmu
two or three times a week.

- As yon have a number of patients, should not the attention of
the apothecary be constant 2—Mr. Dunston’s partner that is nows
attends regularly.

" How often does Mr. Dunston the apothecary attend ?—I cannot
state the number of times; sometimes he comes when I am out;
dod-there is no motice taken of those things. I should think I
might safely say twice a week.

‘the medical treatment of the patlients in your house conducted
‘hy Mr. Dunston generally, or by assistants of his?—It is cone
ducted by his assistant, but he and his assistant consult together
before the medicines are mixed up, and he attends twice a week,

The general attendance falls upon his assistant !—Yes, cer-
tainly.

What is the name of his aas:stant’—He has become a partner
now ; his name is Salmon ; itis Dunston and Salmon,

If a patient should die in your hopse in the act of being forced, or
from suicuiu, could that happen without your being informed of

G
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it 2—Certainly not, if the least accident was. to occur, I shtmld
know it in an instant. ; i

In every such case is a coroner’s Jll‘.l'jl' summoned >— Yes. i

If a person died from being forced to take fwd ?~—Such a..thing
has never happened in our house.

Whenever any death has happened, either from suicide or frnm
any actof violence of any kind, the jury is summoned?— Yes.

In summoning the jury, is thera any attention paid to procuring
the tradesmen who serve the house to serve upon the j jury, in order
to prevent publicity ?—It depends upon the summumng oﬂiaer,
we have nothing to do with that.

Has that happened inepoint of fact ?—It is among our neighbours
that they are appointed.

And among persons serving the house ?—Possibly that may hiwe
been the case.

The question is, whether it has happened in point of fa.cti—-Tha
jury has been summoned out of the nmghhnurhﬂud '

ha is the summoning officer ?—I believe it is put mta the hands
of the headle of the parish, generally.

"Who is the summoning officer ; whom do.you send to when a
death takes place ?¥—I go to the cnrunermyself _

And who do you believe summons the jury ?—I behﬂm the baa-
dle of the parish. 0
~ By order of the coroner L—Yes when T have stated the qnf
cumstance to the coroner, I have unthmg more to do with it.

‘Whenever a patient dlﬂ'ﬁ, do you always see the body ? -Yes.

And you yourself examine particularly, whether there is reason
to suppose he dies from ill-treatment ?—1I see the patient so con-
stantly that I always know the state of the house how they are.

1In cases of summoning the jury, have you, or any body con-
mtt:tet] with your house, ever suggested the names of persons who
should be summoned ?—No, I do not recollect any circumstance
of the kind ; it rests with the person who summons the:n -1 can-
not tell any thing abont that. .

You must know whether you did ever suggest. ta a summnmug
officer, the names of any of your neighbours!—I de not knuw
whether I have ever or not.

" You cannot say that you did not ?—I do not know that I lum.

Do you believe that you have not?—I believe that 1 bave not;
I do not know that I have; I think I can positively saj' W hﬂl’@
not.

‘Has any body, connected with the house, done so. to mr
meladwe ?—No, there was nobody in our ]IDII.E'B but myself ; it
is a thing I always have to do myself. _

Do you recollect a young lady of the name of —— in. pur
house :—VYes, I do.

Do youn remember the cause of her removal from St. Luke'a to
yonr house ?—No. -

* You did not know that she was pre.gua,nt-—Nn, 1did nﬂh i
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“Did she come from St. Luke’s to your house, or go from your
house to St. Luke’s?—Neither the one nor the other; she never
came to our house from St Luke's, she came from her.own liome
toour house} unfortunately we have had a guuﬂ mnny of th.&
fa.mll}r, her mother died in our house.

Do you know that she was pregnant - No; 1 d6'not,

Who is the beadle of your parish ?—I am sure I do not know
his name.

Did any conversation ever pass between you and the beadle, on
the subject of thc coroner’s jury 7—No, never. _

If you do not know the beadle, how can vou answer for no
conversation having passeﬂ ?~~I know the man’s name very v.el.]
his name is Harrold.

Ts he employed by you as a tradesman ?—No, he is not in’ trade.

Was he ever employed by you?—No, it is some years ago smcc
we had any accident of that sort. Pl

Do you know Mr. Ford —Yes. ' 5 R

Ihci you ever hear Mr. Ford give any opinion of the t:haracter
of Mr. Dunston i{—I know he used to speak very highly of Mr.
Dunston, and used to send him a good deal of game and preaeats
but when he was disappointed of his situation, of course he
changed his tone.

Do you knnw how long Mr. Ford was at the hospital ?—I do
not.

Was Mr. Rugers under the controul or influence of Mr. Dun-
ston, so as to have prevented his makmg any representation of
any improper proceeding ke was witness to ?—Oh, no; not the
least in the world, I am convinced of that.

He was quite independent of him ?—Yes, quite independent ;

and I m}rself was very partial to Mr. Rogers ; so much confidence
had I in Mr. Rogers, that to serve him when he was disappointed
in not being a partner with Mr. Dunston, I gave him my word,
that in case he was disappointed, that if he went into business for
himself, I would aséist him ; when the disappointment took place,
Mr. RugErs claimed my promise ; and though I did not at that
moment think so well of Mr. Rogers as I had done before, because
I had given my word, I did, for I felt as much regard for my
word as any honourable member of this committee—[ The witness
put in a bond for 500l. |—To save me the expense of my attorney’s
drawing out the bond, he said, g friend of mine will draw it up
for nothing, and he haa given me a bond that is not worth two-
pence ; there is the bond, and the stamp is not worth two-pence ;
there is Mr. Rogers’s own writing as to the different times when
it was received.
" You have receéived the 500/. ?—No, not a farthing ; that whlch
is written, is the different times the money was advanced by me to
him ; he bas since that refused to pay we becnuse the stamp was
good for nothing, and in cnnsequence of that, I put it inte the
h?lndlf. of my attorney. I did not know it was good for nothing
till then.

G2
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You have informed the Committee, that your immediate neigh-
bours serve on the coraners juries held at your house, and amongst
them sometimes there may be some of your own tradesmen; do.
the same people always or frequently serve upon those juries ?—
No; I think the last circumstance that happened was five or six
years ago ; there have been but three during the time I llue had
charge of the house.

How long did Mr. Rogers attend your house ?—1I think 1t was
five years and a half the first time, and I think from January 1810
to December 1812, was the last.

For the whole of that time you were satisfied with him -"-—Yes
I think I was always satisfied with him.

You informed the committee that Rambard wry'ill'-trmted 2
patient in your presence, and that he was discharged in conse-
quence of that act by you; can you now state, what time elapsed
between the time of the offence and the time of the discharge;
having referred to your books since yesterday >—I do mot keep
any books of servants coming and going; I pay their wages mrg.r
quarter. .

Do nnt yml slnfa the name of the persow you pay. ,--No I du
noft.

Hﬂa }rnu no rece1pts for their wages ?-—Nu I never llai:l
receipt from a servant while I have been there.

You informed the committee yesterday that the people all lie
singly, males as well as females :—No, I did not sy the famﬁlﬁ
did.

The men all lie singly ?—Yes, they do.
How long has that been the practice of the house ?—It has

always been the practice, as far as we could do it; we never had
above seven or eight double beds.

How long have the paupers all lain amgly ?—1I believe for abeve
a twelve-month.

Did any of the pauper patients ever lie singly t.'lil within this
twelvemonth ?-——-They all did, except that we had seven or e:g]lt
double bedsteads, in which our men patients lay,

Xou have informed the committee, that Mr, Warhurtn goes
round the house twice a week ?—Yes.

- He has a son in the business ?—He has.

Are we to understand you to speak of Mr. Warburton, senior,
" or of Mr. Warburton, senior, and Mr. Warburton, junier ?—I
meant Mr. Warburton; Mr. Warburton’s sen gali round fre-
_quently ; he is a doctor, now he has taken up his degrec; I do

ot look upon his ﬂsﬂatmn as any thing; I spoke of the ﬁt*

The house you say is mow attended by Mr. Salmon ; Itﬁ:
afrrgeun, or does he profess to be a surgeon and apo -
He professes to be a surgeon; heis on the College of Surgeons.

Can you give any further information than you did yesterday,
~respecting the state of the floors in your house 2—I cannot. .

Were not there two or three inches of water found by your
maid-servants, and the persons who took charge of the bed-rooms
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till- wihin this twelvemonth, which was 'absorbed by mops, and
the boards so cleaned ?—No, we do not'make us¢ of mops. '
. Were not the rooms too much crowded ?~They were formerly,
but they are not now. ' e TEWTE S (O] DR

Was not there a great quantity of urine on the floors at that
time ?—Yes, there was certainly. |

You have spoken of a Mrs. Humieres who was a housekeeper
with you; exclusive of the suspicions which you have mentioned
to have fallen upon her, had you any reason to complain of her
general conduct, and particularly towards the patients?—No.

Did you ever detect her in any falsehoods while she was with
you in the house ?—No ; T do not know that I did.

Has any proof at any time @ppeared, that the things which were
missing had been taken away by her, or by any other person em-
ployed by her ?—We can prove that her daughter was repeatedly
there ; if I happened to be in the way she was pushed inlo another
room, and we can prove that the things were carried away. ' While
I was on a visit to Mrs. Talbot, whigh I used to be every Sunday,
Mr. Rogers and all the family used to be visiting at our house, and
thrﬁ always went away before I got home, at ten o’clock at night,

as any proof at any time appeared, that the things which were
missing had been taken away by her, or by any other person em-
ployed by her 2—No, only what I have stated ; she had the keys of
-every thing; we can prove that her daughter carried them away.
- When these things were missing, were they in the charge of
Mrs. Homieres ?—Certainly. |

You did not prosecute’ her for carrying away these things ?—
No, we found fault with ourselves for not prosecuting her.

Do you mean to convey a suspicion, that Mr. Rogers and his
family were at all implicated in the carrying away the goods be-
lenging to the house, of which you have spoken?—I do not mean
to insinuate any thing of the kind; I only meant to say, that -
they visited her in the way I have stated; I did not mean to in-
sinuate, that they carried away any thing with them at that
time. :

Did you mean fo imply any thing at all against them by the an-
swer you gave?—No, not at all. _

Then for what reason were their names brought in?—I only
meant to say, that they were there at the times I was absent, not
that they carried away any thing with them at those times.

Do you mean to insinuate that Mr. Rogers ever carried any
thing away ?—I do not mean to insinuate any thing improper
against him. ' ' R
. To whom did the property belong which you could prove to
be carried away by the daughter of Mrs. Humieres —The stores of
the house.

M youcould prove that they were so carried away, for what
reason did no further examination into the subject take place?—
We did not think any thing more about it ; she was gone, and we

-
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were perfectly satisfied, and there’ was mnothing mote ‘said
about it. ) 304

Do you mean then that you had no opportunity of prunﬂg it
till after Mrs. Humieres was gone ?—I do not mean to say that. 1
mean to say, that could have been done before, it we c’hose
to do it. &1

Why did you not do it 2—We did not give it any further consi-
deration.

Did you think diﬂc]urgmg her from her sitnation was su ﬂicient
punishment for her fault ?—Certainly.

You say thata part of the house stores were embezzled ; do you
consider the parish clothing that is kept in your si,ure-ruﬂm as
stores of the house?—No ; we never have any spare clothing from
t:e parishes ; there is a change ; there is a closet on puqmsré fnr
them. !
- Are those: clnthes kept in the store-room ?—Y es.

From those stores of the house which you describe to have heen
stoleny did the parishes snstain any loss 7—No : it was what we
call amoungst the private patients.

Did not you keep them in the same store-room ?—Yes ; but there
is a closet for the parish clothing, distinct from the other patients.

How long is it since this passed that you lost these stores i..._[
think it s three years ago since she left the house.

"When a patient dies in your house, have you any apartment
appropriated for the reception of the corpse?-—We have for one
night, but we never keep a body in the house, it is removed to our
undertaker’s; we write to the friends, and they cither take the
body away, or aitend at the undertaker’s.

Do you send them to the undertaker’s before an mquest if it is
found necessary ?—No; we cannot remove them till the inquest,

Then the body in that case may remain till beyoud that time ?—
Of course till the jury have seen the body.

Have you a room especially appropriated for the keeping pf a
corpsel—We have,

Mr. Thomas Dunston called i in, and Examined.

What is yeur situation 2—Master of Saint Luke’s Rnsp:ta.l

Is it the custom at Saint Luke’s Hospital to confine any descrip-
tion of patients on straw only 2—They lie upon blankets and stﬂm,
the wet pa.tmnts

And in the winter for several months together >—While thej' lll!
wet, we find it the most convenient, the urine runs off better than
from any thing else, and we can shiﬂ: it so much the oftener.

Have you ever sent any patients out of Saint Luke’s with limbs
contracted, in consequence of their having been thus confined in
straw-beds 7—I do not immediately recollect ; we have had them
contracted rather; we always contrive to walk them about and
keep people to lead them. I do not recollect that we have Ild-
any so contracted, that they could not walk, !
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. Have j"ﬂl.l had any instances in Saint Luke's of patients destroy-
ing themselves >—That has been the case, but very rarely.

. In those cases has a coroner’s jury been invariably summoned 2—
Yes,- where that has been the case, a jury has been summoned,

An every instanee of suicide or sudden death, a coroner’s jury
has been summoned ?—Yes; except they have disd in a fit, and
then their friends take them away.

Though that death may be entirely sudden?—Yes; if they die
in a fit, that sometimes happens. . I knew a man once die at his
meals, there was no coroner’s jury upon that, for it-was deemed
as a fit.

- Has that fit ever been oceasioned by the tréa.tmﬂnt ?—Never, to
m]r knowledge.

When the jury is summoned, as stated in cases of smmde do
you know how that jury is formed, whether by persons in tha im-
mediate neighbourhood, or serving the hospital ‘with articles ?2—-
Not persons serving the hospital with articles; the constables
- summon the jury, and we never know who they will h& f.il!_ thejr
come. (st 1}

Y ou never have interfered in the summoning of a jlll‘ji i'«—lﬂuf. in
I:he least; we never knew who they were till they came. ¢
_Have you known instances of female patients being pregaant in
Ehe hospital 2—W e had one that was thought to be pregnant in the
haspital ; she was sent to me a good way up from the- ‘country ;
she came up in a broad-wheeled waggon, and it appeared that it
was through the waggoner, as she came up; they laid itupon us.
hut the waggoner confessed it,and it turned out that she became
so by the waggoner, as she came up.

Do you recollect a patient of the name of -
Luke’s {—There was,

Was she pregnant while in the hospital ?—She was, hj?‘ one of
the servants.

By which of the servants ?—His name was Edward Duwdmg.h
as he dismissed for that offence I—IHe was. ) 3

Immediately ?—1 kept him 2 week or two to be certain. I was
some time before I found it out, and then he was dismissed.

Do you know what became of him afterwards ?—FHe now lives
somewhere in Whitechapel, | hehe-.re he married one of the ser-
vants after that.

He is not now connected with any house of reception >—None
whatever, [ believe,

What became of Miss
Bethnal Green, I think.

Are you sure she did not go to Mr. Warburton’s hm:sex"-,-l
heard she was therc several times. ;

Do you know whether she was there as a patient ?—Yes, several
times ; but whether she went directly from me to that house I
cnmot tell; I thought they tried her at home first. I know they
sent her there but I thought it was not till aftamnrda. I think 1
heard that 5he lay in there afterwards.

-bcmg in Saint

!—She went to her father-. at
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~ At the time she became pregnant by this man, was she confined
in irons, her legs and wrists both confined ?—-She was not at all
confined. »

Ina former examination you stated, that the men had no access
to the women’s side, except in cases of refractory patienis; how
then came Dowding to have access to Miss ?—They carry
up the beer and the provisions with the maids, and they are sent
for occasionally, as I observed before.

Do you bappen to know why Miss was confined ; was
she mad?—Yes, she certainly was a vicious kind of youn
woman, :

You have stated, that the apothecary pays his visits daily through
the hospital ; did you notsend him iuto the country after a patient
who made his escape from the hospital, and was he not at that time
absent for a foertnight? I am not certain how long he was ahsent,
but he did go after a patient, I think not at that time. poe

While he was absent, did he not leave the key of his shop with
one of the patients 2—Not to my knowledge.

‘Can you state that he did not ?—Ille did not to my knowledge ;
I think I should have known it if he had, and I do not know that
he did. i3

You do not know whether this person, with whom it is supposed
he left the key, administered medicines to the patients 7—I1 do net.

- Do you know whether the medicines generally in the use at the
- hospital, especially thebitters, are prepared by one of the patients 2
—No ; there used to be a patient, who was in the hospital thirty
~ years, who used to help Mr. Meadows, and he could make them
very correctly indeed, and the manis there now ; at times he is
very poorly, and at other times very well, R

. Did you ever state to the Governors that the apothecary was an
unfit person to be in the situation ?—No, I do not recollect that
I did ; I have thought him a little unsteady sometimes.

Not only on account of his neglect, but being 2 married man ;
is not that contrary to the rules ?—It is. :

He is a married man 7—He is; I did not know that when he
came.

You knew it afterwards?—Yes ; he was on the péint of going
away when I knew of it. .

Was not it known he visited his wife, and she came to him 7=
She was not there three times, and I looked upon her as his sister.

Is the apothecary employed by you in transacting your private
business ! —No.

In collecting rents or attending sales, or any thing of that sort ?
—Oh, no; I might send him to call for a little bill, or any thing

of that sort.

Whe Superifﬁnds- the hospital in your absence ?—I and Mrs,
Dunston ; we ar never absent together, nor have becn for above
thirty years, and we sat down with that attention when we went

to it.
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"~ How are the assistant master and matron employed ?—There is
an assistant master at this time employed under me.

Is the assistant master’s time taken up in any other avocation for
your private advantage, or that of Mr. Dunston of Broad-Street,
your son?—No, not that I know any thing of.

Is there generally a deficiency of two or three of the servants
allowed by the hospital 2—No ; when one goes away another comes.

How isthe assistant matron employed ?—Inattending to thelinen.

Does the assistant matron cver go out to take the care of ladies
who may apply to you for a keeper —Never ; she has been there
these thirty years, and never goes out at all.

- Was she not with a lady at Halstead, in Essex, four or fivemonths
the last year 7—No ; I have had servants. that when they have left
me have gone out with people. : '

‘The question is, whether, during the time she was assistant matron
of the hospital, she did not go out to take care of ladies for private
emolument ?~—~No, she did not,

Yoo know that she was not with a lady at Halstead, for four or
five months the last year ?—I do not know that she was, and I must
hayve known of itif she bad.

Did not a female lay herself upon the fire one evening, which
- occasioned her death, and was not an alarm given by a gentleman
passing along Old-street, who saw her passing the windows in
flames ?—There was a woman who secreted herself, and the fire
was raked, and she went and clapped her clothes all over the fire
and cinders, and so‘she became on fire ; the maid was just by her
and laid her down immediately, and took her into her own room ;
she lived two or three months afterwards, but it was her death
subsequently. . At ¢

Had you an inquest upon her when she died ?—No, the surgeon
and doctor attended her, 4 '
- Have not you several houses in which you accommodate patients
to the number of three or four in each i—Not one, nor never had.

Do you mean to state that the private madhouse in Ivy-lane,
Hoxtan, did not belong to you, and that you did not receive the
emoluments ?>—I am only the landlord, and never received any
emoluments from it; our committee investigated that and were
satisfied of it, that I only received the rent.

0 you mean to say, that you never have been at any time since
you have been in the situation at Saint Luke’s, the master or owner
of any house for the reception of lunatics, and that you have never
derived from any such house any emolument, as partner or other-
wise 7—I do.

Are you in the habit of recommending patients to Mr. Warbur-
ten f—I am.

For those recommendations do you receive any em'mlent or
advantage whatever 7—None whatever ; Mr. Warburtou has made

ol r"'l‘:if“ a present of a gown, and sometimes has given my son a few
“_D' ﬂ-- r

You receive ne pension or advantage 2—No.
1 -
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Nor no pecuniary allowance 2—No. :

Nor no profit or allowancein any way whatever >—No more
that what I have mentioned. ‘ ; o ;

Beyond that, no advantage has resulted to you from those recom-
mendations 7—No advantage whatever. : -

Have you now any patient confined in St. Luke's, by means of
an iron coller round his neck ?—None ; we never had. o

You have stated that those patients who dirty themselves have
clean blankets every night ; are they fresh ones, or the same that
have been washed during the day >—They are mostly fresh ones,
or those that have been dried ; we keep a fire to dry them, '

Do you recollect a patient, in 1812, falling down the straw shaft,
and dislocating his thigh?—There was one who fell down, and
hurt his hip joint. S

Was the dislocation ever reduced ?—I am hardly able to say. -

Did not the patieat die within a fortnight 2—I do not remember,
but I think not. .

How happens it there can be any doubt of the surgeon having
applied his skill ?—I do not recollect the particulars ; I know
there was one fell down, but I believe that she did not die, and I
remember the surgeon was applied to.

You recollect the injury?—VYes. _

But you do not recollect whether the complaint was treated,
or not ?—I cannot say particularly to that. _

_Is there no record kept in the hospital books of accidents hap-
pening ?—None, that I know of. : o \

If a person destroys himself, is that put down ?—Yes ; that is
entered jn the committee-book. - ° i
_But not if they meet with any aecident short of death ?—No ;
a surgeon is sent for directly. :

The entry of the death of this person would appear in the book 2
—Yes. : - '

But not an accident, and of course not the date of it 7—No.

Do you know that the practise of muflling exists >—No, never ;
sometimes the maid has tied a bit of sheet or something round the
nose to dun the noise, to see whether it would quiet them ; at other
times put them by ; some of them will ball from Monday morning
to Saturday night, and she has put a shutter up to prevent their
disturbing others. ey

Do you know of the practice of forcing a patient, when they
have been unwilling to take food >—¥es; I have done it many
score times.

Have you had any injury in consequence to any of the patients?
—Not with me, in any instance whatever.

Do you recollect any such instances in your house?—No.

Have you ever employed any of the keepers about buisness not
connected with the hospital 7—Not particularly, that I know of ;
they have gone with an errand or a message, or something of that
kind for me, f

Was not one of the keepers named Thomas Flower employed
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daily for a month or two in looking after your son’s shop ?—Not
that I know of ; there was one Mr. Drury, an apothecary, used
to go down to attend my son’s shop for Mr. Rogers, and Mr. Ro-
gers paid him for it. L

Did you not permit a keeper named Thomas Flower to work
at his business as a baker, for six successive months, to enable him
to pay you a small debt ?—No, he went away ; and I in fact
" bought the lease of a baker’s shop to put him in it, because he
married one of the servants, and I lost £.20 by him in consequence.
~ He was not employed as a baker while he was a keeper ?—No,
he was not. I beg pardon, there was a man who went to our
baker’s for some weeks; he used to go once or twice a week to
make himself fit for the baking business; he married one of the
servants in the house, and I let him go to fit himself for being a
baker,

He used to go in the night ?—Yes, part of the night.

Is your son’s linen washed by the servants of the hospital 2—
Some little of it I do not deny ; his frills and handkerchiefs, and
such things. :
Jovis, 29° die Februarii, 1816.

.+ Lord ROBERT SEYMOUR in the Chair.

Mr. Thomas Dunston again called in, and Examined.

YOU recommend frequently, or advise, the families or friends
of lunatics to take them to Warburton’s?—Sometimes, if they ask
me the question I do ; never without,

Does that often happen ! —Frequently.

Is it to one only of Warburton’s houses ?—Sometimes to one
and sometimes to the other; I say they live very well, and are
well taken care of, for any thing I know.

You recommend occasionally to either of the three? —Yes.
Y'Whitmore House, Talbot’s, the White House, and Rhodes’s }—
A1 €es.

When the patient proceeds to Warburten's for admission, what
eertificate of insanity does he take with him ?—He takes a certia
ficate from the person who sends him, and the medical man.

From the friend or friends who commit him, and from the me-
dical man ?—Yes. _

What may be the meaning of Zhe medical man ?—Qur apothe-
cary mostly, mostly the apothecary of the house, sometimes the
surgeon. : » : :

%;hat man has been admitted with a certificate into your house ?
—Yes.

Do you in any way countersign the certificate for admission to
Warburton’s ; does your name appear, ordo your initials appear ?

=My initials have appeared.
\ Do your initials usually appear ?—Sometimes they have, some-
times they have not.
HZ2
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What is the object of the inscrtion of this letter in the certifi-
Gte ? —I have no meaning, onl;,r that the keeper of the house niay
know they come from St. Luke’s; Ihave no other meaning in it.

The persons you refer to have been already in St. Luke’s 2—
Yes, and discharged uncured at the cxlnmu-gn of twgli'h mm-lths
and six days.

What may be the advantage of Mr. Warburtén, ﬂr’e Eéﬂ)él"
knowing lhat those patients do come from St. Luke’s }——] do it
upon, these grounds, that they have not much to spare, that they
are mostly poor, and to be as moderate with them as pas!’:b‘l-e‘- I
have no other meaning.

The meaning of this letter is to prove the purert:,r of the w.
tients ’—Yes, he came from St. Luke’s, and it is well known that
those who go from us have nothing to spare.

Are you now speaking of pauper patients Z—Sometimes they are
poor people, more needy than paupers on many oceasions ; and I
have sumehmes written at the bottom, begging them to be as mo-
derate in their charges as possible, for that the friends could 'nent
afford to pay much.

No Governor can recommend a patient to St. Luke’s, unless he
is in poor circumstances ?——He cannof.

A certificate of a_patient going from St. Luke’s to Warbur-
ton’s, proves that Ke is poor ?—It does; when it has been sug-

ested to me, from knowing the dustresms of the family, I have
ﬁ ed them not to take more than twelve or thirteen shillings a
‘ﬁegﬁ for that the family could net afford it, and I have saved
scures ﬂfpeuple in my lifetime pounds and pounds B a6 AU

The insanity must be proved, and the qualification of poverty
must appear to the Governors of your Hospital >—Yes. “L

How does that appear'r‘——-Frnm the certificate of the church-
wardens and overseers, #nd the minister of the parish where they
have resided ; and the gentlemen of the committee always examine
it strictly when they come, and if they find they have 'snﬁrﬂimt to
support themselves, they do not admit them.

Are many of these parish paupers as well as poor panshmmtﬂ
—Many of them.

What is the weekly charge ?—1 believe the paupers pay about
ten or eleven shﬂlmgs a week : from ten to eleven shillings I think
is the usual charge, and the friends pay something more.

Every patient in your house, male and female, lies alone }—
Yes, all in separate beds, but in some rooms they have two or
three beds; and I have in some of the rooms put two bedsteadsin a
room on purpose for safety ; for they will try all schemes to make
away with themselves, but where there is another in company they
will not doit. The gentlemen have asked me why I allow hm
beds in a room, and I have given that as my reason, and ti!t‘-lt is
not for any other reason whatever.

Have you ever, in_the course of your practice, known an in-
stance of a lunatic making an attempt upon his own life in t‘h&‘pre.
gence of any other person? Ido nut know that ever I did.






b4
behind the door 3 there were two patients in the room at the same
time, and never saw it ; and he told me the same himself, when I
found it out.

Did the keeper when taxed confess it —On being a gnud denl
talked to he confessed it.

She having charged him with having got her with child, and. he
confessing he was the father of the child, you dismissed him ?—Yes,
I did, as soon as I could find out the facts.

Is that the only case in which a female patient has been got: unth
child in 5t. Luke’s >—I never remember one before nor since. . -

When you found her with child, did she lie in in the hospital i'--
No ; she went home to her friends before that time.

Had she come in asa parish pauper ?—No ; her grandfather put
her there, and her own father was there I believe at the same time ;
he was a patient in the house part of the same time that she was.

She charged her brother with having been the father of the child
she bore at that time ?—Yes.

Was the brother in the house at the time then —Nu, the grg.mi-
father, the father, aud the brother, all came to-me in the pariour,
and we taxed her all together, and she bore us out hefﬂr& his face
that he was the father.

Had he been to see her 7—No, he had never been near the hpme
he could not have dove it in our house, for he never came to see her,
therefore I was sure it must be untrue. o

No male keeper has access to any of the insane wumen, bat at
meal times —No, unless they are wanted; if a patient is very
obstreperous, so that they cannot manage her, they send for a man.

How do they get in when they are sent for?—The same key
unlocks all the gates. I lock them up at night, so that they cannot
get into the gallery without my leave. '

In the day-time the same key will admit them :—Yes, but Ihlj
do not go.

How do you know that they do mot go?—I should he snm to
hear of it, there are no secrets nmungst them.

Does not each male keeper’s key give him during the day mﬁs
to the female wards —They have a key that would give them
access, or we should be very much at a loss ; if any thing happened
we should not be able to get there in time to save any mischief, lf it
was not for that.

You say that no knives and forks are allowed, but that the fnm:l
is cut for them, and served to them in trenchers ?—Yes.

How is it with patients that wear a strmght waistcoat the whole
of the day ?—That is cut by the servants in their room, and they
are fed with it. h

The servant applies it to the mouth of each patient ?—Yes.

And the same with respect to what the patient drinks 2—Just
the same, there are several of the patients that are out of the waist-
coat, that will not eat or drink unless they are crammed, they will
not inkmt themselves ; they will not resist it if we feed them, but®
they will not take it themselves ; that is the case with twe at this
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very time, several of those in straight waistcoats are mndone while
they are at dinner ; some we can trust, and some we cannot.

Your keepers have in consequence of that some additional la-
bonr ?—Yes. 2

What may be your number of keepers at this time ?—OQOuly one
to each gallery ; there are always some patients better than others,
and the best doctor they have is employment ; if wecan get them
to assist the maid, that does them a great deal of good ; the servants
are obliged to have some of the patients to assist them. =+

How long have you been employed in this line 2—I believe about -
four-and-forty years.

How long have you been in the situation of master of St. Luke’s
Hospital 2—1I think between three and four-and-thirty years..

You as master, and your wife as matron ?—Yes. £ o191

With what salary did you commence the office of master 7—1I
think at first we had but sixty poundsa year between us, there were
but thirty or forty patients at that time. B10¢

This was in the old hospital ?—It was ; the gentlemen then gave
us some gratuity ; the committee have many times told us that we
were not half paid ; we have never gone out of the house tegether.

You have occasionally received gratuities from the general com-

,in consideration of their approbation of your conduct 2—Yes,
I have, and that very lately. : o

At the last court did you receive any gratuity ?—It was passed
by the court, I have not yet received it, they voted me fifty pounds.

In cases of sudden death at the hospital, you have stated that
there are only particular cases where the coroner sits ?—Yes, in
cases of suicide. | ey 4

Has that been the practice ever since you have known the hospi-
tal F—Yes. - '

‘Did you ever hear a reason for not summoning the jury in- cases
of sudden death as well as felo de se iF—N o, I never did ; there was
one coroner when [ first came to the house; there was a coroner,
I think the gentleman’s name was Beach, that had given Mr.
Mansfield, the first master, a general warrant, that whenever any
adccidunt happened to bury the people ; that is forty years ago, I

are say.

- Had you any general warrant from the coroner ?—Never.
_ Younever had any coroner’s inquestexcept in cases of suicide ?—
Oh:%hin cases of suicide.
en a patient dies suddenly, and has not been seen by a medi-
cal man?—We have had a case of a patient who has died in a fit,
and a medical man has been called in.

Is it the practice where a patient dies in a fit, and is not seen by
a medical man, to have a coroner’s inquest >—I never remember an
instance of that.

Is there not a resident apothecary in the house ?—Constantly.

Does he see the patients every day >—Regularly every day.

If a patient were to die suddenly in the night, without having
been seen by a medical man, should you call for the coroner’s jury ?
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Kent : and he came in and was there for a time ; but we went to
the committee at Batson’s. I.do not know of whom the committee
consisted, but the treasurer and six or eight gentlemen. They saw
Mr. Ford, and they called me in and asked me about Mr. Ford;
and all that 1 said was this : that I could not say so much as I
wished to do. And one of the gentlemen said,—* Mr. Duanston,
we are of your opinion ; we do not think he is a man that will suit
us.”  And I said, I was afraid not; indeed, I was sure not ; for I
did not suppose him to be so unwneld_v,r a man as he was ; he was a
lusty man. But his wife told our apothecary, Mr. Drury, that he
would not wash his face for three months together, if she was not
to stand and do it for him. .

‘To what should you attribute the falling off in the number of
"'i:uut Luke’s Hospital at present?—To the 1nst1tutmns*m the coun-
try. I should think.

How many vacancies have you in your house at present ?—
Thlrty six.—I have never known such a thing for years.

“Have you been able to ascertaiu who was the female who at-
tended a lad]r at Halsted in Essex, four or five months last year,
and whether she was an assistant matron in Saint Luke’s ?—I have
- ascertained who the person was, and that she never was a servant
ru’Samt Luke’s Hospital ; her name is Tow.

‘Mr. Edward Wakefield, Land Surveyor, called in, and examined.

YOU have lately visited the New Bethlem Hospital >—I was at
Bethlem Hospital on Saturday last, in company with Lord Robert
Seymour, Lord Bidding, and the honourable Henry Grey Bennet,
members of this committee.

Have you any observations to make upon what you saw there ?—
The manner in which the day-rooms are heated is particularly to be
found fault with; they are heated by steam conveyed up a tube,
which tube is at the heat of 212, consequently subject to patien ta
hnrumg themselves by putting their hands against it.

- Are you aware that Mr. Haslam said, that in one instance a pa-
tient did burn herself 7—Yes ; the pntlents also complained, that
holding their heads over this tube in order to obtain warmth, that
they grew very sick ; also that the air in the room heing heated by
means of the tube, remained in'a stagnant state ; and that the true
way lo warm any apartment is by heated air at the fountain head,

as it were continually pouring into the room and going out agam bjr
a ?entmlntﬂr, which at once carries heat and ventilation into the
apartment ; that by a contrary system being acted upon in these
apartments, the smell was very offensive.

Did you observe that the sleeping-rocms were insufficiently:
~ heated ?—1I did not observe that they were heated at all.

Are the sleeping-rooms glazed in every instance ?—On the base~
ment story they are without glass, and the frames having iron bars
between them, and also a projecting iron in the inside of the rooms,

W acts as a fnstenmg to the shutters, and which would allow
nts likely to cummrt suicide to destroy themselves. T under-
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thecary’s, and to attend the kitchen fire, and such things as
at ; -tnd"aometimes he used to say he was ill and would not go ;
he said he was not well, and could not go ; and they thought he
was lazy ; and one afternoon it was reported that he made free
with a little girl, about seven or eight years of age, pulling her
about ; I cannot speak to that, only that they said so; they rang
the bell, and I took Glover and chained him by the leg. My,
Haslam was out at the time, and the keeper was out at the time ;
I was assistant keeper, and [ told the keeper of it; and when
Mr. Haslam came home, the keeper told him of it; and he went
to him, whether that night or the next I cannot tell. Glover was
ordered into a different room, where there was very little light to
be seen ; he had his head shaved, and a blister put upon it; and
nobody went near him but the keeper. For several months he was
kept so. : Ty -
Was he frantic 7--No, I never saw any harm in him. L
He was in no state that you thought warranted the confinement ?
—No, I did not see the man grumble. I used to go to him now
and then. 14
. He was not dangerous ?—1I never saw him dangerous to any man ;
he was very quiet at that time. He had committed an offence be-
fore he came there, killing his own child; but that was through
jealousy, and he never behaved incorrect while he was there, that
I know of. '
How long was he confined in this way? I know it was for se-
veral mounths, but I cannotsay how long. : .
In what situation of life had Mr. Glover been?—I think he was
a shopkeeper. When the apothecary thought proper he let Glos
ver out.
.. Was he blistered all that time:—I do not mean to say he was
blistered all that time. ' o
Have you any recollection of his being in the cold-bath at any
time *—No ; that was not Glover; that was a man some years be-
fore that, I think fourteen or fifteen years ago. 1 do not know
the man’s name who was kept in the bath too long. I happened te
'go into the bath side-room (a reom for patients who would not
keep themselves clean ;) there was a place where they used to warm
the water, to put the patients into the hot-bath when they wanted
it. They used to put dirty sheets into this place, to wash the filth
out, before they sent them to the wash. There was a man en-
tangled in the sheets; he had had a paralytic stroke. I went to
pull this man out ; and I got him out, and 1 laid him on the floor,
and rubbed him. I went to the house and called for the apothe-
cary ; I sent the maid up two or three times; and it was twenty
minutes or half an hour after 1 called him before he came. The
man was dead ; he was alive when I found him. I rubbed him with
salt and such things. | : _
Did he fall into the bath ?—Yes; he fell back into the bath,
and being a tall man he could not get out,
K
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Doyou think he reccived injury in - the bath ?—I think he was
too long in the bath.© I b sl - %o
« How long was the apothecary in coming, after you sent for him ?
“~1 have no doubt he was twenty minutes,
~ What message did you send >—I sent word that a man had got
into the bath, and that I begged him to come and see whether he
could save him. ' Pl
- Was there an inquest upon the body >—No.

Is it the custom in Bethlem when there is a patient dies suddenly
to have an inquest?>—No ; only when one patient knocks angther
down, orwhen they kill' themselves. When Hadfield koocked
Ben Swain over the form and he died, there was an inquest.

How did Swain come by his death »—Hadfield, who shot at His
Majesty, knocked him over the form one morning between eight
ﬁnd nine o’clock; he died immediately. He struck him on the

Do you remember any treatment of him by the apothecary. be-
cause he refused to work for him>—No; I cannot speak to
Benjamin Swain was many years chained by the leg. 3.

Was he a quiet inoffensive person ?—I used to think him not very
::]E::Ef; but I never saw any harm of him ; he was let loose in my
J e, i v E

If you had him in the hospital at present, in the mode of tredt-
ment now adopted there, should you keep him chained >—No; I
should not think he required it. N9

Upen the whole, as an experionced keeper, has it occurred to
you that unnecessary restraint is put upon the insane persons in
Bethlem :—No; I do not think there is unnecessary restraint, bt
I think they ought not to be kept in so long ; they are very seldom
«chained now except they are dangerous to themselves. They have
a pair of handcuffs, and walk about; they are not chained unless
~ there is a very bad patient who will not keep in bed, they chain

him by the arm for fear of his getting his clothes off. -

Are not the patients infinitely better clothed now than they were
some years back ?—I think they are. _

Was it not the practice in old Bethlem, not in the late gallery,
but in the gallery pulled down, for eight, ten, or more patients to
be fastened to the tables, almost in a state of perfect nakedness *—
Yes ; they used to think they tore them all to pieces, some of them
‘would do that.. b, :

In point of fact, were they not fastened to the tables, sitting in
a state of perfect nudity >—They used to be so at the table; they
were chained all round. 4

There is no person in that state at present >—No ; none at all.
The old steward, Mr. Alavoine, never interfered with the patients,
only clothing and feeding them ; the rest lay with the npnthemza

Were you well acquainted with Norris, during the time he was
confined there ?—Yes. ; it

Wene you present when the chains were put on ?==No ; we have
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2 holiday out on a Sunday once in three weeks, and my turn hap-
pened to be when he stabbed Hawkins and Taylor. :

He was a very violent nutrageous patient i‘--Yes ; he was at
times.

Is it your opinion, t]:at you cou]d have kept lum secure without
the employment of those chains ?—They were at first invented with
handcuffs, and then he had a basil on the hand, and there was a
chain rivetted into the wall, lest he should get loose, and there
used to be another chain mtu the next room to pull hlm up, but he
used to get a string and tie to that, that they could not pull it up. ,

Used it not to be an amusement to persons who came into the
hospital, to pull that chain up >—I never saw that.

Did not other patients do it >—They could not get. into that
room, for it was generally kept locked, and they used to put a man
of no sense into that room.

Do you know who was the inventor of those chains ?—I believe
it was the apothecary ; as to the iron jacket, I believe that was a
committee job; but I had not the care of him then.

Had you the care of him after that>—Yes, for three mu:ﬂha
lfter he stabbed the keeper. .

“Was he very ferocious !—He was pretty well. . P

" Do you think you could have kept him without these chains ?—
Some chains were necessary, but I think not quite so many.

Do you net think, that if he was in Bethlem, at the present mo=
ment, he would be suffered to walk about the gallm‘y only mana-
cled ?—Yes, our present steward would see into it, though Mr,
Alavoine never did ; though a gnnd sort of a hummg man as ever
#;'s.. he never thuught of looking into those things; he was rm’y'f
old.

Do you know any thing of the broken arm Norris had ?—I was
'down in the kitchen ; but I heard say that he had made a dirt ha
could not help, and that the keeper went with a shovel and

him a knock on the apm, and that he got away the shovel from the
keeper, and that that was the way he got his arm broke: b il

Used the weekly committee to go constantly round Bethlem nud
examine every cell Z—They used to go monthly I think, and the
doors were all opened, but the apothecary always told ‘their cases
to the committee ; the keeper never looked into that, and the doors
were always open to Dr. Monro, and he used to ask them how they
did, but the apothecary told lum how they were, and Dr. Monre
was very much wrapped up in the apothecary, and rused to believe
every thing he said. '

The system of treatment of those patients is infinitely more mild
at present than it wasin the old Bethlem >—I think it is.

Have you any reason to believe, that this system of mildness is
not better calculated than one of severity to restore them to reagon ?
~Itis a great deal better, for that only made the patients more mad
than they would otherwise be ; they cannot be treated too mildly ; 5
I cannot say bul that Norris once offended me much, he got loose,
and threw his filth all over me.

K 2
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You have no doubt thata smaller quantity of iron than that he
wore would have held him at any time of his confinement ? —I think
it would ; when I first came there he was a man that used to help
_in serving the patients, he was a very good assistant, and used to
" take the bowls of gruel, and put them to cool for the patients, nnd
so on ; he was useful to the keeper at that time.

How long had he the chain round his neck ?—I cannot say; I
had left the gallery when that was done.

But a considerable time ?—Yes, a good many years; I used Fre-
quently te go and sit down, and talk to him when his door was
open. .

Phccording to your observation, have the patients been much at-
tended to for their bodily complaints 7—1I cannot say ; since the
apothecary has lived out at Islington, he has not attended so much
as if he had been in the house, the nurse used to make the medicine
and physic in the morning, aud the keeper used to give it them
sometimes ; he came every Tuesday in the summer time, and some-
times not.

Have medicines been frequently administered to them on acceunt
of their insanity, md&peudeut of any visible bodily complaint —
Yes, in the summer time; in the winter only just to keep their
body right, their stomach and bowels.

y Thnt was attended to at all times was it 2—Yes, when the k
“gave notice. ' .

There was a soldier in the Guards there last week, has hﬂ re-

~ ceived any medicine since he came there ?---Yes ; he had some mes
dicine I think on last Monday; I took the pnwder myself, Imi'.l
gava it the keeper.

Have there been many persons die since they have been nﬂmlthd
into the new hospital 2---Very few ; 1 believe there was a black
died who had been there a week or a fortnight; I do not mcpl’l‘adt
any others.

Is Mr. Haslam to-day in London or in the country 2---I bellﬂ'e
he is gone down about a trial at Reading.

Is not Dr. Monro gone likewise ?---No, I believe not. 3

When did you see Mr. Haslam last ?---1 have not seen him sinece
the committee that was on Saturday ; his son has attended tll!!
house since.

Do you mean that he has gone as a witness to the nsmmM

" Believe so.

Were not Dr. Monro and Mr. Haslam absent in Dem:h:!tfnr
a considerable time together last summer ?---Yes, they were.

For what time ?-..1 think near a week. :

What was the occasion of their absence ?---They went as ’mtw
nesses in a case of insanity.

By whom was their duty done in their absence ?---I think yanng
Dr. Monro was there ; but I do not recollect any apothecary.

Do you know whether he did the duty of his father with the con-
sent uf the Governors?---1 believe he did, for he came aoﬂlw
days to the committee. -
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And you saw no person attending for Mr. Haslam ?---Neo.'

Has it- been much the practice of Mr. Haslam to furnish the
narses with medicine in quantities, to be by them divided among the
patients 2---No ; only that in summer time, ihey used to makea

gquantity and gwe it outto the nurses.

Theu they judged how much each patient should take ?--=Yes.

That you can say from your own knowledge ’-~-Yes; I know
two of the keepers used to go round with a little cup, and they used
to give it at the discretion of the keeper and the norses.

Were you the person who advised this soldier having medicine on
the Monday ?---No; Mr. Haslam went round on Sunday afters
noon ; he went to this man in the CGuards, and asked him whether
he had had a motion ; he said no; he said, then he would give him
a powder, and he ordered me to come down' for it, -and to give 1t
him on Monday morning.

Mr. John Woodall called in, and Examined.

wWhat is your business ?---A smith, residing at No. 22, Lonéin-
all. :

- Did you make irons for a patient in Bethlem of the name of Nuri
ris 2---I did. J

By whose directions ?---By order of the committee ; I have m}r
_ book here, which I beg to produce.

Is this your order book 2---It is my day book ; it was put down
by order of the committee originally, the entry is in this form :---
% June 23d, 1804, Bethlem; To two bolts and nuts and screws,
three feet nine long ;” these were to go through the walls of one
cell to the other, to fasten a brace, which I will mention the next
article ; * To a new round rail-bar for head of bedstead in one of
the l:ells, for Norris, seven feet long ; To a new collar for Norris’s
neck, with two Jnmts to ditte, and two basils for his arms, and five
chlim, and seven rings to go over the round bar; To two men one
day and a half boring holes through brick walls, and fixing the
round bar and rivets, and rivetting on the neck-collar and the haml ;
by order of the committee.”” The round rail was that which went
through from one cell to the other, and the bolts going through
were to hold that round rail ; then the collar had sever links to-let
him go up and down.

What was the length of the chain ?---I suppose it might be abou#’
a foot.

Who was present when those chains were put on ?e--I attended
the committee myself on the Saturdagh and Mr. Haslam and Dr,
Monro, to the best of my recollection ; Mr. Crowther 1 am'con-
fident was there, and I think Dr. Monro.
¢ You are sure Mr. Haslam was there as well as Mr. Crowther 2es

es.

Who assisted in putting those chains on ?--The smith. -

Was Norris tranquil ?---He was very violent indeéd. T attended
the putting them on; there were also the Leeper, and somie of the
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other patients might be there. I think Hawkins was the kecpm' at
that time.

Was Mr. Haslam there >---Mr. Haslam came in: while we were
about it, and came and saw it afterwards.

Had youany conversation with Norris at the time ?---No, nutat
that time, I had afterwards; he afterwards got the irons off.,

Do your books enable you to say what the weight of all this iron
was ’---No, the weight is not mentioned ; the weight of the bolt
through the wall i is mentioned ; but that he did not bear.

What should you think the W&lght of it 7---To the best of my
recollection, I should suppose it might be eight or nine pounds ; the
way this waist-belt was first adopted is this:---I1 was directed to go
to Newgate, and to see some, or I might have guessed it myself ;
my father made some waist-belts for Mr. Akerman, that the pri-
soners might be moved and go in a postchaise, and it might not
appear.

By whose order did you make those additional irons, of which
you are now about to speak I---By order of the committee.

Do you mean that you personally saw the committee, and re-
ceived the orders, or that a message was sent to you ?---I attended
the committee the same as I might attend this committee ; and when
the committee thought proper to deliberate I was desired to with-
draw, and when the committee broke up 1 received my instructions.

Do you remember whether Mr. Haslam was present 7---He was
there at the time.

And he heard the order given ]ruu by the committee 2oe-We r.all
it the committee ; it is very seldom I have orders to attend per-
sonally, unless there is something particular.

What was the amount of that conversation you had with Norris E‘
---He had got those bandages off about the 12th of September,
1804. On the 14th of September I have this entry :-——Bethlem!;
To a new waist-belt, with two cross-pieces to ditto, to go over the
shoulders, and two pieces with joints to go across the arms, and
three men attending and fixing on Norris. This was shewn to ﬂlﬂ
committee before ever it was put on.

Was Mr. Haslam present when that was put on?—It was rep?rt.
ed to the committee, that he had taken off the other irens he had
on, and the consequence was, an order of the committee to fasten
him in some way that he should do no person a mischief, if I uuder-
stood right ; when he got the first waist-belt off he had got into
such a situation, that when one of the keepers came, he almost
knocked him down with it.

Was Mr. Haslam present when those new irons were put on 2-
Yes; Mr. Haslam and the medical gentleman who generally at-
tended the Saturday’s committee.

What conversation had you with Norris at that time ?—Whan I
had got my instructions to put him in a way that he should not use
his arms, there might be a consultation of course ; it was not my
own suggestion altogether ; but I had seen two of the patientsin
Bethlem. I remember tha.t Mr. Arabin, the present steward,
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wished me to ask one of the patients about securing him. I told
him I thought it very improper to ask a patient ahuut securing him.
I went to Norris, and said to him, Norris, why do you do this ;
you see you unlj bring trouble on yourself? He looked very wuld
and very vicious, and certainly did make a very good reply, which
was ; why do not they let me alone, or similar to that ; if they
will let me alone I will let them alone? 1immediately said, now
then Norris, you know what you are about ; if you keep yt}urseli'
quiet you will keep out of trouble; now I have orders to make
you fast. He had got Davis, one of the keepers, down at this
time, and was like to throttle him ; and then this was made, and
shewn to the committee before it was put on.

And put on in the presence of Mr. Haslam ?—It took some time
in putting on. Mr. Haslam did not stop all the time, but camc
backwards and forwards occasionaliy. ST

Can you speak to the weight of this additional iron ?—1I cannot
immediately distinguish ; there is no weight put down in my book ;
then there was another circumstance occurred after that, which was
October 6th, 1804 ; it says;—¢* Bethlem ; To tdkmg off, ‘and
taking to pieces, and Icngthemng the strap- -jointed irons off Nurrx:
and refixing.” They were taken off, in consequence of nis withis
ing to he indulged with having them banded round with list or
something of that sort. I was there at the time they were taken
off, and Norris did not put himself then in any violence, but he
assisted in taking them off, and assisted in putting them on again ;
I was there at the time.

Were you in the constant habit of visiting Bethlem during the
many years that Nurnsvwas confined in those chains ?—Oh, yes ;
several times,

-+ Did you think him so emam&ted that this mode of confinement
had long ago become useless, in consequence of the facility he
could thereby obtain of drawing his arms out /—It was not the
department for me to interfere, being the smith, with the medical
gentlemen. I have shaken hands with him several times, he never
offered me any injury.

‘Did you not from the state of his appearance think that those
irons were no longer necessary ?—It is impossible for me to say ;
I have seen him, and only seen him s;ttmg down.

He was very much emaciated latterly 7—1I had not seen him for
cighteen months or two years before he died.

‘He was then very much changed from the man he was when he
first had these irons put on ?—I look upon it age might make some
difference in the course of ten years, he was smaller on the wrist ;
they could not put a handcuff on as they do the other patients, for
he would have drawn it off the wrists. Then, May 17th, 1814, I
have this entry :—* To cutting off links and rivets, and takmg off
the body fastenings from Norris;” that was the taking off
before he died.

'When you took them off before he died he was much emaciated ?
~I ‘was not there at the taking off, butmy man is in attendance
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we began our progress. A printed paper, which I shall have the
honour to lay hefore the committee, will shew the general nature
and terms of the accomodation given; and it appeared to nre,
on inspecting the whole establishment in detzil, that every class
of patients was as well provided for as in their unhappy circum-
stances, and considering the pecuniary renumeration made, it
was possible they should be. No complaints were made, except
by one or two poor raving maniacs ;—complaints which seemed
to me entirely groundless; and I bad the great pleasure of
hearing several patients, whom I questioned on the subject,
declare themselves perfﬁctﬁ satisfed with the treatment they
received. One of the '‘most intelligent, a gentleman of good
education, said be was very much obliged to Mr. Ricketts.
Others who were evidently afflicted with the deepest melancholy,
and whose perverted minds might naturaliy have imputed some
portion of their sufferings to the restraints imposed upon them,
answered slowly and unwillingly, but complained of no ill usage.
I visited all the rooms and cells, 1 believe without exception,
and found them all well cleaned and ventilated. - Most of the
the poorer natients were at dinner when I saw them, and the
allowances and the quantity of the food were,in my opinion, per-
fectly proper. I went afterwards into the kitchen, examined
and tasted the meat and bread, and found themn excellent.

“ The number of patients was pinety-three or four, a greater
number than had ever been in the asylum before. The number
of keepers was thirteen, seven men and six women, I saw and
spoke to some of these servants, and they appeared to me to be
very quiet decent people. Mr. Ricketts's opinion is, that the less
violence is used in the treatment of the insane the better. * He
never makes use of the straight-waistcoat, which he considers,” (L
quote his own words) “as one of the most inefficient and galling
things which can be employed for securing a lunatic." To a
powerful and robust man, be says in a letter to me (when such
security is pecessary) [ use a small lock to each wrist, keeping
the hands seperate by means of a light chain ; his shoes are
taken off, and slippers of list substituted ; which prevents any
violence being done by the feet. This is,in my opinion,all that can
be necessary. For females I generally use straps of leather, instead
of iron manacles. I have several epileptic patients, who, to
prevent their falling out of bed during their fits in the night,

require (for their own safety) to be secured by a wrist-lock on
one band to the side of the bed.” : 3

My own observation of the asylum at Droitwitch confirms Mr.
Ricketts's statement ; and in proof of the efficacy of such gentle me-
thods as he bas employed, I beg ta refer the committee to a letter al:'_l—" :
dressed to me by Mr. Ricketts; in which the committee will find the
striking fact, that of three hundred and twenty-one old cases, many of
‘which were those persons removed from public hospitals, Gfty-three only
recovered ; while, on the other band, of two hundred aud ninety-eight
recent cases, two hundred apd twenty-six have perfectly recovered. In .
the same letter the committee will observe seme opinions and arguments

1 ¥
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on the necessity ofapplying medical remedies to insanity, which I vena
ture to recommend to their notice, together with the outline of a
plan suggested to Mg. Ricketts for the very desirable object of better
providing for pauper lunatics. | shall also have the honour of offering
to the committee a communication from Mr. Hallen, of Kiddermin-
ster, an attorney of the highest respectability ; containing a remark-
able instance of the shocking effects of the present total want of atten-
tion to the care and relief of those most unfortunate of human beings.

Wl Hl- Lj’-f”c'fﬂﬂ_

[The following is the printed PAPER alluded to in the above
Letter : ]

Droitwitch Medical Lunatic Asylum, established in 1792.

Terms of Admission f&r Insane Patients, under the care of Mr.
Ricketts and Son, Surgeons, Droitwitch, Worcestesshire.

1st. Separate apartments, four guineas per week.—These who pay
this price have the best zpartments; each male is allowed a man, and
each female 2 woman servant, and every proper indulgence suitable
to their disorder, ;

Three guineas per week.—The treatment in all respects the same,
except having a separate servant. ,

2d. Associated apartments, two guineas per week, having conve-
nient rooms allotted them. The above classes dine with the family,
when their cases will admit of it. : :

8d. The Lodges. These are detached buildings, with wards for
each sex, and courts for air and exercise ; of this department there are
three classes:—1st. One guinea and a half per week are more nicely
dicted and lodged than the under-mentioned. 2d. Pay 25 shillings
per week. &d class, One guinca per week; not allowed tea.

There are two detached squares for pauper lunatics of both sexes,
who pay fourteen shillings per week, and one guinea entrance.

When suitable to the state of their disorder, patients walk in courts
and gardens appropriated to each class and sex, who are kept entirely
separate. No patient is taken for less than a quarter of a year, but
should one be removed for any cause whatever before that time, the
guarter must be paid for,

The same rule observed in case of death. Curable patients, after
the first quarter, are charged only for the number of weeks; but a
week entered upon, the whole is reckoned, : :

All patients find for their own use two pair of sheets, and four
towels, pay the sum charged for one week as entrance, and five shil-
lings per quarter for servants.

The ahove lerms include the whole of the charge for board and
medical assistance ; washing is paid for separate,

No patient can be admitted until Mr. Ricketts had visited them,
that it may be ascertained if it is proper to receive them, for which
visit a reasonable fee is expected.
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{ The following LETTER was then read, dated]

* SIR, Droitwich, February 17, 1816.

“ When you did me the honour of inspecting my houce, yon
“ requested that | would make you any communication 1 thought
* proper on the subject of private madhouses. I bave since read
* with surprise the Report of the Commitiee of the House of Com-
** mons on the subject.

“ | bave been living in this house for more than twenty years,
 with a number of lunatics of all descriptions, during which time
““ I have had under my care 610 patients; $76 males and 243 fe-
“ males; 321 were old cases, many of which were removed from
“* public hospitals as incurable, and out of which number fifty-three’
“ only recovered ; 298 were recent cases, and of which 2206 have
* perfectly recovered ; a fact of importance, to prove how much the
““ cure of this deplorable malady depends on early medical aid;
“ and | have ever considered this disease, in its incipient state, ge-
“ nerally to arise from an undue determination of blond to the
“ head, sometimes produced by a derangement of the digestive or-
*¢ gang (in females particularly) from suppressed evacuations, and
. “¢ almost invariably accompanied by a torpid state of the bowels, -

“ inducing inflammation in the brain and its membranes, and soon
“ terminating in effusion or an erganic affection, which produces
“ an incurable disease, unless early and very active means be em-
“ ployed to remove it. It is admitted by Sir Jonathan Miles, that-
““ in his establishment (which is one of the largest in the kingdom)
“ ne medical assistance is there administered in this disease. Doc-
“ tor Monro states, that more depends on management than
“medicine. Good God, Sir, is it possible that hundreds of both
* sexes should be confined in a small place, and no attention paid
“ to the cause of their deplorable malady ? Nine cases out of ten of
“ mental derangement in females under fifty, proceeds from sexual
“ causes, very few of wham that 1 have seen but what have been
. * restored. When the natural secretions are impeded or sup-
“ pressed, are no means to be employed to invite them ? Is nature
* to remain unassisted, and are the powers which are afforded us by
“ the All-wise Being of relieving each other to lie dormant and un-
“tried? In such cases can management reslore the unfortunate
“ maniac without the aid of medicine? In mania, as in all other
“ diseases, tle cause must be removed before the effect can cease,
“¢ How, Sir, can we wonder that great coercion is employed in large
* establishments so conducted, as in the pne I have alluded to,
¢ where the disease must be aggravated by the pati®nts not having
*¢ their accustomed air and exercise, the perisialtic motion of the
“ intestines must consequently be diminished, the determination of
*the klood to the head increased, and the disease become wngo-
 vernable. With regard to pavper lunatics in this country, [ trust,
““ for the sake of humanity, a great deal will be done for their
““relief; it generally happens, that in the first instance their
“ discase is treated lightly, or the parish, fearful of the ex
L 2
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“ ed, and represented fo him the state in which the lunatic was;
he appeared hardly to know that there was such a person; I took
¢ him with me to the house, where I found a man cleaning him out
just like a pig, and he shivering with cold. The officer promised
“ that proper attention should be paid to him; 1 found that the
man who had the care of him, lived at some distarce, was a man
much addicted to drink, and frequently was not pear him from
three or four o'clock in an evening to nine or ten the next morn-

“ jng. Understanding - that there would be a meeting of the

“ magistrates that day at Cambridge, Iattended; only one magi-
. ** strate came, whose name I do not remember, which I regret, as
he professed to be much obliged to me for the information I had
given him, and promised that he would see that proper care was
taken of the lunatic ; and immediately sent for the parish officers,
“ but they could not be found. In a very short time afterwards,
¢ the pauper was sent to a lunatic asylum at Hoxton, no deubt.
from the interference of the magistrate, whom I saw at Cam-
bridge. Should vour business take you to Hoxton, pray see him,
as it would give great satisfaction to his mother, who lives near
“ me, to know how he is. Wishing the laudable plan now in
“ agitation, for the comfort of poor lunatics, to take place,

: “ 1 remain, dear Sir, :
\ “ Your's, most truly,

¢« Kidderminster, January 24, 1816.” “ W. Hallen.™
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Mr. John Haslam called in, and examined.

THE Committee understand it is your wish to amend
your former evidence?—There was un omission in the de-
scription I gave of the inconveniences resulting from the
employment of the straight waistcoat, which I consider now
as important to-be mentioned. In addition to those mis-
chievous effects already detailed, it should be stated, that
the employment of the straight waistcoat tends to render
the persoun, if he should mnot recover, permanently dirty,
which, during the course of his life, would suhject him to
very inferior treatment, if such conditional filthiness about
his person did not prevail; that is, by the employment of
the straight waistcoat, those persons who are rendered in-
curable, would become not only incurable but dirty. It
should certainly be a consideration, by attention to prevent, '
in the incipient state of this disease, and during its pro-<
gress, by other means, this condition of filthiness  Patients:
should vot be allowed fo drink very largely of any fluid
going to bed, for the purpose of preventing their wetting -
the bed; and it 1s necessary with respect to their future
comforts in life, that precautions should be taken to pre-
vent this habit; for instance, I would have a patient brought
every morning to the closet of convenience, and if his bowels
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were once evacuated, he would not be liable to dirty him-
seif during the day; and I think I may say, from some at-
tentions of that kind, I have seen very good effects result.
There is another circumstance that was not at all men-
tioned at my last examination, and which appears to me
highly important; and that is, enforcing food and medicine
when it 1s not necessary; unless this be regulated by science,
it would naturally occur to every keeper, if a patient would
not eat, to force him to eat: he might consider it an act of
bumanity ; but from a variety of considerations it would be
a most mischievous practice, because persons refuse fre- -
uently food from a total incapacity to eat; from a total

incapacity of the stomach to digest any thing that might be
forced into it; and any thing taken in that condition of the
stomach would operate to the great inconvenience -of the
patient, ifa man be at all confined in his bowels, without
relief obtained; for that inconvenience the employment of
food would be a sort of supera..dition, and therefore forcing
the patient, I think, should hardly ever be allowed without
some superintendence of a medical person; and I hawe
great objection also to the instruments with which these
people are forced. The common mode of forcing is this :—
the patient is secured, the mouth is pulled open in some
way or other, as well as they can; and if there 1s a great
deal of difficulty, you will find in most of the persons who
have been forced, that the teeth are broken out by the bolt,
as it is called, or spout; when the spout is put into the
mouth, and the patient resists violently, it would imjure
the posterior part of the throat; and the number of persons
whose front teeth are wanting, having been compelled to
submit to this process, is a strong reason for an improved .
mode of treatment. .

Did you ever know any persons die under the operation ?
—No, but I have seen the thing very nearly take place.

From what cause?—If it had been persisted in, death
would have been the consequence. ; S8

From what cause 2—The patient would have been stran-
gled. Since the ‘employment of my own instrument, no
such mischievous effects have ever resulted, nor has a tooth
been broken; but the strangulation, from blocking up the
apertures, namely the nose and mouth, through which the
patient should breathe, and the refusal of the patient to
swallow, forcing back the liquor into the wind-pipe, would
also contribute to strangulation.

How long is it since you invented your instrument?—I
think it must be ten years, if not more. :

Has it been constantly in use at Bethlem during that pe-



9

riod?—As far as my knowledge extends it has; I have
always lent it to the men, and in general I bave done the
business with the women myself. |

Have you taken positive measures to prevent the mouths
of men being forced open in any other way than by your
own instrument, in the hospital of Bethlem, while it was
under your care 7—I have taken every care in my power.

Do you mean to say you was yourself present or called in
on those occasions, to ascertain whether the forcing open
the mouth of the patient was necessary or not?—I have
been generally called in, and my opinion has always been
asked as to the propriety of such a thing being done before
it was carried into effect,

Do you know whether your instrument has been used at
any other receptacle for the insane besides that at Bethlem ?
—Seven years ago [ was requested to furnish the loan of
my instrument to have one made corresponding to it, to be
seiit to the Liverpool Asylum, which I did; and I have fre-
quently, to medical men, lent my own instrument to two
u%hree of them, and given directions for the employment
of it.

‘Do you know if this instrument was in constant and com-

mon use at Sir Jonathan Miles’s 7—I do not.
as you a frequent visitant at Sir Jonathan Miles’s2—
On the part of the Transport Office I go twice a week.

What were the numbers you usually visited at Sir Jona-
than Miles’s, on the part of the Transport Office ?—I can-
not tell the numbers I visited; I saw the whele of the
patients.

YWhereabout was the number ?—More than a hundred.

Have you not reason to.suppose that cases in which it
was necessary to force open the mouth, would bappen as
frequent among those persons as other lunatics in similar
circumstances?—It must be presumed so.

Have youn not had much intercourse with keepers of other
insane houses besides Sir Jonathan Miles’s?—No; I have
been at least three or four times at Talbot’s, and once at
Rhodes’s; that is the utmost of my knowledge of those

perir)plei :
o you know whether your instrument was in use at apny
of those houses into which you have been?—Not to my
knowledge. - .
Have you any reason to imagine that the practice of
forcing open the mouth, which yoa have described as usual,
was not practised at every one of those houses ? —I believeso.
You have no reason to imagine otherwise 2—No.
In the account you have heen giving of the inconvenient
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held, and the tongue being pressed down by this instrument,
the patient is forced to swallow without the possibility of
being strangled in his endeavour to breathe, and t 0=
ment he has swallowed he can breathe, and he is compelled
to swallow; but if you cannot get at the root of'the tongue,
the patient will keep the instrument in his mouth for a con-
siderable time. It is highly necessary, howeverythat a very
smwall quantity should be introduced at a time, and it should
i)e conducted into, the stomach by repeated acts of swal-

owing. £ ) :

Supgpming the motth was attempted to be forced open
h]]lfeyﬂi:r instrument, do you not think it would frequently be
the case, that the teeth would be loosened or driven out by
that instrument ?—If it was improperly used.

‘Would it not be yvery easy for an ignorant or careless
keeper to drive aman’s teeth into his mouth with your in-
strument 7—Certainly, if improperly used. T

Supposing the same means which you suggest to induce a
patient under such circumstances to open the mouth, pre-
ﬂuqs_g to the introduction of a key, do you not think that a
careful and attentive keeper might not so introduce a key as
to prevent any injury whatever to the mouth ?—A common
key certainly ; it is constructed upon the same principle,
with this 'digerence, that it has not the same purchase.

As to the practice of Bethlem Hospital, how soon after a -

patient has received food is he forced to swallow it ?—I
wotld coax him and persnade him for twelve hours, but
after twelve hours I think it a fair time to force it.

Do youapprehend any serious inconvenience would arise
from a patieni refusing food for twenty-four hours ?—I think
twelve hours quite enough. :
~ You consider that after twelve hours, there being a dis-
inclination of the stomach to receive food, if there was an
obstinacy of mind, they should be forced to take it ?—Yes.

Have you lost many patients by starving 7—No, I have
. saved the lives of many persons by this instrument. One
woman was forced by this instrument for eight months,
twice a day, and 1 believe is now walking about perfectly
well ; and before a patient is forced to take food, he should
always have his bowels emptied. |

Do you think, as a matter of fact, it is the common prae-
tice for the keepers usually to examine or ascertain, whether
a man’s bowels were empty before they forced him?—Of
late, I believe, uniformly. ; '

To what period of time do you refer when you say of
late 2—Since they became satisfied of the utility 'of my own
instrument, that is a period of ahout eight or ten years,

=& : M "



Do mu mean 16, extend hhnt'opmun to other places a¢
well as Bethlem Hnspltal #~—1 am speaking exclusively of
Bethlem Hospital. |

Do you wnsh to make any-ﬂther alteration or addition to
the evidence you gave before ?—There are a few trifling
mistakes ; one in which a que;tton was asked me respectmg
the new ground, it is printed just the reverse of what I said.
: In the questions which were put to you last year, respect-

ing the salubrity ﬂf' the situation of the New Bethlem Hos-
pital, in St. George’s Fields, the following appears— Did
you express no opinion on the salubrity that situation ?—
and your answer stands—*¢ My opinion must not be inferred
from my refusing to depose to its superior salubrity.”’—Is
that answer contormable to your intention ?—In the answer,
the word ““ not” ought to be omitted ; it ought therefore to
stmld—m}r opinion must be inferred fmm my refusing to
depose to its superior salubrity.

ince the new hospital has been inhabited, have you had
Eany deaths >—We have had nine die since the middle of
ugust.

Is that a greater or less, or an equal proportion to the
deaths which yon have bhad in the old hospital —1I thinl
greater.

Can you assign any cause for that?—I think from the
dampness of the basement story.

If I recollect right the basement story is paved 7—Yes :
the gallery and cells, and the flooring of the cells likewise.

When the different members of the committee were there
the other day, they saw several women patients lying unon
the ground ; have youy any doubt that that must contribute
very much to injure their health?—I am perfectly satisied
of ils impropriety as contributing to ill health ?—I have ac-
cordingly, in a paper delivered to the commitiee, remons-
trated against the continuance of such an evil.

What answer did you receive from the committee >—They
ordered the pipe which is now in the middle of the gallery
to be removed, so as to warm the cells, which, from the
construction of those pipes, afferded no warmth where it was
most wanted. :

Is that alteration completed ?—It is not.

Is it your opinion, that when it is completed it ‘lnll
remedy the evils before described 2—1I fear not, for this
reason; if there be damp, it will be warm instead of cold
damp; but the surveyor has said, though I cannot believe
it myself, that it will cure the damp

Of course, lying upon the stones, will be as prquﬂncml tn
the patient then as now ?—Certainly.



When you go into the country, either as a witness to the
assizes mear London, or o Devonshire, who fulfils your
duties at the hospital 2—My son. A SIS R T Ty

Can you go without the gonsent of the governors ?—Cer-
tainly not. LR it : 0k

During the time you were ahsent last year in Devonshire,
did your son do the same duty in the hospital which you
were daily accustommed to do?—I understood Le did in my
absence. ; :

How old is your son?—About three-and-twenty ; heis a
surgeon in the navy. I delivered my keys to the Steward,
and desired my son to attend the matron round the females’
gallery, and the Steward round the men’s guller{; |

For what time were you absent ?—I was subpceenaed to
Devounshire; I was out of town I think thirteen days; and
on my last absence, I went last Sunday night, and came
back on Wednesday morning from Reading. .

Is that permission te absent yourself recorded in the
books ?—I believe not.

Do you recollect having desired your son to do your duty
for you during your absence ?—Yes.

And when you returned he told you he had so discharged
it?—Yes.

Will you take upon you to say, that you were not the
contriver of that apparatus in which Norris was confined?
—I solemnly state, that I was not the contriver.

Nor the proposer of it ?—WNor the proposer. I had a
different plan. :

Do you mean to say, that when your prior plan was not
adopted, you did not become the propoeser of that which was
adopted ?—I solemnly state again, that I was not.

Were you not in the committee-room when they gave
directions to the smith for making this iron apparatus for
the use of Norris?—I presume 1 must have been in the
room, but 1 do not recollect it, because for two and-twenty
years I have not been three times absent from any com-
mittee, and therefore the presumption is that I was
present.

Do you recollect having been present at the application
of the iron apparatus 2—1 was ordered to see it done in the
same way as with respect to Hadfield, when he was com-
mitted to our hospital, I was ordered to see him confined,

Can you recollect at all who was the person that did pro-

ge that apparatus ?>—In my former evidence I said, I did

ear that some violent men in Newgate required strong

coercion, and that this was a model from that which was

used there, but where I heard it I do not know; bhut I still
M2
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maintain that which was floating in my own mind, from
ulterior recollection, that I do believe the chain and collar
to have been anterior to the other parts of the apparatus.

Did, or did not, Dr. Monro frequently remonstrate
against the confinement in which Norris was kept 2—I do
not think he remonstrated ; I think he has lamented ; and I
think he has gone further, he has wished to remov# it if it
were practicable. There does not exist, from my own per-
sonal knowledge of five-and-twenty years, a more humane
man than Dr. Monro.

Had he ever recommended that instrument to be applied ?
—I never saw a man apparently so much surprised, as when
he saw his name affixed to that record.

" If then the irons in which Norris was confined, were not
ordered or recommended by Dr. Monro, or by vou, the me-
dical attendants who were present at the committee, upon
whom do you fix that order. Do you mean to say, that the
committee, of their own judgment, without ({nur approba-
tion, and without the opinion of Dr. Monro, directed Norris
to be put into these irons ?—Wanting recollection, I can
only answer that question by a reference to the minutes; I
recollect the apparatus being brought into the room, and
exhibited ; I remember going and seeing it put on, but with
respect to who was present at the discussion I have no recol-
lection.

During the twelve years that Norris wore this iron dress,
did or did not Dr. Monro recommend that it should either
be wholly removed or lessened :—If any thing of that sert
{ranspired, it must have been a subject of private conversa-
tion between us: because no communication was ever
made to the committee upon the subject. :

You do not know that Dr. Monro recommended to the
committee to take off any }i\art of it ?—If there had been
any such recommendation, I should think there would be a
record of it in the hospital.

Do you recollect the circumstance of a patient having -
been drowned in the cold bath of the old Bethlem *—No,
I do not, . :

Do you recollect having been called by Simmonds, the
- keeper, to sge the body of a man who had just been drowned ?

dﬂ lll}t- ¥
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L Lune, 11° die Martii, 1816.
The Honourable HENRY GREY BENNET), in the Chair.
Mr. Jljlliam Ricketts, ealled in, and Examined.

What are you?—A Surgeon at Droitwich, inithe County
of Worcester. : B _

You keep a house for the reception of Lunatics ?—1I do;
and have upwards of twenty years.

How many Lunatics have you there at present >—Eighty-
three or eighty-five. _ _

Can you state the classes in_which they are ?—I was not
aware that I should be examined when I left home, and
therefore have not any memorandum stating that fact ; but I
think about ene half are paupers.

What is the nature of the accommodation of your house 7
—1J have accommodations according to the different classes;
according to their pay; patients of a superior class pay,
some four guineas a week, some three, some two and a half,
some two, some a guinea, and fourteen shillings a week
pauper Lunatics, except the town of Birmingham, they pay
only ten shillings, and the major part of the pauper Lunatics
are frow the town of Birmingham.

- How many have you from the town of Birmingham at
the rate of ten shillings a week ?—I think about twenty-

eight. -

%fm are not able to maintain them so well, of course, as
those who pay fourteen shillings?—Yes, I do; I made a
contract with the Town of Birmingham at that price, when
“my establishment was in its infancy, thinking it would be a
recommendation of my house ; and I have continued them
at that ever since.

Are you accustomed to use medical treatment on the first
entrance of the patients into the house 2—1 have ever con-
sidered a Maniac as requiring great medical aid in the first
stage of the disease ; I think without it there can be but
very little chance of a cure. I have had, during the last
twenty years, 619 patients under my care, up to the first of
~ January last ; 521 were old cases, many of whom were re-
- moved from Bethlem and Saint Luke’s Hospitals, and those

Erincipaliy epileptic patients; out of 321 old cases, 58 onl
" have recovered. 1 have had 298 recent cases ; when I spea
of recent cases, I believe, most of those have become insane
within a few weeks, or a few months; and out of those,
226 have recovered ; this, I think, is a pretty strong proof
that the recovery of Lunatics depends, in a great ﬁegrne,
upon early medical attention. - :

‘What is the annual average of recent cases >—That I am
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not prepared to state. After reading the Report of the
Committee of the last Session, I was induced to look over
my book, to ascertain the number of cures which had taken
place in my house, and I selected what I knew to he old
cases from the recent ones; and I believe this statement is
correct. 4 f

Can you not give a tolerable accurate guess of the num-
ber of patients you admitted to your house last vear >—I
think I have, upon the average, from thirty to five-and-
- thirty annually. |

Out of that number how many do you discharge as cured ?
—That I am not prepared to state.

- Can you furnish the Committee with some tolerably accu-
rate guess ?—I cannot; I only know I have eured 226 out
of 298 recent cases. i : -

When you state them as cured, do youknow whetherany
of them afterwards relapsed >—Perhaps out of this number
there may have been three or four who were in the house a
second or a third time, but the same means being employed,
they have always recovered. | ' AN

The cases of relapse are not uncommon ?—Not uncommon ;
but they generally get well.

What is the ordinary practice of cure adopted in your
house 2—When a patient is brought, in the first instance, T
- generally find depletion necessary, if the Lunatic is violent;

g_aﬂerwarda have him cupped ; and the first thing I do is
to empty the stomach and bowels by small deses of émetic
tartar, or to purge them briskly with calomel, or other me-
dicine. I generally found depletion in the early stage of
the disease almost invariably succeed with proper moral
treatment. Ibelieve the disease to proceed most freq uently
from a derangement of the digestive organs; and without
medical aid, in my opinion, there could be no chance of a
~ recovery. Inthe majority of females between the ages of
fourteen and forty, I think, it arises from a sexual cause,
and almost all of those recover; but in my opinion they
could not recover without the aid of medicine : moral treat-
ment would not cure a mania proceeding from a sexual
cause ;' all the management in the werld could not do
without medicine.

Do you find women more liable to that disease at one
period of life than another ?—Certainly, between the ages
of fourteen and forty. It happens that they become insane
about the period. of the catamenia first appearing, and if
that is retained, and proper medicines are given to produce
it, a recovery of course fellows; they all get well. In
respect of diet, every patient in my house is fed daily by
myself, my wife, or some part of my family, and-they are
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dieted according to the nature of the disease. I should
think it highly improper to give a raving maniac the same
3uantit}; of animal food as I should give to a patient in a

ifferent state ; in the summer months we generally give
them less animal food, because they are more irritable in
warm weather, and we give them more vegetable diet, rice-
milk, broth, and such things. It isa constant order I give
my servants, never to suffer any part of them to be alone;
we have different sitting rooms for the different classes, and
they are walked in the garden and yards two hours morning
and evening; the convalescent women patients are em-
ployed with the servants; they assist in baking, washing,
anliv household business; those of them who are of the
respectable class are taken out by the servants to walk in
the country frequently, and in a garden I have at some dis-
tance from the town ; theyaccompany my family ona Sunday
to church, many of them; the pauper Lunatics are taken
out by my men-servants and work in the gardens, and I
consider the employment of their minds, and constant ex-
ereise, as very essential to their recovery. .

Why do you confine the employment in the garden to the
pauper Lunatics 2—When they are in astate of convalescence
they are always more happy when they are employed, and
then it is at their own desire : I cannot put a gentleman to
work in the garden unless he wishes it, neither do I a
pauper. Patients of the superior orders.amuse themselves
at cards ; some of them are musical; they have a piano-
forte; one lady plays and sings most admirably; ancf part.
of my own family being musical, we have generally, almost
always, sacred music on a Sunday evening, where those who
are capable, of the bettermost sort of patients, attend.

Have you any doubt that the occupation and employment
of the mind and body inboth classes is highly usefal in pro-
moting their recovery >—I have no doubt of its importance,

In case of furious maniacs, what is the nature of the per-
sonal coercion which you use?>—1 generally confine them
in a small room ; and if the patient is very violent, I secure
him with the right hand to tEe bedstead, and the left leg
when in bed : when they are up, and walking about, I ge~
nerally use a small lock to eacﬁ wrist, with a light chain
about nine inches ; if the maniac is very furiuus,% ut his
_ hands behind his back, I take off his shoes, and make him
wear list shoes ; and so secured, I never knew a patient
attempt to do a mischief to himself or others.

Always making it a point to leave one hand at liberty
where it is practicable >—This sort of coercion I do not
feel to be necessary for any length of time in bed; I secure
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what it was when you visited it five years ago ?—Very much
s0; in point of cleanliness nothing can be more so. -

There are not so many patients in a state of personal re-
straint as formerly ?—I think not, though there are a great
many. o i
N{pt so great a proportion of those now in the hospital?
—I think not.

Do you remember that in the old gallery in Bethlem many
of the patients were chained round a table on the left hand
side, almost in a state of nudii‘;f ?—Yes, I do. o,

There is nothing of that kind now?—No; they are better
covered now. There are several dirty patients in what is
called the dirty room. '

Have you visited St. Luke’s 2—I have, on Saturday last.

In what state did you find the hospital?—I found the
house, as far as regarded the servants; remarkably clean;
the walls excessively filthy; and I was very much surprised
at being told by the keeper that they had not been white-
washed for five years. The Leeper appeared to me a very
humane and intelligent man. I saw very few people walk-
ing in the galleries, but the day-rooms crowded to excess,
g0 much so as te be highly offensive. I think in one of the
men’'s rooms there were not less than 40 patients, and the

room small, and very ill ventilated, In my opinion there

i

are not half the servants employed that there ought to be;
if there were, perhaps the day-rooms would be sufficiently
large ; because one half of the patients may be compelled to

‘walk about the galleries, while the other half of the patients

were in the room; and then the rooms would not be so
crowded.

There is no attempt at classification in St. Luke’s >—No,
not at all ; the furious and the melancholy are all together;
and they appear to me to have no room for convalescent
patients ; so that if a patient has the least dawn of reason,

‘when he comes to look about him it is enough te bring him

back again into his old state, i

No occupation, either bodily or mental ?—No ; the keepers
told me what they wanted most was™mployment for the
men ; that they often put the women to assist in washing
with the servants of the house, but that there was no em-
ployment for the men patients, which I think is very much
tnﬁ’hedlam&nte?l{. , ] .

id you make any inquiry as to the manner in which the

Bw e o ey
~ What was the result of that inquiry >—He told me they

re all fed alike, - R '

'

~ As a professional persen do you t-hink_ that mﬁ 'injuriu.smi
: - N ;
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—I should think so, indeed; I saw several patients there
In a state of so much excitement that I should think it
highly improper to give them any animal food while they
remained in that state; I observed one female in ljartif_:ula}
who had an immoderate quantity of hair on her head; and
I suggested to the keeper the propriety of its being cut off :
she was in a state of excessive mania, leg-locked in a room
with a great many others, some of whom were equally fu-
rious with herself, and some quiet; but it was a room of
noise and confusion, having so many together; as far as my
own judgment goes, I think it would have been highly pro- -
per to have kept these people, during that paroxysm of
rﬂ%% by themselves. 435 ' _
What is your reason for proposing that the patient’s
hair should be taken off?—I conceive in all cases of exces-
81ve mania there is too great a determination of bleod to
the head, and that the head ought to be kept as cool as pos-
sible; the head being loaded with hair, that must increase
the heat; we generally keep their hair cut close, and in
case of excessive irritation we apply wet cloths or the
shower bath. 2 9y

Have you any doubt that the mixture of the violent with
the calm, the furious maniac with the melancholy, the con-
valescent with those in the height of their disease, is highly.
Injurious to the recovery of every class?—I have no doubt
about it. - - S gy

Do you think it would prove an impediment to the reco-

‘very of a patient to allow him, during the time he isin a

tolerably tranquil state of mind, to associate with such as
are obviously suffering under any of the disgusting or af-
fecting symptoms of the malady ?—Certainly I do.

Have you any doubt that where a person is approaching
nearly to a state of recovery, his ultimate cure is very often
destroyed, if not long retarded, by having kept constantly
before his view patients in the worst state of that calamity ?
—That must be the case; I always remove my convales-
cent patients from those in a state of violence. '

Do you not think that there are gradations in the mental
aberration, in which the follies of one, bEiI:ig very different
from those of the other, have a great tendency to correct
each other?—No, not to be productive of any good.

So that a person does not by degrees recover his own
natural strength of mind by observing the follies which per-
vert the understanding of another ?—I am not able to give
an opinion upon that point, for the reason I have stated,
that, as soon as a patient becomes convalescent, 1 always
remove him from those people; I never associate him with
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them; I should consider it an act of eruelty to keep con-
valescent patients with those who were furious or melan.
choly; I arways remove them from room to room, according
to the state in which they are. | AR

Do you know any thing concerning the manner in which
the pauper patients are treated in their respective parishes
in Worcestershire?—I have ever considered the situation
of pauper lunatics as deserving the most serious considera-
tion, in a general view. When a gauper becomes insane,
the parish officers are unwilling to believe that it is a men-
tal disease, and seldom or ever take notice of it until it be-
comes dangerous; in most-cases he is then consigned to the’
workhouse, where he is chained-down, and nothing done
for him till he becomes a rm-'inﬁ maniac; and it very often
happens that he is not removed from the workhouse until
they are incapable of keeping him from his being in a state
of violence, and then he is removed when some organic af-
fection of the brain has taken place, and he becomes an in-
curable lunatic for life. LAY

Did any plan ever occur to you which you thought would
have a tendency to remove an evil so great?—There has.
I think if all pauper lunatics were to be supported by the
county at large, instead of the individual parish to which
they belong, the parish officers would have an interest in
applying for medical relief in an early stage of the disease,
and by that means a lunatic would stand a much better
chance of recovery ; the expence would be little felt by the
county, but it is often a very great and serious charge to'a
small parish. '

Were you able to learn the number of pauper lunatics in-
your own county?—I never was; but kannw there are
workhouses in which they are miserably treated.

Can you state to the committee at all at what expence
they are kept in those workhouses?—I cannot. ;

You cannot state the difference between the cost at which
you would take them, namely, fourteen shillings a week,
and that at which they are kept ?—I caunot ; but it must
be a very few shillings.

The reason for their not being sent to you, or to others
keeping houses similar to yours, solely originates in the
expence —I think so. - 1949

an you particularise how the insane poor are treated in

the poor-houses ?—I have seen many chained down to their

beds for weeks together; I think if all pauper lunatics were '

to be Eupfpnrted by the county at large, it would be ‘the in-

terest of every parish to afford them the earliest medical ’

aid; ‘and if the magistrates og the county were to appoint’
' N 2



a2
w L}

medical commissioners; say a pliysician and a member of
the corporation of surgeons, who in all cases should ex-
amine pauper lunatics, and the magistrates were compelled
then to place them under the care of proper medical as-
sistants. I think those commissiongrs and the magistratos
should at all times have the power of inspecting houses so
licenced, say between the hours of eleven in the morning
and four in the evening; I mean that every magistrate
should have that power; that a book of cases should be
kept at all times open to the inspection of the medical
commissioners, as to the mode of treatment adopted for the
recovery of the pauper lunatics.

- Do you believe that the keeper of any licensed madhouse
would refuse to open his doors for the admission of a ma-
gistrate of the county in which it was situate?—I never
shounld; I do not know whether it has been done. .

“Had you ever occasion to force any patients to swallow
food?—I do not think I ever met with that case more than
twice in the whole course of my practice ; they will some-
times refrain from their food, but never to any considerable
extent, so that any injury shall arise tothem. -

- Did you ever have oceasion to force any patient to swallow
food :—Perhaps I may, twice or three times in the course of
twenty years, not more. , ; 1
~ What are the means by wiiich you so force them?—I, on
one occasion, used Mr. Haslam’s spouting-bolt, it islikea
flat key, with a hele in the middle, but I never used it but
once.

How soon after a patient’s refusal of food would you
think yourself warranted iwjforcing him to swallow food ?
—1I should not mind their going without food for six-and-
thirty hours; I do not think any injury could arise from that,
but they are generally easily persuaded to it.

Do not you conceive that the callings of nature would
induce many men, the second or the third day, to swallow
food?—1I never saw one that would not; the time I should
wait would depend in a great measure on the state of the
* health of the patient ; if it was a strong man I should wait
longer; if it was a delicate female, where the circulation
was languid, I should not wait longer than that ; I have
generally succeeded by persuasion.

In your practice, have you known many patients who have
refused their food —I have; but my wife is a woman of
rather a superior mind; and if T havea patient among the
females who is at all ungovernable, ifthey take an antipa-
thy, I employ her to go and soothe them, in which she
generally succeeds. ot
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So that the patients have been induced by persuasion f<—
Yes: and that generally by my wife. I have always found
them in that state that they could be persuaded to take i
by gentle means. _ | ¥ ifyhad

“Have you a greater number of candidates for admission
than you can accommodate >—They are not candidates; the
friends of the patients, in all cases, apply; it is not a public
institution.

Are more patients offered to you than you can take ’—
My patients, I think, have not inereased muech within the
last two years ; [ once had 93, I have now 85 ; L have gene-
rally from 80 to 90. 24

Do you believe, from what you have heard and learnt,
that the disorder is increasing 2—1I believe it is, and I believe
that is owing in a great degree to the want of proper me-
dical aid. : il

To the non-application of medicine?—Certainly. It has
been stated by some medical gentlemen who have been ex-
amined here, that there is a difficulty in giving medicine
now ; the bowels of lunatics are often in a very torpid state,
but I have no difficulty whatever in purging them; if I can-
not get medicine to nperate,-wh-ich appens very seldom, 1
remove the obstruction by injection; we have a large ma-
chine which we use, holding from a pint to a quart. k.

Are there not disorders wlhith you carnot remove by in-
jeetion ?—Very few, where the rectum is filled with the
feces, and that is hard ; if' we cannot remove it by the ma-
chine, we can by the introduction of a candle, which breaks
the feces; but we can generally stimulate the rectum, by
throwing up from a pint to ac ‘art.

You are understood to have stated, that you separated
your patients one from another >—VYes. \

Do you class them according to the nature of their dis~
ease ?—1I do.

- You invariably class them according to the nature of their
disease ?—I do. {

‘And never suffer them to mix together >—No; never the
melancholy patient with the raving maniac.

Mys. Elizabeth Forbes, called in, and Examined.

HOW long is it since you were elected Matron to Beth-
lem Heospital 2—1 was elected the 26th January, 1815.
When you first came into that situation, how many female
patients were there that were in a state of personal restraint 2
~1I think there were about 20, :
- Were they confined to their beds on straw >~—The custom,
when I first went, was only to get them up three days of the
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weet, never on nmeat days; they lie in bed four days in the
week. o .

It was the practice in the Hospital to keep them four days
in the week confined to their begl)s on straw 7—Yes; at least
I was given to understand that was the rule; I was told by
the keepers that that had been the rule, and I found that
was the practice when I went there.

Did that go on for some time after you took your office ?
—For about a week or ten days.

What was the practice you adopted ?—To have every one
got up, and washed and dressed every morning, as soon as I
got clothes for them, which was very soon.

At present you have not any one confined to her bed ?—
Not one.

-~ How often was the straw charged ?>—I had the top straw
changed every day, that which was at all necessary, the
other once a week.

How often was it changed before that?—I understand
the time was the same. L

You were amply supplied with straw >—Yes, there was
always plenty.

Did you ever hear it had been the practice in the Hospital
to beat any of the patients who were in a state of mania ?—
There is a positive rule against it, that if a keeper, is known
to strike a patient he shall be immediately discharged. -

Have you ever heard that patients have been struck with
keys about the head ?—I believe it is likely they might
sometimes, but unknown to the governors, or officers of the
House.

Have you ever heard from any one in the Hospital, who
had been an eye-witness of the transaction, that patients
have been beat about the head with keys?—There was a
circumstance occurred after I went there, of a female beir
struck on the head with a key; I had the keeper discharged.
In a few days after, I had all the females discharged indeed
but one. '

Did you ever hear that the person who had so miscon-
ducted hersedf had done no more than followed the exam
which had been set her by the others >—When I went, there
were only two female keepers, one a very good young wo-
man, and the other a very bad one; I only brought one
female from the old house, a very decent young woman;
the others were discharged.

Was it not the practice in Bethlem, in case a patient was
seized with a sudden fit of irritation, to chain them instantly
to their bed, orto the wall, and keep them in that situation
for a considerable length of time ?—Not after I went there.
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1 believe it had been the practice; but I never had a pa-
tient chained for more than a day; if it were necessary to-
day, they were released to-morrow. 5 ; *

{'ﬂu have been told that was so by persons who were eye-
witnesses >—I have. : |

Was Ann Freeman chained for any time >—Yes, for eight

ears. |
% You have never had occasion to chain her since you
came !—No, she has never been chained since. She wants
a great deal of watching; she would not bear to be driven
- to any thing, all must be dene by kindness, by humouring
her; I dare say she would have been put under restraint
many times if I had not had her well watched. '

Has she had any medical treatment >—She is very healthy,
she has never had even a cold since I came there; she 1s
more fleshy now than she was at that time. i

Do you consider the patients in the basement story to
have suffered from the damp?—T'hey have had bad colds,
- and have been rather unhealthy this winter ?

Have you lost any patients in that story this winter?—
Yes, four. .

Do they complain of the rheumatism ?—No; we have not
any on the sick list now.

hat were the circumstances of the four deaths which
have taken place ?—It was from cold.

What were their ages 7—None of them were under forty;
uug g;; eighty years of age, the other three between forty
an #

Were they rheumatic?—No, it was an attack from cold
and sickness, and loss of appetite, it came on with severe
ﬂ;lldsl _:kat first the circumstances of those four were nearly
all alike.

How many female patients have you now in the house?—
Fifty-nine.
ow many of those are under personal restraint?—Three.

Do any of the female patients ever express a wish to look
out of the window ?—Yes, sometimes.

Is there a form for any of the patients to stand upon to
look out at the window 7—Yees, if they desire it ; sometimes
we have a dozen down for them to use: they are always
indulged with the means of looking out at the window when
they please.

_...Mr. John Blackburn, called in, and Examined.

YOU are a keeper at Bethlem ?—I am.
Was Norris ever under your care >—VYes.
How long 2>—From April 1813, to the time he died.
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Was he in the former part of that period; whenunder your
care, often in a state of great violence >—Frequently.
““"Was he then confined in the same mode of personal ve-
straint which was invented for him some years back #—¥es.
- Do you think, from what you know of his habits, that you
could have kept him at this moment in the Hospital, with-
out that mode of confinement ?—I do not know whether I
could, the former part of the time I had the care of him.
~ You mean in the first part part of the year 1813—=Yes;
there might have been some other mode resorted to pro-

"~ Do you not think that if he had been manacled he could
have been walked about the gallery under your care with
perfect security 2—1It is very probable it might have been so.,
"Did those fits of violent mania often come on him ?—Fre
quently; there was seldom a day without. 1, alet2
- Did they seem to be iruduceg_ by external causes, any
occasional irritations >—Principally imaginary causes.

; “ ' A

S  Veneris, 15° Die Martii. %
The Right Honourable GEORGE ROSE; in the Chair.

Mr. John Haslam, again called in, and Examined,

IT has been stated to the Committee, that James Tilly
Matthews was confined in handcuffs for two or three years
by your order; what have you to observe upon thati—
Such statement cannot be true, on this account, that Mat-
‘thews experienced no confinement after he had been a year
in the Hospital; Simmonds having stated that he had bee
seventeen or eighteen years only in the Hospital, Matthews
having been aﬁmittﬁdya year anterior to Simmonds, he
could know nothing personally of any coercion which
Matthews had undergone; Simmonds has likewise stated,
that he used at this time, when he was so confined in hand-
cuffs, to write a great deal, which I presume is impossible.
Being asked as to the cause which might have produced the
-abcesses in his back, Simmonds refers to the weight of the
chiain, which he says might very likely be the means of
bringing on the abcesses. 1 beg leave to observe, that he
had no chain for many years anterior to the formation of
these abcesses; and that the most probable cause of the
formation of those abcesses was his being employed, by his
own desire, to cultivate a garden, where he stoopéd con-
siderably, -and dug daily; he had a garden in a very high
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state of cultivation at the old Hospital ; after such ex-
ertion he complained of a pain in his back, and such is the
most probable cause of the abcesses with which he was
- affected.  With regard to Matthews’s temper it has been
stated to the Committee, that he would kick any patient
who came into his room, which I never witnessed myself
on any occasion. The next subject of evidence to whi
I would refer, is the case of Glover; with respect to any
alleged mal-treatment of Glover, it appears that he was
confined during the time I was from home, and therefore
ne order for such confinement could have been given by
me. His hiead was blistered, with that of more than forty
or fifty others, nearly about the same time, with a view of
aseertaining the effect of such remedy in the peculiar state
~of insanity under which Glover laboured. It having been
stated, that the man who died in consequence of having
been put into the cold bath, was taken out alive from
thence, I would beg to observe, that instead of application
being made immediately for medical assistance, the servant
having the care of him, laid him out, as he terms it, and
rubbed him with salt, and such things, by which, if the
man were really alive, conciderable time must have been
lest. With respect to Norris it has been stated, that the
chains were first invented with handeuffs, and then he had
a basil on the hand; that a chain was rivetted in the wall,
and another chain in the next room, to pull him up. From
the conformation of Norris’s wrists it is impossible that
any handeuff could have been applied ; the medical officers
having been fully satisfied that was an ineflicient coercion,
never could have had recourse to that which on former
oecasions had repeatedly failed. The construction de-
seribed referred to another person of the name of Abbott,
who was also an incurable patient in Bethlem Hospital ;
it has been stated that the iron jacket was a committee
job, it would be impossible for the person declaring that to
ave any knowledge of it, he never having been admitted
to the business of the committee ; it having been observed
that the nurse used to make the medicine, it is to be ob-
served, that the quantity of materials were weighed out,
and delivered to her, to put a certain quantity of boilin
water on, there being no fire in the summer-time to whi
I could have recourse. It has been stated that on two
occasions, when I was absent at Exeter and Reading, no
person was deputed to augply my place, nor did any one
go round the usplt_al an rform the duty; I beg leave
to state that my son is now in attendance, and will satisfy
0
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this Honourable Committee, that during my absence eyeny
thmg that was necessary was done.

~ Mr. John ﬂaﬂam, junior, called™in, and Eﬂmiﬁed

WHAT is your situation?—I am a surgeon in the Navy.
YDD you attend at Bethlem occasionally for your ﬁather"'

es

When your father was absent at Reading and at Exeter,
were you in attendance for him ?—Yes.

And during that time you attended the patients in the
Hospital regularh '—Every day.

Did you administer medmmes to them ?—Yes.

Did you examine the state of health of all of them during .
your father’s absence’—VYes, every one.

In administering the medtcmea, had you regard to the
mental derangement as well as to the bodil loiﬂ’ﬂlth did
you apply your physical aid to the mental alfﬂlﬂﬂtﬂ, or to
the bodily ailments :—To the bodily ailments. e

Mr. John Haslam again called in, and Examined.

WHEN you accepted of the nﬂice of Apﬂthecarl' to
Bethlem Hﬂbpllal did you conceive that the Committee
expected from you so strict a confinement to the duties of
that office as that you were never to absent yourself, even
for the short period of a day or two, from attendance on
the patients?>—I never did absent myself without leave
previously obtained.

Did you conceive you were so tied to the office you were
- never to go away on any account for a day or two ?—I feel
a difficulty in saying yes, or no; if I say yes, then I must
add, I have been out frequentljr with leave; if I say no
there is a law enjoining me to go round the Hospi
regularly every day, without I obtain leave of absence.

ﬁ:.d ou not then expect that, upon particular occasions,
the Cnmmnttpe would feel no dniﬁculty in gmug you gu;;]i
‘leave of occasional absence :—Certainly.

Mr. Johr W. Rogers, again called in, and,Exgmlugd.

IN the course of the examination it has been stated to
this Committee, that you gave a bond to Mr. Talbot for
500/.: which has been alleged to be of no validity, and that
that has been the occasion of disagreement between you
and that gentleman; have you any thing to state to the
Committee on that subject ?—Mr Talbot did lend me 500/
at certain periods; for' whu:h ]J gave him a bond’; which, as
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I conceived, was properly drawn up, as it was done bya
person who had been g law'stationer all his life-time. Im-
mediately after the publication of my pamphlet in Decem-
ber last, Mr. Talbot wrote to one of the surefies of my
bond, stating, that by my not having complied with the
tenor of the bond, it was forfeited, and he musi come upon
her, and the other parties, for the whole amount, in case it
was not paid in one week. On this I immediately sent Mr.
George Concannon, of No. 5, Prescot-street, Goodman’s
Fields, to Mr. Talbot, tendering him the interest of the
money, which he absolutely refused to receive, saying he
~would have nothing to do with it. Mr.Concannon then
waited on Mr. Talbot’s attornies, Messrs. May and Norton,
of Bethnal-green Road, from whom he learnt that the
bond was good for nothing. On this I waited upon Mr.
Dean, a solicitor in Rutland-place, Charter-house Square,
to whom [ stated the circumstances, desiring that he would
wait upon Mr. Talbot’s attorney, for the purpose of enter-
- ing into a fresh ‘bond, and of endeavouring to settle the
business in the best way he could. Mr. Talbot’s attorn
then informed him that the bond was good for nothing,
that 1t was not worth a farthing; but why it was good
for nothing, Mr. Dean was not told.

YYou are sure Mr. Dean said they did not tell him?—

es.

In point of fact, have you paid any part of the five
huudrgd pounds :—No. G Hr

Who drew up the bond?—A person who had been
brought up as a law stationer, of the name of Hughes,
who lives at Lambeth. '

How long ago was this transaction ?—Two or three
years ago; but I did not receive the whole money for a
year and a half afterwards. :

And the part of the transaction you have just stated ha
been since the publication of your pamphlet ?—Yes: one
of the sureties received a letter a few days after the pub-
lication of my pamphlet. In consequence of being pregsed
by Messrs. May and Norton to settle the five hundred
pounds, for which they threatened to arrest me, I direeted
my brother-in-law, Mr. Holmes, of 194, Oxford-street,
to wait on them for the purpose of offering bills at different
dates, and te settle it in the hest way that he could: the
Attorneys said that they would not receive any thing less
than the whole sum, and behaved in the rudest manner
to him, by not listening to what he had to propose.

Where is Mrs. Humieries at present ?—She is at Mon-
trieul, or on her way to this country.

0?2
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Do you know what her reagon is for returning to Eng-
land ?—She is coming on the business of this Committee
entirely. - i )3 lanaedn (i

Do you mean to say she is coming over to attend this
Committee if required ?—Expressly. oY

Do you know whether Mr. Warburton ever recommended
Mrs. Humieres to any employment in the way of her pro-
fession, after she quitted the White House 7—VYes, I do.

‘Do you know whether she conducted herself satisfactorily -
on that occasion ?—I know that she did, from seeing a note
which she brought from the lady in whose family she was.

A note from the lady to whom Mr. Warburton had re-
commended her ?—Yes. o
Have you, if necessary, any persons to whom you can
refer, to corroborate the statements you have made heg‘el
the Committee :—Yes, I have. . I 0y
~ State whom.—Mr. Morgan, Surgeon, at Mr. Warner’s,
Crutched Friars; Mr. El;fiutt, No. 16, Wilderness Row,
Qoswell Street Road; and Mr. Sleep, Confectioner, ¥ish
Street Hill. I beg leave to add, that I confirm all the
statements I have before made. BHAeHS 19

b

L

| Mercurii, 20° die Martii, 1816.
The Right Honourable GEORGE ROSE in the Chair.
~ Mr. James Birch Sharpe called in, and Examined.

HAVE you any observations to make upon any part of the
evidence of last year, which you have had an opportunity of see-
ing '—I will, in the first place, observe upon my own evidence;
and after that I wish to say a word or two upon two particular.
points in the evidence of Dr. Weir. Upon a review of my own
evidence, I perceive that I have committed an error; it was inad.
vertently. [ answered, that I was paid by Sir Jonathan Miles ;.
Y was led to make that answer in consequence of the solicitations
of Sir Jonzthan to me, for six months previous to the first of
Yast March ; he endeavoured to impress upon my mind, every day
that Isaw him, that he was master of his own aflairs; that the
trust was dissolved, and that, consequently, I must be responsible
to him ; that he, in future, should pay me, and that I was to
write my receipts as having received the money of him. I did so
for two or three quarters previous to the first of last March, and
it was from that circumstance that I stated he paid me, though.
since 1 find that it is not the case ; and I did remember at the time
that the checks were signed by John Watts, his principal superin-
tendant : Now, lest I should appear to make a contradiction in
any thing that may be asked me to-day, I was anxious to state
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this, that [ may not comwit a wilful error.” With respect to Dr.
Weir’s evidence, I considered the point as of great importance to
my character in every point of view , he has stated in his evjidence,
page 158, ¢ that whatever has been the description of nha’rl.‘{:tei"ni:
any wound or sore in any of the patients, poultices have invariably
been applied, and those renewed and regulated by one of the three
nmenial servants ;> against this I would wish to refer to a report by
Dr. Weir to the Transport Board, dated the 20th of June 1815,
containing these words: ¢ The patient with the foul ulcer on his
leg is still confined to his crib, from the want of pure air, proper
surgical and physical treatment, appropriate diet, and sufficient
room in the erib to keep the limbs in a bent position ; the sore
shows litile or no disposition to heal; instead of poultices, the
servants, for some time past, have applied to it a piece of rag,
moistened with a solution of vitriol,” . ' St
- What you mean to state is, that neither one or the other was
your invariable practice >—Exactly so: but I treated each case as
appeared to me to be right at the fime. , Aol o

“What was the amount of the salary you received ?—=£147 per

anuwum ; that was the last year and a half I think. Rt

. Was that paid for attending only the marine patients, or paid
for attending all the patients in the house /—It was paid for my
attention to all the patients in that house, of every class and de-
scription.

Do you know what was the allowance Government made to Sir
Jonathan Miles for the patients under his care for medical atten-
tion 7—I have been informed by Sir Jonathan and Mr. Watts,
that it was four-pence per head per week.

That would amount to from =£100 to £120 per annum ?—It
would, upon the number reported to the committee.

Have you for that given your attendance, or supplied medicines ?
~—Both. I gave my attendance regularly every day once, and as
freguently as occasions might require; and I also gave every de-
scription of medicine at my own expense, : ¥

What class of patients were there on the Government account ?
—1I believe, independent of the marines and seamen, might be
classed on the Government account, the Greenwich pensioners, ,
the Chelsea pensioners, the artillerymen, and the foreign priso-
ners that might be there. That is a presumption of my own; but,
I conceive they were on account of Government. oL

In point of fact, you know that there were Greenwich pen-
siu;:gr&, that were insane, under the care of Sir Jonathan Miles ?
— {19

‘Were they mixed with pensioners from Chelsea, and from the
ariiélery, as well as with the pauper lunatics *—They were in one .
yard. ) =
Were you present when Doctor Robertson, the physician of
Greenwich Hospital, was called in to inspect them; and do you
know that the pauper patients, and others, were turned out of
the yard 2—I was; I saw that myself. .
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Was Doctor Robertson impressed with the notion, to your
knowledge, that that yard was solely appropriated to the Green-
wich insane patients 2—He was so informed ; and he expressed his
satisfaction, that the yard was large enough for them.

‘Were criminal Junatics, as well as foreign lunatics, mixed along
with them ?—They were. fi s

Are you acquainted with the manner in which those person
were brought up from the country to Sir Jonathan Miles's 7—I
know something of the manner in which the seamen and marines
were brought from Haslar Hospital to Sir Jonathan Miles’s,

State what that manner was?—I have known them to be
brought early in the morning and late in the evening, generally on
the outside of the stage; and I have known them to be brought
in very severe.weather in that way ; so much so, that a fact I
can state took place ; a man died the next day, or perhaps im
thirty hours after his arrival ; and I have little hesitation in say-
ing, that it was in consequence of his exposure to the weather.

Was it not the practice to chain thesa on the outside of the stage-
coaches?—Yes; Mr. Watts has frequently told me this ; I have
not witnessed it myself. - ; i

Do you know any instance, in which the arms of a man, so
tied with the ropes, were very much cut and bruised ?—1 know a
case of that kind ; a man, of the name of Murphy, was brought
from the Batavia hospital-ship ; I think he was brought two or
or three years ago ; his arms were cuf, evidently cut, by a liga-
ture, no doubt, a rope ; the whole of the muscles were separated,
and the boné was exposed, when I was called to attend him ; and
the large scars that remain will show exactly how it took place,
and the extent of it. : :

You attended him in that situation ?—I did, and I healed him
afterwards. - ‘

And you entertain no doubt that the wounds were caused by the

~ mamner in which he was tied ?—I have not a doubt of it, it was

very evident ; he was brought back to Sir Jonathan Miles’s again,
insane, last August. " ~ i,

How long have you ceased attending Sir Jonathan Miles’s?
—Since the 2nd of August last. -

What was your reason for quitting i—It was stated, that in
consequence of the appointment of Doctor Thomas Veitch and
an assistant, to attend to the Government patients there, my' ser-
vices werc no longer required ; that was the ostensible reason.

Do you know whether Sir Jonathan has taken any one else to
do the duties of your situation 7—Yes, he engaged with a Mr.
Collier at that time, not a member of the College of Surgeons; he
was made so either this month, or at the close of last month ; he
is not in the list of the 26th of February.

Is it the custom to cenvey the insanc seamen from the cowntry
to Sir Jonathan Miles’s in the winter by night, and in the' sum-
mer by day?—Yes, Mr. Watts has repeatedly told me so ; it

~wasa subject of repeated conversation.
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De you know any thing of the way in which those men are
medically treated at Haslar 2—I know they are treated as they are
at all public hospitals, from the conversations I have had with medi-
cal men who have come from thence, and particularly a case in
the month of July last; a gentleman was brought in in a very
emaciated state, and he told me he had been bled and blistered and
cupped very much,

Do you kuow that it is the practice to treat those patients so ¢
—1I have never seen an individual from that hospital, but what
has been treated in that way.

Have you very often seen them come in that state, which M.,
Haslam describes in his book as the stupid state—a state of fatu-
ity?—This gentlemen was advancing fast to that state ; and if he
had ence got into it, he could never have been recovered.

Did Mr. Haslam, while you were in the situation of surgeon at
Sir Jonathan Miles’s, attend patients in that house ?—Private
patients of his own I understood.

Do you know whether he received any emolument or salary on
the part of Sir Jonathan Miles, for attending patients there 2—1I
have been informed that he has received a salary, but for what
purposes it was not stated ; Mr, Watts informed me of that.

Did Sir Jonathan Miles ever inform you he had paid him a salary
- of any given sum —Yui, he did.

To what amount 2—4£100 per annum. :

Did he express to you for what purpose 2—No, he did not.

Was he in the habit often of coming there tu attend patients,
other than his own private patients 2—I believe twicea waek. ge-
perally, to inspect the seamen and marines.

Did he go round the house to see other patients, except the sea-
men and marines, and his own private patients >—I never knew him _
to go round the house generally ; I have known him go into other
apartments to see particular private patients, that I knew he was
desired by their friends to attend to.

 But you do not know that he attended posltweljr 511‘ Jonathan
Hﬂu’s patients >=—That I know not.

You were at the same time attending on the purt of Sir Jonathan
- s, on the patients whom he had undar his charge *—Yes,

was.

Did Mr. Haslam when he came to pay hIE visits interfere with
‘any of your patients ?—Never.

And you were employed by Sir J onathan Miles to attend all the
patients in the house —Exactly so, or rather by the trustees of Sir
Jonathan Miles.

The naval as well as the other patients?—Yes ; all of every dc-
scription.

Did Mr. Haslam ever interfere in respect of your management of
the naval maniacs ?—Never ; healways went round the naval de-
partment to see, as I understood, who were proper to be removed
to Bethlem, if they had fits, or were sick, or wounded, and so on.
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He did not administer medicine to any of those naval paticnts ?—
Never, to my knowledge ; I always had to do that.

He did not recommend any medical treatment for them ?—No.

Have you any observations to make upon the evidence of Sir
Jonathan Miles 2—The only observation which I could have made
upon Sir Jonathan Miles’s evidence, was with respect to my salary ;
from the manner in which he stated it, it might be conceived that I
was paid £147. a year for my attention to the naval maniacs only ;
but it was for the whole, as I have before stated.

In looking over the evidence of Sir Jonathan Miles, it appears
that he says, that the cleanly and uncleanly patients are never
mixed, either in the sitting or in the sleeping rooms; that they are
divided ; the cleanly by themselves, and the dirty by themselves ;
and he says besides, that that is uniformly and without exception.
Is that a correct statement of the condition of the house within
your own knowledge >—It is not so uniformly and without excep-
tion, because I have stated in my former evidence, that I answered
that question particularly, as far as respected the officers; but that
with the seamen, they were generally placed in a part of a large
room, that therefore the expression is not correct, with respect to
its being uniformly the case, '

 The seamen were mixed all together. A seamen that was pot
insensible to the calls of nature, could go into the same apartments
with those that were *—The seamen that were not insensible, could
certainly go into .the apartments where the others were; but they
were geuerally kept separate, in a part of a large room.

Sir Jonathan Miles stated, that the Government patients, under
the immediate attention and care of Doctor Weir, were never pre-
seribed for by him, but that his duty consisted in inspecting their
clothing and victualing; is that correct *—I have undersiood that
that was his ounly object; but in one or two instances Dr. Weir
has'started out of his ordinary path, and particularly in the case
of a lieutenant Allardyce, he did prescribe ; that was towards the
close of my attending Sir ’jonathau-l\‘liles's house. e

Was that subsequent to Sir Jonathan Miles’s giving Eviﬂench'?_
No, previously. .=, =
- It is stated in the same evidence, that about twenty or thirty
persons, who are not Government patients, are attend ed by thﬂl‘
own medical men; is that the case ?—I believe there might be such
a number, but [ have known only of very few medical men calling
there, and seldom or never to see the paupers ; and I never met a
medical man there upon the medical relief being given to the pau-
pers ; I had exclusive attendance upon them.

A question was asked of Sir Jonathan Miles, whether the
parishes were in the habit of sending medical men, and his answer
is, certainly, whenever they are wanted. He then goes on to say,
that all-the parishes send their medical men to attend the paupers;
is that correctly stated >—If the~ parishes sent those medical men,
I never knew them to do any thing ; I'had to give them their me-
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straight waistcoat upon her, but I have frequently had it taken
off, because there was no canse for it. g

What age was this woman ?—She is, I suppose, sixty years of
age.

gDq:lr you know whether Mr. Haslam ever spoke to her, or was
- consulted upon her case ?—I do not know to a certainty ; Mr.
Haslam I believe has seen her.

Was she known by any other name in the house but Daphne ?—
No, she was not,

Do you know how long she had been there ?—During the whole
of my attendance ; Mr. Watts informed me she had been there for
Seven years. b1

You have stated, that this woman was confined in a straight
waistcoat occasionally ; state whether, in your epinion, there was
the least necessity for such restraint ?—I saw no necessity for it
whatever. . ~

What reasons were given to you for such restraint {—That she
was troublesome, and alyays running to the door, soliciting every
one for her liberty. : - :

Did you ever hear of any other cause for restraining her in the
way you have described ?—I never heard of any other cause being
stated, nor did I see any cause. L, T

Did you observe any violence in her conduct when she accom-
panied persons to the door, and requested she might be released
from her confinement —XNo violence, an earnest solicitation. .

- De you know whether she had any support from any quarter,
- any allowance for maintenance and clothes, or other purposes?—
I do not know where the allowance came from ; she was dressed
decently, and that was all ; she always took great care of her own
person, and kept herself clean.

- Were the other patients that were with her clean ?—Yes ; there
was only one in the room that was not so; she was perfectly an-
idiot. 3 _

- How many patients were placed in that room where this woman
was?—I cannot say any distinct number ; sometimes there may not
be more tham nine or ten, and sometimes fourteen, varying as
patients came in and went out, _

Do you know whether this woman was ever visited by any
relations or friends ?—I never heard of any person coming to see
her that was at all connected with her, or any stranger. .

Did you ever hear her give any account how she came there,
or of the place from which she came, or did you ever hear her
spealk of any of her counnections or friends ?—I have heard her
say repeatedly, to questions I have put to her, that she knew not
the cause of her being brought to such a place, that she thought it
was very cruel, that she meant no one any harm; and she has
always spoken of the King in terms of warm affection, but nothing
leading me to suppose her an insane persom. |

Did you ever hear of her having been committed as a person
wandering about the gates of Buckingham House ?—No,
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Did you ever hear the nature of the annoyance on her part, of #hr o
Ilis Majesty or the Royal Family ?7—Only that she* was trouble~
some. -
Did the medical commissioners ever pay attention tu her tase {— ¥ 1744
Not to my knowledge. {

Has she been pointed out to them ?—Yes; I have known o /‘(fﬁ »
her being pointed out to them, and the information given them &
as to the manner of her being brought there. i 5

You never learnt from them their opinion, either individoally
or collectively, as to the state of her mind ?—No, I never had any
conversation with the commissioners.

Was she employed in assisting at all in the house ?—I believe
she did a little ncedle-work.

You never saw her in a state of irritation or violence, or ex-
hibiting mental alienation ?—I never saw any appearance of
mental ahenatmn she once had the jaundice, otherwise her health
was good. -

What was the size of the room in which she was ?—It was'a
large and airy room ; it was almost the cleanest room in the whole
building, the woman who kept it, kept it very clean.

When you conversed with her about the King or the Royal
- Family, did she express herself with irritation >—No ; she used to
s2Y, Gm:l bless the King, I never meant to interrupt him, I do not
know what I am brought here for; the woman being of suchan
- amiable disposition, I was ind uced to make i inquiry respecting her.

Have you any information to give to the committee respecting
the medical treatment of the Government patients, by Dr. Veitch,
who is now appointed to attend them on the part of Gu?ernmen‘t?
—1I think it is important the committee should be informed that
Dr. Veitch is a naval surgeon, and has been totally unaccastomed
to attend to insane persons; this I should infer from the course
which he pursued, but I know it from his eown confession, and 1
think the committee also should know, that the plan which he
pursued was one calculated to do much mmch:ef and did in fact do
mischief to wany, that not one of them have been cured,
though they have mostly been treated in the same way. I should
be enabled to give to this committee the particulars of the treat-
ment of every cne of these individuals, but Dr. Veitch has got the
register which I kept of the sick, and of the medicines given ;
that register he will not return, and I have made applications for
it to the Commissioners for Transports, and they have also refused
ittome. I can therefore only say, generally, that he gave mercury
in large quantitics, threw many into a state of salivation, gmrb
purges, bled them, blistered them, cupped them, and gave an im-
portant medicine, the dlgltahs, in large quantities, indiscriminately,
to the high and to the low insane,

Did you see the patients during the progress of this treatment 2
~Yes; I was required by Dr. Veitch to™give the medicines to
them mysclf.

At what period i—From July the 1st to July the 20th, I was

r 2

J
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required to attend three times a day ; I gave the medicines in the
morning ; I visited at noon, with Dr. Veitch; and came,  in the
evéning, to dress the numerous setons and hhsters, and to give
other medieings.

Did they produce a visible outward effect upon the appeamnm-
of the naval maniacs 2—Very much so; two or three of the
strongest were very much emaciated indeed: and, because they
were 8o reduced and emaciated, it was said they were better; but
when the system was given up, when they gave them the ordinary
diet, and allowed them to go out, they got as bad as before.

Did you sce any of them in a state of actual salivation ?—Yes;
one poor man, in partigular, of the name of Ogilvie ; a man of a
weak habit of hnd}r, and a low class of insanity, was confined many
days to his bed in consequence of this salivation.

'v?’as the digitalis given in any considerable quantity ?>—From
ten to thirty drops of the tincture three times a day.

I'rom thirty to ninety drops in the course of one day ?-*Yes,
have given it myself, by order ¢f Dr. Veitch.

Have you any of the prescriptions by you ?—No, they were
generally entered short in the register to which I have alluded ; but
I can bring a number of the pills and powders which were mﬂe,
which were immense; Dr. Veitch directed, and I wrote it down
from his mouth, _

Were you in the habit of attending at Mr. Warburton’s heuse,
in Hoxton, called Whitmore House /—I had occasion to see a
private patient in that house, I think in 1814 or in the early part
of 1815.

Is there not a gallery in the first flight of stairs, which has every
appearance of convenience and extent {—There is so.”

Is that gallery occupied at night as a sleeping room !—Every
night it is crowded with beds.

Describe what you have yourself seen when you visited it.—In
the evening, I was astonished, on entering that gallery, to find a
temporary door and ha.tchwa}r put up,and an amazing number of
beds arrauged close to each other, so that there was just room for
a man's legs between ; they were going to bed, some undressed,
some partly undressed.

Iow many were there in the room ?—The number was large ;
the room was {:umpletely crowded.

Did they sleep two in a bed, or had each a bed to himself >—
The beds were small ; I think they had each one to himself.

Were the women’s rooms near to this gallery 7—The patient I
attended was in a room very near this gallery.

Was the door locked ?—It was, and there were two keepers
with her, for she was violent.

Was the smell of the room offensive ?—It was, from its being
too much crowded.

Do you know whether the medical cemmissioners had it com-
municated to them, that this was a sleeping apartment 7=—I am mnot
aware of that.






The Honourable HENRY GREY BENNET, in the Chair.
James Veitch, M. D. again called in, and Examined.

What are you ?—I am Surgeon to the Institution at Hoxton. I
beg leave to deliver ina List of Lunatic Seamen and Marines, &c.
in the house at the time of my appointment on the
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Venerés, 22° die Martii, 1816.

1815, and since.

A LIST of LUNATIC SEAMEN, M ARINES, &e,

27th of June,

L1t was delivered in end read, as follows :]

|

p ; A
NAMES, Quality, . EEI:: d. From whence, Died. 1 Discharggd

Richard Simpson Seaman [Sept.5, 1785 Bethlem.

Peter Stnart ., , ditto Feb. 9, 1792 ditto

Patrick Grogran }, ditgto  July 20, 1794 ditro Iy

Jos. Cotes . 5 ditto June 2, 1795 ditto

John Brier . ditto June 18 H.M.S.Brilliant

Patrick Emeson . ditto Aug. 11,179 — Stately

Jos. Towers . .. ditto Feb. 11, 1797] — Inconstant

Johw Lannon . . ditto July 19 —  Hester

James Brickley . ditto Oct, 4 Bethlem

Jolm Hill . . . ditto Nov, 4 H.M.S. London

Bar. Warner . ditto May 16, 179¢] —  Daphne

James Clare . . ditto July 27 —  Caton

K. Nelson . , . ditto Ang. 18 —  Alfred

J. Micklejon > ditto Nov. 14 —  Thetis

William Owen . Carpenter (Mar. 27, 1800 Arrow

Richard Jackson . Seaman  |July 19 Iphigenia

James Appleby . ditto Oct. 2 Bethlem s it

Francis Vgtch]: . ditto o PR ditto ey 3, ™

Jobn Guillot ditto Oet. 9 ditto

William White Marine |Feb., 6, 1801 ditto [

Leo, Collyer Seamen  |Mar. 26 H.M.S.Winchelsea

Samuel Gibson ditto Nov. 26 Betlilem

Peter Jones . ditto Dec. 26 H.M.S, Belleruenx

Ross Morgan ., . | Lientenant |Mar, 28, 1802|Portsmonth Division

Joseph Wendower Seamen  |June 19 Liberiy

James Browne , ditto Nov. 5 Carnatic ]

Fredevick Gode ditto Apr. 7, 1805 Lethlem

Wiliiam Measey . ditto Apr. 15 ditto

k. Clark. . ditto Apr. 20 ditto

R. Curson . . ditto, Oct. 29 Sal. del Mundo

Robert Huoiton Mariner [Nov. 4 Bethlem |

Alexander Murray | Lieutenant |[Nov, 18 Portsmouth Division|

Samuel Pitt | Surgeon  |Apr, 28, 1804 Bever o

Tit Alardice . Lientenant |May 1 Excellent

Daniel Gilmore Seamen |Nov, 23 Foudroyant

William Chilton . ditto Oct. 2, 1805 Bethlem

Charles Scroder . | Licutenant |Nov. 28 Waterford
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A

NAMES. Qnality, reg!::-:]. From wheuce, Died, Dicharged.
M. Gilpin , Master’s. mate|Feb, 26, 1806] Illustrions
in Glassford Seamen  |July 2 Bethilem -
Miam Farley . ditto July 13 ditto
eph Furmidge . ditto Sept. 19 ditto
ymas Hammond ditto Jan, 29, 1807 ditto
liam Williams , ditto Mar. 18 ditto
pes Martin . Surgeon  (June 21 Nirmrod
met Lambe, Seamen |Oect, 24 Bethiem
nSoult . , . ditio Nov. 2 Chiffien
rick Stafford . ditto Jan. 27, 1808 Bethlemn
n Donahoe . ditto Mar. 18 ditto Jan, 5, 1816
in Evans ditto (May 5 ditto I
miel Spiers . ditto July 1 ditto
minick Saiton , ditio July 21 Polyphemus
liam Kiddsll . . ditta May 3, 1809 Betilem 1
nPrice. ; . ditto May 23 ditto 4
1es Bedinglield ditto (Jet. 18 ditto
vard Dyson . ditto Jan. 4, 1810 ditto
1es Davidson ditto t'eb. 6 ditto
ikins . | . ditto Mar. 2 ditto
xander Colwell ditto May 2 ditto
mas Wright ditto May 8 ditto o
BWinz. . . ditto May 22 “ditto
xander Campbell ditto June 6 ~ ditto
o Bevan . Lientenant [June 18 Ulysses :
piel Fozey . . Seamen  |[July 26 Bethlem .
n Hartwell , ditto Ang. 22 ditto « s o o« (Julye8, 18ES
1es Allen ditto Sept. 29 Gladiator
M‘Dowal . . ditto Oct. 16 Betlilem
irge Griffiths , ditto Nov. 8 ditto
rert M-Henry . ditto Jan, 11, 1811 ditto |0ct. 4, 1815
H. Farr, . . | Midshipman [Jau. 25 St. Luke’s |
uM‘Guire ., , Seaman |Feb, 6 Bethilem Jan. 25, 1816
ymas Williams . ditto Feb. 28 ditto
Waser . . . ditto Apuil 10 ditio o
hard Jeukins . ditto May 29 ditto
n Lysell, . . ditto June 5 © ditto
H. Hughes., . ditto Juue 18 ditto
niel Studd . . Mariner ok = ditro
hard Ahern . ditto June 25 ditto
MCary. o . Seamen  |Aug 14 ditto
liam Ogilvey . ditto Aug. 28 ditto
Lunnun . . . ditto Sept. 17 ' ditto
nMEKay . . ditto Oct. 30 ditto
ie Huston . . ditto Nov. 20 ditto
imas Spencer . ditto Dee. 26 ditto 1
mn White . . ilitto keb. 28, 181¢ ditto 1
mard West ., . Mariner e ditto
derick Sheik . ditto April 23 ditto
irge Barker . ditto May 14 ditto
fiard Easton . Boatswain |May 25 San Nicholas .
m Hapton , . Seaman  [Juiy 22 Bethlem
imas Parker . Mar. July 30 ditto
eph Elson . . Seaman  [Sept, 9 ditto
rick Fitzpatrick Mar. @ir! o & ditto
eph Holloway . Seaman |Sept, 22 ditto
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NAMES. Quality, o ::L?:E"d_ From whence. |~ Dim:i. Dllchargg*
mes Walker. . Mar.  |Sept.30,1812] Batavia
« Morrison Seaman |[Nov. 28 Betlilem

Law Eetile ditto Dec. 17 ditto

Johu Le Songe ditto Dec. 51 ditto

Patrick Pendegrass ditto Jan. 7, 1815 ditto

Gyles Paris . Gunner  |Feb. 9 Nero

James Donaldson Seamau  |Feb. 25 Bethlem
- George Mace ., | Qur. Master |May 4 Sal. del Mundo :

William Jones . Seaman |May 6 Bethlem Dec, 18, 1815

David Boxton ditto 7 ditto

Daniel Geary . ditto May 19 ditto

George Smit . . Cor. Mar. [June 17 ditto

Richard Harris Gunner  [July 1 Delahoyd

Andrew Shepani Seaman  YJuly 7 Bethlem, ' '

John Love ., . ditto g ditto Jan, 23, 1816

James Jeffery Mar. July €7 ditto

Joun Hewett . . Seaman S T ditto

Samuel Vanderling ditto Ang. 15 ditto ;

Joz. Rundall . ditto Sept. 28 ditto .
“Noah Bird ', , ditto Nov. 9 ditto

A. H, Weaver . ditto Nov. 18 Marlborough

James Wild , ditto Nov. 23 Betlilem

Neil Angns ., . ditto Dee. 16 ditto Feb. 12, 1816

Patrick Walsh ditto Jan, 5, 1814 ditto

H. C. Bradford Purser * |Feb, 7 Nassan '

Jobn Evans . . Captain  |Feb, 12 Recruit Mar. 10. 1816

William Matters . Mariner  {Feb. 19 Bethlem

James Cardift . Seaman . Lo ditto

John Brady . . ditto Feb. 95 ditto

A. Thompson . Carpenter [Mar, 8 Prathée

Kobert Squires . Seaman  [Mar. 26 ditto

William Halwopd ditto May 11 ditto :

€. M‘Callister . . ditto June 3 ditto . Sept, 25, 11l
Richard Rick . . ditto  |July 9 ditto

Duc, Lecouse . . ditto ot R A ditto

Col. Angns . . ditto July 21 ditto

William Kinder . ditto N ditto
Thomas M*Donald ditto  |Sept. 2 ditto

Ant, Lemart , . ditto g ditto

John Sherry . . ditto Sept. 10 Valiant BPHERSE .
Jolin Williams . Mar.  [Sept. 29 Bethlem  [July 8, 1815

Jolin Robinson . -Seaman S ditio - :

Lawrence Barrell ditto  |Oct. 14 ditta ‘

Joliw Lee . . ditte  |Oct, 21 ditto i ]

Jolm Pindall ditto Oct. 28 ditto

John Casey . . ditto Dee. 6 ditto h

Peter I{nﬂ{!rtey . ditto Dec 22 ditto |
Thomas Butler ditto  |Jan. 4, 1815 ditto 9 '
Nat. Bunis . . ditto Ieb. i ditto |
Mic. Gray . = ditto Mar. 2 ditto

Thomas Williams ditto Apr. 7} ditto

Nat, Bnck . . ditto Apr. 12 ditto

Richard Biggary ditto \pr. 18 ditto

A. M‘Dongal . Lieutenant |May 1 Glasgow . s Sept. 25, 11
Jos, Gamblett . Seaman  [May 10 Sugsex

Phil. Avgo . & ditto June 16 Severn . Jaly 1, 11l
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s

NAMES. Quality. rgl.li?;d. From whence. Died. | Discharged.
Zd. Sheppa . . Seaman- |June 23, 1815  Bethlem T h Mar, 15, 1816,
Darby Sheer ditto Juue 29 Pylades . . [July 22, 1815
itephen Moore . ditto July 12 Argonaut v . ditto
Nilliam Rolls . . ditio July 21 ditto iR « |Ang. 5
#al. Heury Marine |Juiy 24 Gracions . « |July 29
Filliam Marcliant Surgeon  [July 28 St. George o . [Sept. 25
Cim. Murphy . Marine  {July 30 Batavia
Chomas Stephens Seaman |Ang. 10 Argonant
Pot, Adams . . ditto bk ditto .« o« . |Ang 31, 1815
A, Cook ", ., ditto Aug. 18 ditto Feb. 10, 1816] . :
folin Reid . . . ditto Ang. 23 ditto
lagques Martin . ditto wi g, ditto 1 3
¥illiam Havris Marine Aug. 29 e s s p | ol « {Dee. 5, 1815
Filliam Atkins Qur, Master ki Tk Manly i . (Sept, 7
iam. Billet Murine  [Sept. 12 Niger i - [Sept, 21
t. Chapman Carpenter e o Minden : 3 . [Feb, 24, 1816
fohw Owen ' . . Seaman  [Sept. 13 Bethlem '
flohn Appleby . . ditto, Sept. 25 Batavia
lohn Hartwell . . ditto TR ditto s
[homas Farrell ditto Oct. 4 Navy Office [ i . [|Oct, 19, 1815
‘ames Stafford ditto Oct. 21 Rifleman’ . . |Nov, 30
tobert Bulger . . ditto Nov. 2 Bethlem
‘ames Clarke . ditto Nov. 10 Hiudostan i . [Nov.16
intoin Mends . . Seaman |Nov. 16 ditto Jan, 6, 1816
lohn Simpson . Lientenant [Nov. 28 Plymouth
ewis Gray Seaman |Nov. 30 BEethlem
'homas Chinnery ditto Jan. 10, 1816 FPlymouth wi « (Jam. 25, 1816
‘aines Bradshaw . ditto Feb. 8 3 wllesasa vl « |Feb, 22
‘obin Smith ditto Feb. 11 Queen Charlotte] . . « {Mar.7
obin Wheeler . . ditto Mar. 7 Bethlem
Valter Mitchell . ditto Mar. 19 ditto ’

ks

WHAT is the present state of that establishment ;
from what it was at your last examination ?—It is certainly im-

proved.

is it different

In what respect ?—In cleanliness and classification, as far as the
Institution will admit of it. : |
Have the cleanly and quiet patients at the present moment a free
admission into the rooms where the dirty and noisy patients are ?—
From the imperfect character of the Institution, such intercourse
in reality cannot be altogether obviated.
Are the patients under your care mixed with the paupers as
formerly 2—No, certainly not.
Under whose care are the Greenwich patients placed >—They
are under the care ofa private practitioner.
Paid by the Hospital?—Paid, I imagine, by the Hospital,
Do you know his name 2—Major, L think.
Are they mixed with the Chelsea and Artillery, and other Lu-
natics that are placed there?—I do not know; I direct my atten-
tion exclusively to the Naval Lunatics; were I to interfere with
the other departments it might be conceived to be improper.

]
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Then you mean to state, that the Naval Lunatics are kept per-
fectly distinct from the Chelsea, the Artillery, and the Pauper Lu-
natics ?—I hawfl from the time of my appointment, directed that
they should be kept perfectly distinct.

They were not distinct when you first took them in charge ?—
That strict adherence to the distinction of the Naval Lunatics was
not observed on my first visiting that Institution; at all events, it

~was by no means so pointed as at present. o N

Since you have been at the head of that establishment, have you
been successful in your practice as to the relief -of insanity; and
can you state the number of persons discharged since you have
been at the head of the establishment ?—It is to be observed, that
the institution at Hoxton is principally occupied by Lunatics who
have been previously at Bethlem, and have been discharged from

- that hospital as incurable. Few of them have been less than two
yearsat Hoxton ; consequently their cases are not so susceptible
of assiztance from the powers of medicine as in its early stages. It
is also the practice of the institution, (which I have exceedingly to
regret) when patients are received with recent disease, to transfer
them directly to Bethlem. :

From the ships er hospitals where they are first affected 7—=They
are sent from the shipping to the hospital of the port at which the
ship arrives ; from thence they are transferred to Hoxton ; and
from Hoxton they are removed to Bethlem, if Mr, Haslam con-
ceives that he is likely o effect a cure. All whose cases are des-
perate are. left under my care ; sixteen patients, officers and sea-
wcn have been received from Haslar and other hospitals, five of
whom have been left in my charge, and out of that five I have cured
three officers and one seaman ; I have also succeeded in curing two
of those patients sent from Bethlem as incurable, so that I have

- discharged six patients cured of Lunacy, during the nine months I

have had charge of the asylum at Ioxten ; and I am strongly in-
clined to believe, that the cure will prove permanent ; none of them
have been returned.

How long is it since the first was discharged?—It is several
months since. - .

It has been stated to the Committee, that your medical treat-
ment has been of a nature extremely violent ; that you have been
in the practice of salivating patients by a great use of mercury, and
by giving them digitalis, and other powerful medicines ; is that the
case {—It is utterly false ; deliberately false. :

Will you take it upon yourself to say, that you have not thrown
any patient into a state of salivation by the use of mercury, given te
him for the purposes of medical treatmént, for his insane state of
mind {—T1The mouth of several of the insane patients has been
affected with mercury, and to that ecircumstance I have no hesi-
tation in ascribing, in a great measure, the relief which those men
tave obtained. | _ -'

L5 not this second answer somewhat contradictory to your for-
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mer answer ?—In my furmer answer, my object was deliberately to
controvert any thing like a harsh or injurious use of medicine.

You acknowledge, then, that you have been accustomed. to ad-
minfster mercury for the cure of mental derangement, and to the
administration of that mercury you attribute very beneficial effects?
—Yes, 1 do; it is true that I have used mercury with a view to
the reluef of msnmtjr, and also of corporeal disease; but I deli-
bera;;ly controvert every thing like a harsh or injurious use afthe
remedy

Hav::! you been accustomed to purge, bleed, cup or blister, to any
excess I—I have been in the habit of bleedmg and blistering; and
four or five have been cupped during the period I have been at the
Fustitufion ; but every thing like excessive or violent use of these
remedies I deny ; they have been directed with the ugmost circum-
spection, after a most minute and careful investigation of the nature
‘of the cases. 93

Have you used those methods, or any of them, at stated pmuds
of the year ?—No ; 1 have been guided by the immediate state of
the patient. I have no periodical remedies. May I be allowed to
state, that a man of the name of Harris, who was rejected by Mr.
sHaslam as a person whom he conceived incurable, and unfit to be
received into Bethlem, owes his recovery to bleeding and the use
of mereury. He came to the Institution in the most disgusting and
disagreeable state that a maniac could possibly appear in; voiding
his fxces and urint invoiuntarily ; and mischievous at the same
lime ; he owes his recovery to the use of mercury and to blood-

lattmg, carried to a considerable extent; he was young, and of a
vigorous habit of bndy

« To your practice, in short 7—Yes. !

Do you happen.to know that the use of mercury, asa medical
remedy for insanity, is common in other establishments ?—I should
rather think not ; but on men so desperately nfﬂicted, co
as it were to time for a remedy, any thmg that is not li-kelj'*tu do
an injury, I conceive myself justifiable in trying.

Did you ever reduce any of your patients, that were in a state
of violent irritability, so low that you were obliged to abandon
your plan, becauseé you feared the person was not able to exist
under the treatment *—-Nothing of the kind ever nenu-rred at the
institution at Hoxton.

Will you state to the Committee on what principle youuse mer-
cury for the purposes of medical cure, in cases of insanity #¥—The
disease is often connected with corporeal affection ; with organic
derangement of the visceral system ; with chrumc congestion of
those organs, and even of the brain 1tse|f aund looking at the state

~of the brain as unfolded by dissection, it struck me that mercury
was a remedy likely to be useful, by reasoning & priori, and my
experience has justified the conclusions at which I arrived:

Were you accustomed to give the digitalis in any quant:ty i1
have used it, but with the urmost attention and care.

In what quantity have yon ever used it 2—I have seldom care

Q2 w
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ried it beyond the extent of sixty drops in a day, which is very in-
considerable, and from which I have derived no use at all in
mania. -

That is the utmost youn have nsed ?—1I seldom exceeded that; I
do not think I have exceeded that in the course nf four-and-iwent}'
hours; I am positive | have not.

Have you ever tried any sedative medicines to any considerable
extent 2—I have very little confidence in them; I have tried the
varied sedative medicines, hut have seldom pushed them to any
cxtent.

Have you any means of giving occupation or employment, El-ﬂlal‘
in the way of labour or recreation, to the seamen that are under
your care {—1It is utterly impossible from the limited space of the
ground around the Institution ; that is one of the greatest defects
attached to the Institution, the want of the means of giving exercisc
to the paticnts confined there.

Is it then your opinion, that in any new establishment whlch.
might be projected forthe care of this unfortunate class of men,
airing grounds, and means of occupation, employment and recrea-
tion should be given >—"They will be of the must essential benefit ;
without such aids as are alluded to in the question, the powers of
medicine will be considerably diminished.

Whether applied to the body or the mind, you mean?—They
should be so employed as to act on both mind and body.

In what wauner are the naval patients brought up from the
country and delivered into your care at Hoxton ?—1I believe they
.are brought up in a chaise.

Can you take it upon yourself to say, that since you have had
the charge of that Establishment, none of them have been brought
up on the outside of a stage-cuar:h or by any other public convey-
ance{—I am not aware of any thing of the kind having taken

By whom were you appointed >—By the Transport Board.

H:rw long have you been in the navy ?—I have been about
twenty.four years a surgeon of the navy.

Have you ever given your attention to this particular malady
before your present appointment ?—In the course of the varied
situations which I have filled, that of surgeon of Plymouth Hos-
pital, surgeon to the Royal Naval Hospital at Antigua, and sur-
geon to the prisoners of war at Norman Cross, repeated instances
of maniacal disease have become the object of my care; but till
lately my attention has not been exclusiwe]y directed to such
ﬂh]ecls.

How many patients lla.ve you ever had under your care at one
time at any of those places ; Plymouth for instance ?—In fact they
only remained under my care till they could be sent to Hoxton.

How many passed through your hands at Plymouth, in the
caurse of twelve months 2—I canpot positively say; after recover-
ing from fever, and other acute diseases, it sometimes happened that

i
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patients were attacked with insanity ; and when that happened,
they remained under my care till they were removed to Hoxton.

Are cases of lunacy common in the navy >—By no means; I
‘think in the course «f my naval practice the number has nut beer
great which | have met with.

Do you sappose you have the care now of aﬂ ’ChL insane seamen,
or are they sent to any other place —There is no other in-
stitution.

Then you have the care of the WhtﬂP:—YES, [ have the care of
the whole who are the objects of attention on the part of Govern-
ment, and who are not on board of ship, at vur huapilals, or in
Bethlem,

How many have you?—I have t-’l? this morning under my care..

Can you say how many (reenwich hu'ipna] men, marines, and
Chelsea men, are insane ?—I cannot ; I imagine there may be
about 30, but Mr. Wat's. who is the superintendent of the mnutu_
tion, is hr.-rv and he will be ab'e te answer the question.

Have you brought with vou the registry of 'he prescriptiens for
which the Committee made an order the last day of their meeting 2—
I received no order to bring such register, but L am pertectly ready
to lay it before the Committee.

Mr. John Watts, called in, and Examined.

WHAT is your situation :—Superintendent at Hoxton.

Do you act under the trustees, or under Sir Jonathan Miles ? =l
act under Sir Jonathan now.

How long have you so acted under him ?—A year and a half, or
perhaps two years.

What salary used you to allow on the part of the trustees uf Sir
Jonathan to Mr. Sharpe as surgeon 2—147(. a year.

He had then the care not only of the private patients of the
house, but ofthe Government patients who were under your charge ?
— Xess ; the whole.

Did he find medicines as well medical attendants >—Yess not
poultices nor lint, nor those kind of things, but all kinds of drugs.

What was your establishment allowed by Government per head,
on account of medicines 7—IF our-pence for a week.

Which, on the average number of patients, would amount. tﬂ
from 1004 to 120/. a-year?—Perhaps to 1004 ; it included purter,
wine, and other little things.

Can you state to the Committee in what manner the seamen, ‘ll,ho
were removed from Haslar hospital, or from other places to your
establishment at Hoxton, were conveyed 2—1 believe, principally
by coach.

Has it been the case that these unfortunate Junaties were chained
on the outside of the coach, and in that manner sent up travelling
by night to the establishment i—Never, to my knowledge. |

Can it have happened without your knnwtﬂdge ’—-—Yes, it mrght
have happened without my knowledge.

Can you say that the practice has not been to send them up on
the outside of the coach in the day.time, during the summer ; and
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turned out ; ‘they never were with them for the last five years, or
thereabouts; prior to that they were in the yard together.” For the
last five years no parish patient was ever permitted to go in there,

Have you then ever witnessed the pauper patients turned out of
that yard, for the purpose of showing Dr. Robertson that that yard
was exclusively appropriated te the Greenwich insane ?~I can an-
swer that in this way, the parish paupers were never permitted to go
into that yard during the last five years; formerly the Greenwich
patients and the parish patients were in the yard all together.

Then at this present moment you mean to state, that neither the
Greenwich patients, nor the Chelsea, nor the artillerymen, nor the
seamen, are mixed with the paupers?—Yes, the artillerymen are
mixed with the parish paupers. _

But the others are not >—The others are not, except some of the
Chelsea patients; some of the Chelsea patients are mixed with the
paupers. v gl

Then the Committee are to understand that the Chelsea aud ar-
tillery men are mixed with the paupers, but the naval and Greenwich
lunatics are not so mixed —They are separated. '

How long has Dr. Robertson been in attendance >—Many years, -
but I cannot say how long. PR
- Is it more than five years >—A great many more. |

Then you cannot take upon yourself to say, that previous to the
five years of which you have been speaking, the pauper patients may
not have been turned out of the yard, when Dr. Robertson has come
to visit the Greenwich Hospital patients in the manner alluded to in
the questions before put?—1 should think not, for there was no
where to put them. :
~ You cannot take upon yourself to say, that previous to the five
years of which you have been speaking, the pauper patients may not
have been turned out of the yard when Dr. Robertson has come to
visit the Greenwich Hospital patients, in the manner alluded to in
the questions before put ?—They never could have been turned out;
it is impossible that the parish patients could have been turned out
prior to the five years, there were only two yards, one for the sailors
and one for the others. -

. You have no place to turn them into >~No.

You cannot take upon yourself to say, that previous to the five
ears of which you have been speaking, the pauper patients may not
ave been turned out of the yard when Dr. Robertson has come to

visit the Greenwich Hospital patients in the manner alluded to in

the questions before put 2—No, they were never turned out; when

Dr. Robertson used to come frequently, the Greenwich patients

were brought up and placed up by a long wall, where he saw thems

he did not always go into the yard where they were, they were

brought up to him, which they are now semetimes.

. In the same yard in which the Greenwich, arstillery, and Chelsea

patients where kept, were there not prisoners, foreign, as well as

those frem Newgate P—The foreign prisoners were ‘wiﬂ{ﬂmqﬂon;

the Newgate prisoners were in the yard with the parish patients.
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Did you mention to him the necessity of having a place set apart
for the removal of decad bodies i—Certainly. = =

Did he assent to the propriety of it ?—Yes. £

Did he agree to it 7—I shall be very much disappointed if it is
not done when we next visit. o -

With respect to the beds, do the pauper men lie singly 2—Singly.

Aund the bedsteads are not of width enough to accommodate
two 7—Some are of width enough to accommodate two ; some
have a wooden partition between them ; and I think this a very
good Bedstead, and a steady one ; Mr. Burrows is introdueing iren
bedsteads. :

Be so good as describe this double bedstead ; Does it make two
_ sets of bed-clothes necessary ?—It does. £ 4

Have you particularly turned your attention to the increase or
diminution of insanity in the country ; can you furnish the Com-
mittee with any recent observation of yours upon that important
subject >—In the year 1809, the Registers having existed five and
thirty years for the purpose ofascertaining the comparative preva-
lence of the disease, I e out a list of the numbers returned in
each year, distinguishing those which were returned from houses in
London, and those returned from the country ; that paper also
led me to netice some imperfections in the present Act, especially
with respect to the country returns. And I beg leave to state,
that the country returns are still very imperfectly made indeed. I
have continued this table to the year 1815, and the whele is at the
service of the Committee.

Do you think that the evident increased number within the last
thrce years, has risen from the number of Lunatics being itself
augmented, or from greater care being taken to return the real
number that existed’—I cannotanswer that question. I koow
that the returns from the coumfry are still very imperfect, though
they are always, and always have been, correct in London. In
your last printed Report, for instance, there is mention made of the
house of a Mr. Gillett, of Taunton, from which we have never
had any return ; and I know there are a number ~f houses that do
nct make returns regularly,. . <y

From your own ohservation, and from what you have learned
from others, who attend professionally upon Lunatics, do you
think the number of Lunatic patientsin London is on the increase,
or stationary, or declining >—1In the paper I have mentioned to you,
I was led, considéring the increase of population, to think itanust
be rather on the decline; but since that period it has started up
again considerably, and I know not on what account.

Then since the paper written from 1509, has the malady increased
within the bills of mortality 2—It has in every year; the number
of patients increased gradually to 1813, and then was very large ;
within the last two years they have decreased gradually.

From_how miany of the English counties do you get returns >—
I have a list here of the houses in England, from which returns
were made in the last ycar; and in your last Report there is an

i 3
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Talbot was fully acquainted with all the various cruelties and ill
treatment which Betty Welch practised upon the patients under
her care, such as you hare describet]l ?—Yes ; I made them known
to him myself.. :

Was there a keeper in the house by the name of Bridget ?—Yes.

Was she there when you first came to the White House 7—Yes.

Did you leave her there ?—No.

Was she discharged ?—Yes. '

For what ?—For hanging wet clothes in the poor wumen’s hall,
contrary to Mr. Talbot’s orders.

Was she a keeper particularly severe ?—Particularly so.

. Describe any thing you have seen her do, that warrants your
chnrgmg ‘her with severity —The first thing I saw her do of that
kind was about a week after I came to the house; I went early
one morning among the poor women, and caught her flogging them
out of bed with a birch broom, and forcing them under a pump into
a tub of water to wash them.

¢ Was that her constant practice ?—I believe it was ; T have seen
hEr do it several times. _

Those were pauper patients ?—Yes, they were.

Was this in Winter or Summer ?—When the snow was on ﬂh.-
ground.

Have you eter seen her ggrike the women under her care ‘-‘--Re-r
- peatedly.

Was it the practice of the house for the keepers to strike the pa.
tients ?—It was a practice too commonly used among the poor peo-
ple : and amongst the patients in gencral, I may say.

Were the persons of the females, when you first went into the
bhouse, much covered with vermin ?—I cannot say when I first
went that T examined the house much ; T was not aecustomed to
it ; when I began to gect used to the situation I found that they
were very much so.

Do you recollect making any complaint to Mr. or Mrs Tnﬂmt
upon that subject i~ I do. .

What was the answer you reccived ?—They told me tn try all 1
comld to eradicate them.

What was the appearance of the bodies of the female patients i'---
Quite in a state of eruption, from an incessant scratching. :

Was any remark made upon that subject >—I do not recollect lll]."-
particular remark.

Was there any thing said as to its being a humour in the blood 2
—Yes, there was,

What did you do in consequence of the instructions youn mcam:d
from Mrs. Talbot ?—I ironed the beds.

- Did you get rid of the quantity of vermin with which the hﬂ-ﬂl!-
was infested —No, I did not entirely.

Is it true, that the quantity of vermin was such that it was an
amusement {o the patients to kill them as they ran up the wall ?>—
Bugsit was ; I have seen them covered with bugs.

Do you recollect the circumstance of a Mary-le-bone patient being
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confined for a considerable length of time in a straight-waistcoat ?—
Not for a considerable length of time; he was very cruelly con-
fined. - piegal FTENNOTRR MRS T
What do you mean by cruelly confined?—He was confined so
tight, that I have every reason to believe the circulation of the
blood was stopped, and that the man must have died if he had not
been released. g S L

What symptoms of suffering did he show, which warrant you to
say he would have died 7—It was the servants that came to fetch
me; one ofthe patients came first, and told me there was a poor
man in the hall that had been lately confined, and was very ill ;
I was serving out wine in the parlour, and did not immediately
attend to it; soon after one of the keepers came and begged me
to come, or the man would die; I went out and desired the
keeper to unconfine him; he said he would not; I went and
fetched one of the other keepers, and desired him to cut the waist-
coat strings with a knife; which bhe did: the patient showed mg
his arms, and they were quite black with the marks the waistcoat
had made. : :

When you saw the patient in that situation did he appear to
suffer much with paim?—Very much ; he was calling out for me.

Was he otherwise in a state of irritation 7—No, not at all; he
was rather in a low state, he was very quiet

Can you state to the Commiitee the motive for putting him in
a straight-waistcoat —Yes, the keeper told me he had confined
him for buying two pennyworth of tobacco without his knowledge ;
the poor patient said it was his own money, and why should it
not be laid out if he pleased. ; '

Were you present at Mr, Talbot’s during the time of the typhus
fever 2—Yes. e

Do you recollect any circumstance concerning the distribution

~ of wine to the patients under the effects of that fever?—Yes.

State them.—I recollect Dr. Hooper coming to see the Mary-le-
bone patients when they were getting well; I think it was the
last visit he paid; he asked me how much wine the Mary-le-bone
patients then took; I told him half a pint a day each patient.
When I went down, Mr. Talbot asked me what had been said ;
I told him; he said I ought to have told Dr. Hooper a pint of
wine a day to each patient, instead of half a piut; that Mary-le-
bone parish must pay for the others. il

What quantity of tea and sugar are allowed the pauper patients -
who pay for it, and how much does each pay per week ?—When
they come in, if their friends can afford, they pay two shillings
a week if they have tea twice a day, and one shilling for once a
day, there is no additional tea allowed for that; they have their
water put in the kettle after the gentlemen have had their tea;
that is Mrs. Talbot’s profit.

While you were at the White House, had you any thing to do
with the management of the linen-roomi—No, I had not any
thing to do with it; there was a linen-room maid kept on purpose.
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Do you know any thing of what becomes of the clothes of the
patients when they are brought into the house ;' and can yon state
to the Commitiee what proportion of those clothes are in use,
and what proportion are put by in the store-room >—I cannot say
what quantity is put by ; the eclothes are first taken up inte the
linen-room, and properly booked and put by ; after that there is
a certain quantity given out for the use of a patient, and the rest
Mrs. Talbot has, if it is possible; sometimes the friends of a
patient know what they bave given, and insist on seeing it.’

Do you mean by that to state, that the patients wear their linen

b lenger than is intended by their friends, so that when their friends

visit them they are informed how much that patient destroys his -
or her clothes; that he or she must have a fresh supply, which
are accordingly provided; and the things thus accumulated are
sold by the Mistress to the Master, for the purpose of clothing .
these patients whom he provides with clothes ?—'They are kept
back, and sold to the master of the house for the purpose of
clothing the private patients. ; '

Explain to the Committee what knowledge you have of that,
transaciion.—I have known Mr. Holmes’s linen to be kept baek,
and Captain Harvey’s; Mr. Cockerton’s likewise, and a number
of others, whose names I cannot recollect. . ¥R

What do you mean by being kept back #—The patients had not
them to wear. _

Of this linen of which youn have spoken, can you take upon your-
self to say that Mrs, Talbot sold it to Mr. Talbot, or any bedy
else >—To My. Talbot. .

Theat you can state positively of your oewn knowledge *~Yes;
Muys. Talbot has employed Mr. Talbot’s niece for days together to
pick out the marks of different people’s things.

You have seen that with your own eyes ?—7Yes, I have ; and have
helped to pick them out mysglfs

Do you know any thing concerning the clothing of the parish
patients >—Yes; when the parlsh patients’ clothing is brought in,
it is taken up into the linen room and put wp. : :

Can you state to the Committee any particular parish of which
the clothing belonging to their paupers has been kept back for the
emolument of Mrs. Talbot >—From the parish of St. Pancras the
flanmel petticoats and aprous are chiefly used towards clothing the
country patients which Mr. Talbot has te provide with clothes,
likewise St. Andrew?’s; the St. Mary-le-bone white petticoats have
been frequently cut up and made inte blankets for the use of the
house ; I have myself cut up fifteen at a time, ;

By whoese order ?—Mrs. Talbot’s. o+
- Explain the nature of that bill, [ handing a p?ar to the witness. ]
In the first place, is it your hand-writing >—Yes, it is; it is the
bill of those things which had accumulated from the different pa- -
tients, which Mrs. Talbot desired me to set down, ' peRy

‘Was that bill made ont by you of the linen and clothes that were

“in the stere-room that belonged to patients, eithcr private patients
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tlow often did he, in point of fact, go round the house, to the best
of your recollection ?-—I have known him for two months tuguthtr
not go round the house at all. A
Was he generally at home?—Very seldom.
Has it at any time happened that Mr. and Mrs. Talbot were out
of the house for days together?—Yes.

Under whose care then were the patients>—My care; I had the
whole management of the house while they were out.

“Were you ever in the habit of selling clothes and linen for Mrs.
Talbot to a Jew ?*—Yes.

What clothes were sold ?— A few things which did not answer the
purpose of clothing the patients which they had to clothe.

- Things out of the store.room ?—Yes.

Did they belong to the private or parish patients ’—To private
patients. :

To any amount ?—No great nnmuut :

Did Mr. Talbot ever desire you not to show the CommissioBers
into all the apartments of his house >—Yes he did.

Did he assign to you any reason why you should cnnml any
room in the house :—Yes.

What was the reason ?—There was a brick room in the peor:
women’s yard, which he did not wish them to see ; and told me
not to show it to them, unless they found it out themselves.

What was the state of that room, that it was not to be s.lmwn
~to them? It was a very cold dismal place.

How many beds were there i it, and how many people slept
there?—1 cannot say exzactly how many cribs there were, but
eight at least. %

Had each patient that inhabited that room a crib to himself ?—
Yes, a crib to himsellf.

‘Were they of that class of patients that are known in the esta-
blishment by the name of dirty patients ?—No, there was no dif-
ference made, they were mixed ; there was no separation ; that
was the reason I could never obtain my point in gauing them
clean.

Do you mean to state, that amongst the pauper women patients
the. ﬂlt‘tj" and the clean were placed in the same room together i‘—- |
In the same room all together.

Was this place, so to be concealed from the Commissioners, cold
and damp ?— Yes, it was both cold and damp.

Did the female patients who werc confined there, suffer in con-
sequence of the inclemency of the weather ?—I do not think they
suffered much from the inclemency of the weather in general, they
used to do formerly. 1 recollect a young woman that lost her
fect by the excessive cold ; I knew her very well.

Can you take upon yourself to say, that the cold was the ﬂmle
of that young woman losing her feet ?—I understood so ; she lest
her feet before I came into the house.

Can you say that the female patients did not suffer from colds
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and from chilblains, the result of being exposed to the cold air?—
They have had their feet very blue, and clilblains certainly.

Were pains taken to wrap up the feet of those in blankets, or to
cover the bodies of those patients who were either in a state of
mania, or in that state of debility which would make them in the
first instance disposed to throw off all their garments, and in the
other so helpless as not to be able to keep them on ?—Yes, they
had each of them a rug to cover them, that is to say, a quilt made
from the Mary-le-bone petticoats, and covered with stulis of va-
ricus kinds. ;

Are you speaking of their morning dress, or their covering at
night 7—Their covering at night.

Did they all sleep upon straw, the clean as well as the dirty 2—I
have known some clean paticats sleep upon straw. :

While you were at the White House, what was the greatest
number of patients you had ?—We had about 300 upon an
average. :

- Of those patients, can you state how many slept two in a bed >—
I cannot say, indeed, but a vast number of them. .

Can you give a guess how many double beds there were ?—1 be-
lieve about a dozen or fourteen on the poor men’s side, and all
double beds on the female side, except the cribs for bad patients.

- Have you ever known that a dirty and a clean patient were put
together in the same bed ?—No, I cannot say that I have.

Can you say what proportion ef males to females there were
during the time there were 300 patients in the hﬂ:lSE {—I cannot .
i B
You have stated to the Committee that you were three years in
the White House ; what were the reasons of your quitting it 7—1I
never knew ; | was never acquainted with it. - .

During the fime that you were there, did you always hold the
same confidential situation for which you considered yourself
originally engaged 2—Yes, 1 did, to the hour of my coming
away.

VW as there any particular treatment that you received from Mr.
or Mrs. Talbot, that, in your own view, rendered it necessary thag
you should guit their establishment?—Yes; for about six weeks
or two months before I came away I observed a strangeness and
coolness in Mrs. Talbot’s behaviour, and when she came home
she said that I could not be any longer in the parlour, agreeable
to our agreement; I begged of her to inform me what was the
reason, and what I had done; she said. she would not tell, but that
it was her resolution when she came home. Mr. Talbot told me
she was come to stop four days in the house, and that she desired I
would take bat very little notice of her, and I did not ; the first day
I breakfasted in the parlour, as usual, as she did not come down ;
when the dinuer was ready, 1 went up stairs into my room ; shortly
after Mr. Talbot seut a patient to call me down to dinner ; when
I entered the parlour, I said I did not know I was to come down 3
be answered, ¢ Mrs, Talbot is gone to Miss Rhodes's, where she is
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was ; my duties, as Inspector of Hospitals, carried me fre-
quently out of town, in visiting those institutions which my
appointment required of me ; so that in that time it did
mot occur to me to inform myself whether there were mi-
nutes to that effect or not.

Did you yourself make any charges for coach-hire ; or do
you know that such charges have been made by others 7—
The charge of coach-hire for the visit performed by me
does, 1 believe, stand upon the books ulPtlu_a office; and I
understood that the expence of every visit so performed
was charged by the other Commissioners,

Do you recollect whether there is any order upon the
Minutes of the Sick and Wounded Board, given by the Ad-
miralty, directing such periodical visits to be made ?—I
recollect, that, during the naval administration of my
Lord St. Vincent, communication was held (whether in
written correspondence, or verbally, I do not know) upon
~the subject ofthe Institutionat Miles’s ; and the impression
on my mind is (but to that I cannot speak positively,) that
mstructions were then given by the Admiralty for that in-
stitution to be particularly looked at. |

Do you conceive that that establishment at Miles’s was
directly under the authority of the Sick and Wounded
Board ?—Most certainly. There was a contract formed,
in which their ration was altered, and there was some dif-
ference in the price of the ration ; but at this period I am
not prepared to say what it was. When I said that the
Commissioners of the Sick and Wounded Board had a con-
trol over the establishment of Sir Jonathan Miles, of course
1 only meant that part connected with the Lunatic Seaman.

Myr. John Waﬂls, again called in, and Examined.

~ YOU have stated in your examination before the Com-
mittee, some days back, that it has been the practice of
vour establishment to give to Mr. Haslam 100/. per an-
num; in the nature of a fee, for the recommendation of pa«
tients >—VYes.

How long has that practice taken place ?—I cannot say
exactly.

You know it to have been the practice for more than one
year ?—Y es. ' 1

Can you form any conjecture how long it has been the
practice that he has recvived any gratuity ?—Seven years.

On the came condition ?—Yes.

That must appear in the creditor’s account?—Yes; I am
not prepared to give the exact date; I could give the exact
date at home. ' ! :

-
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‘The payment of that money then- stands -upon the books

of yeur establishment ?—Yes. - _

Was this gratuity given for the recommendation of pa-
tients out of the hospital of Bethlem only, or generally for
the recommendation of patients from all parts of ‘the king-
dom >—Yes; from all parts, : ’

Were the certificates of insanity, which those patients
brought with them, either from Bethlem, or from other
}mrts of the kingdom, signed or counter-signed by Mr. Has-
am ?—The certificates that Mr. Iaslam generally used to
sign were for those patients that came from Bethlem.
Other patients that came in were generally signed by other
physicians or surgeons. :

And not counter-signed by him 2—1I have seen his name
with another medical gentleman; but not often. -

Then you mean to state that every patient that was sent
from Bet{llem to your house by Mr. Haslam, was sent. there
under and with a certificate signed by him?—Not all; but
- the greuter part of them were. _ o Srind 1 1 e

Have you reason to believe that Mr. Haslam recom-
mended patients to other establishments, or considered him-
self as bound by your retaining fee of 100/. per annum, te
select your house in preference to others ?—I think, our
house in preference to others. ; e

Are you in the practice of giving to other physicians, or
other persons having under their care insane persons, a
similar fee?—No. '

Do you make any present to any of the Commissioners
who inspect your house?—No. | :

Then the %ommittﬁe are to understand you to say, that
no present or gratuity whatever is paid, by your house, to
any physician, commissioner, or otherwise, for the purpose
of either recommending patients, or for the trouble of in-
specting your establishment?—I mean to say that we give
no perquisite or fee to any physician, surgeon, or apothe-
cary, excepting Mr. Haslam.

an you give the Commitiee any tolerable correct esti-
mate of the number of persons that have been sent from
Bethlem to Hoxton for the last three years?—I cannot say
precisely ; but I should think about five and twenty patients
per ;mnunl ; I do not wish to be considered as stating it cor»
rectly. _

H'j; the number of patients, so recommended, increased,
as the salary allowed to Mr. Haslam has increased >—I
hardly think it has. x

What was the motive for that increase of salary then?—
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hu}u;md well, I reported it to Mr. Haslam ; his answer
as, as near as I can recollect—* Very well, very well.”
Did he make any remark to you when he found this man,

who had been chained for two yearsto his bed, walking

about the gallery, in the same state ol mind as when he was
- so chained ?—Only that be supposed the chain had worn the
violence of his dlsorder out.

But, according to your opinion, he was, when you re-
leased him, exactly in the same state of mind as when he
was placed in irons, and during the two years he was con-
fined ?—Yes.

- Was he naked during the whole of that penad -"—No
his handculfs were occasionally taken off to puta clean shirt
on once a week, and then put on agajn. . _

Was that shirt the only gariment that he wore!—IHe
mostly used to lie in bed then.

Was he a clean patient, or a dirty one? 2—At that t:m& a
very dirty one.

Did he lay on straw >—Yes, with bla.nketa- he is mry
mali;:h improved now, and is as clean as any pﬂ.tleﬂt in the
gallery.

Hni soon did that improvement of personal cleanliness
take place after his release from irons?—He progressively
improved for three months, and has continued clean up to
the present period. .

Have you any doubt that (he change for the better, that
has taken place in his habit, ne less than in his mentai
disease, has proceeded from the change in his trea.tment 2
—Most ¢ertainly it has.

You have no doubt of that 2—Not the sli %htest

How are clothes procured for them:?—They are aenru[q
by the Hospital, and charged to the friends.

Were those clothes with which you dressed him his own,
or those that were provided by the Hospital >—They were
provided by the Hospital.

Consequently not lus own ?—His friends paid for them
I believe two black gowns and two shirts were what he used
to have for a year,

Did you know a patient of the name of Ellis Cmss I
recollect a patient of that name. \

During the time that he was in the Hospital while you
knew hm:, was he ever in a state of bodily sickness?—
About the last three weeks previous to his death he was.

- What was the medical attendance he received i—I re-
ported him to Mr. Haslam ; in the course of the three weeks
{:; might probably sce him four or five times, not more

all six.

A
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Do you recollect whiat was the bodily disease under which

he then laboured, and of which he afterwards died?—It
appeared to me a decline from the violence of his disorder.
- "Was he a patient always in a state of mania?—Y¥es.

Violent :—Yes.

Was he sufficiently sensible to make any complaint, or
fecl any want of that medical care which an attendance five
or six times 1n three weeks seems to demonstrate 7—JHe did
not complain ; he was not sensible of any neglect.

Was he put upon any sick diet >—I believe not; I am
pretty certain not. |

So that during the last three weeks of his life, when he
was dyinf of a decline, he received the same diet of meat
and bread and potatoes, that other patients did who might
be considered, hodily, as well 2—To the best of my recol-
lection, exactly the same. :

Did you know James "I'illey Matthews ?—Yes. |

Were you attendant upon him ?>—Not particularly so.

Of your own knowledge, during the many years you
knew him, did heever exhibit any symptoms of violent insa-
~ mity >—1 knew him from 1811 in the Hospital to 1813; he
always appeared to me one of the most orderly men I ever
saw : a well behaved gentlemanly man. ey SARO8

Did you ever know him under any circumstances of per-
sonal restraint 2—No.

Did you ever know him in a state of irritation that could
warrant it 2—No.

Was he much respected by the patients and servants of
the Hospital 2—No man more so.

You were the keeper, I believe, who had the care of
Norris some years before he died ?>—Yes. _

How many years did you wait upon him as keeper ?—
From April 1813, to February 1815, when he died.

“You knew him inthe Hospital from 1811 to the time he
djed >—Yes. ' |

When first you knew him, was he in a state in which he
could have been allowed, under proper securities, to walk
about the gallery >—No doubt of it, with a strait-waistcoat
awd a pair of handcuffs; and if he had been inclined to
kick, there were means of fastening his legs with a little
extra attention on the part of the keeper. ;

Have you any doubt, that if Norris was now in the Hos-
pital in the same state as what he was in 1811, that ke
would be daily walking about in the gallery, always sup-
posing proper attention and restraint, and that he Wﬂu{(.l
not have been chained down in the way he was for so many
years 2—"T'here is no doubt, under the restraint I have
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mentioned, he: might have ‘had that liberty with safety to
_himself, and without danger‘to others. =~ =1 =& "

Did you know a keeper of the name of Dhﬁﬁ‘-!-ﬂ;—ﬂﬁé'lhe
died before I came to the Hospital, /20 70 oo v e

From what you have "learnt, was Norris irritated ‘b"y a
keeper of that name }~~Theré is'no' doubt of it.

. Davis’s character was not that of being a sobér man?—
Quite the contrary. 0 vl 29 ) SN S

Was not the principal insane feeling that ﬂpblfﬁled”}x,liﬁﬁ
Norris’s. mind, the fear of being poisoned ?—He always
appeared to feel great terror of being poisoned, pall;'t_ici,llarry
before I had the care of him; it was in a great measure
owing to the pouring his victuals and his beer into :'_:lpwlsp,
placed at his door at the time his door was shut,

By a change in that practice, you attained so far his con-
fidence, that he ceased to consider you as a person who
had an inclination to poison him E_——(E'erta.inl-y 3 he was sa-
tisfied ke had his provisions the same as other patients, in
consequence of its being served out in his presence. .

Was it the practice, prior to your attendance on him as
keeper, to pour out his broth outside his door, so that he
did not see it done?—I believe it'was generally in Davis’s
time. . : ' g1y, 9 2 B :

He used to complain of that ‘fraclice, and appeared sa-
tisfied with the change that had taken place while under
you ?—Quite satisfied that he had no more poison in his
than the rest had in theirs; he used often to observe, he

supposed it was necessary to put some in for the cure of the
- disorder. |

Were not the paroxysms of insanity, under which Norris
occasionally laboured, produced principally by irritation ?
—A great deal from irritation, and the mistaken idea of a
greater quantity of poison being put into his provisions
than others.

- Have you ever heard Dr. Monro remonstrate with Mr.
Haslam against the extreme coercion used in the Hospital ?
—A great number of times. - '

What was the nature of the objections urged by Dr.
Monro, and the answers given to them by Mr. Haslam ?—
Dr. Monro has often observed, ¢ Upon my word, Mr.
Haslam, I cannot agree with this mode of confinement,
~ (meaning Norris’s,) it appears to me cruel; surely, some

other means might be applied that would be equally ef-
fective; for, depend upon it, the Public will not feel sa-
tisfied if ever this case is noticed ; neither do I feel satis-
fied.” Mr. Haslam’s answer uniformly was, « [f Norris

X
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was to-have his liberty te walk in the gallery, I should not -
consider my life safe to come down there.”” >
- Did Dr. Munro remonstrate against the system of coercion
that was pushed so far against other patients besides Norris ?
—1I never heard him interfere with any others. , _
Did you ever hear him remark upon the number of per-
sons that were chained to their beds, or chained in flannel
gowns in the sitting-rooms 2—I do not recollect ever hear-
ing him make any particular observation upon them; he
alwnys appeared to leave the mode of confinement to Mr.
Haslam ; when in conversation, he apEeared to submit his
opinions with deference to Mr. Haslam’s. '
As far as you have the means of forming an opinion, have
the patients received, or do they now receive, for their
corporeal or mental diseases, that medical attention and
relief which they may require:—They have very little
pll%:,ia-given themy > 1715 310G SlY Hae onal wob
. -Nooccupations >—None.. :

- No amusements >—No other than walking in the green
yard; whenever it is fine. Fateey S Syt juiaddag

Are cards allowed ?—We have a pack occasionally; we
have had one pack since we have been inthe new house.

Have those cards been lately taken away?—They are
there at present ; they were given by Mr. Haslam. =~
. Is the attendance of Dr. Monro very regular >—For some
considerable time it has been. s i

What time?—He has been more regular within the last
two years, I mean in walking about the gallery. 4
- When first you came to the Hospital in 1812, what was
the nature of Itia attendance then 2—Always on Committee
days, and generally once more.

How often does the Committee meet ?—-At the old:house
every Saturday.

Do you mean to say that Dr. Monro walked down the gal-
lery and saw every patient in the house twice a week ?—
No ; he never went, to the best of my recollection, unless
a case was reported to him.

So that his visits to the Hospital were contined to the
Committee-room ; and that he never thought it part of his
duty to walk the Hospital, unless there was a case to which
his attention was particularly called ?—Thatis what I mean.

Can you state how lor:f, at any one period, Dr. Monro

was without going round the Hospital, and per<onally in-
ecting the patients in it ?—I should think something more
jan a month ; I cannot exactly say. '

What was the attendance that Mr. Haslam used to give ?
—At the old house, previous to 1814, he used to go round

=T |
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the gallery sometimes twice, and sonietimes three times, a
week ; not more than four. | ? 9111 Y Aen
In case any of the patients required medicine, who made
up the medicines that were to be given to them ?—Mr. Has-
lam. When we had a particular case that wanted medical
assistance, I used to request the porter to let me know when
Mr. Haslam eame. Unfortunately, he (the porter) had a
alytic stroke in 1811, and very often used to forget;
when that was the case, I was obliged to wait till the next
day, and attend in the servants’ hall on purpose to see Mr,
Haslam myself. ' :
Then it might happen from the paralytic attack that the
rter laboured under, which deprived him to a considera-
e degree of the use of his faculties, thata patient might
require medical attendance onthe Monday, and not receive
it till the Tuesday ?—Yes. i hngw il
How long was the porter in that sitvation in his office,
after he was seized with that paralytic attack ?—He was
seized in 1811 ; he held his situation till 1815 ; in the course
of that time he might be off duty eight months, being not
in a state fit to do his duty; I mean bodily ill. 31
Did, in point of fact, the forgetfulness of theyporter, ari-
ing from his incapacity as to memory, often prevent the
atients, who wanted medical relief, from receiving it ?~—
éry often ; and Mr. Haslam’s inattention in not walking
the galleries. : -
Are the patients periodically physicked and bled ?—~They
used to be at the old house.
~ 'The system is changed in the new {~—The time is not come
in the new yet. |
Then up to last year all the patients were physicked and
bled at a particular period of the year ?>—Yes.
Vomited likewise, and bathed ?—Yes,

Mercurii, 10° die Aprilis, 1816.
Lord ROBERT SEYMOUR in the Chair.

Sir John Newport, Baronet, a Mcwber of the Committee, made
the following Statement.

I wisu to stateto the Committee, that the condition in which
the insane poor in Ireland now are, is such as I conceive loudly
calls for the attention of the Legislature, The only general provi-
sions for regulation of that'class of persons are two Acts of Par-
liament, one passed, as well as Iﬂmullech, about the year 1782

X
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. ' Ll
[ was delivered in and read as follows. |

¢ It is earnestly and anxiously submitted to all Irishmen who
‘interest, themselves in affording selief to their Countrymm.nﬁlilg
under the severest human afBlicions, that the attention of the
Legislature should, be solicited to secure to such poor persons as are
~unhappily deranged in mind, an adequate provision for their sup-
port, and the application of every practicable means for the resto-
sation of their mental faculties. n g LN |

¢ In England, by the Act of 48th Geo. l1L cap. 96, amended by
a subsequent Act in 1811, provision has been made for the erec-
tion, in Counties or Districts.of Counties, of Asylums for Lunatics
and Insane Persons, being Paupers or Criminals, and for their con-
veyance to such Asylums at the public charge; and in the preamble
to that Act, the danger and inconvenience of uniting such Asylums
with Gaols, Houses of Correction, or Houses of Industry, is forcibly
recognized. The manuer in which that Provision was organized in
England depending on their Parochial System for the Poor, ren-
dered its extension to Ireland, in that form, impracticable; but
the principle of the measure was cousidered by all who took part
in the discussion as at least equally necessary for this part of the
United Kingdom. ‘

“ The very slender provision which establishments of this nature
receive from the Publie, where any such exist in Ireland—the pre-
carious tenure of that scanty provision, depending almost entirely
on the maonner in which this subjec may affect the minds of Grand
Juries, fluctu.ting in their composition, and consequently uncer-
tain in their opinions—the connection of those Asylums either with
Prisons or Houses of Industry, precluding the application of due
means to prosecute, as far as may be, the attainment of ecare or
relief for these unhappy objects, from the incengruous nature of
the institutions with which they are connected—the diversion of
much of the funds properly belonging to the infirm poor who are
not insane, to supply the deficiency in means allotted for the sup-
port of the Lunatics ; and the consideration that, under the present
system, any County can at pleasure throw upon its more humane
neighbours the burthen of supporting those whom it is more pecu-
liarly its own duty to relieve, or suffer them to wander at large
unprotected and unprovided for, until the commission of some
enormous crime shall place at the bar of Justice an un]}appjr hging
divested of all responsibility for his actions : —

¢ All these causes have induced the Governors of the House of
Industry of Waterford to entreat the friends of suffering humanity
* through Ireland to unite with them in pressing on the consideration
of Parliament, in the ensuing session, this work of henevolence
and charity ; the urgency of which, in the case of England, the
Legislature has so recently and decidedly recognized.,”

“ By direction of a Board of Governors of the House of In-
dustry of the county and city of Waterford, specially con-
veued for consideration of this subject, 14th Oct. 18183.

(Signed) “ Jokn Newport, Chairman,”






























